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CompuCredii Corporation

CompuCredit Corporation is a specialty finance company and marketer of branded
credit cards and related financial services. CompuCredit provides these services to
customers who are underserved by traditional financial institutions. At the close of 2006,

CompuCredit serviced over 4.3 million customer accounts.

Financial Highlights

{doliars in thousands, except per share data) 2006 2005 2004
Net Income Attributable to

Common Shareholders $ 107,475 S 171,350 ) 96,315
Per Common Share:

Earnings per Share, Diluted S 2.14 5 3.34 S 1.93

Book Value per Share $ 17.89 $ 15.67 $ 13.24
Total Assets $ 2,113,897 $ 1,821,190 5 1,003,526
Total Shareholders’ Equity $ 883,940 $ 767,211 5 683,890
Managed Receivables Data
Total Accounts 3,865,000 13,588,000 2,963,000
Total Average Managed ‘

Receivables Qutstanding $ 2,649,948 5 2,379,472 $ 2,060,197
Total Managed Receivables Qutstanding $ 2,815,219 $  .2,493,244 5 2,194,837
Net Interest Margin 24.3% 22.3% 20.3%
Risk-Adjusted Margin 31.9% 31.9% 24.2%
Other Credit Card Income Ratio 17.0% 18.7% 12.2%
Operating Ratio 17.3% 15.8% 13.1%

Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

All statements in this Annual Report concerning our operating and earnings expectations, our liquidity expectations, future
operations or perfarmance, impact of the sub-prime mortgage market on CompuCredit and gur customers, opporiunities
for growth in the under-served markes for financial products and services, expansion in the United Kingdom, realization

of operating efficiencies, growth in our Auto Lending segment, proﬁtability of new customers, impact of changes to billing
and marketing practices on our performance, addition of credit card issuing bank partners, and other statements of our
plans, beliefs, or expectations, are forward-looking statements. In some cases these statements are identifiable through
the use of words such as "believe,” “can,” "could,” "expect” “hope,” “intend,” "may,” “might,” “plan,” “seek,” “should,” "think,"
"will""would” and similar expressions. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and
are subject to various assumptions, risks and other factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those
suggested by these forward-looking statements. These factors include, among others, the risks and others set forth under
the [tem 1A, "Risk Factors” in our Annuaf Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

We expressly disclaim any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
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‘Dear Fellow Shareholders:

2006 was another good year for CompuCredit. We attracted more
new customers during one year than ever before, expanded our

business lines and achieved strong profitability.

The year also brought many challenges. As was reported last year, we had contracted to
purchase a credit card company with an [LC chartered bank. During 2006, the FDIC put a
moratorium on all changes of control of ILC companies, essentially scuttling this promising
transaction. We also faced some difficulties in our retail micro-loans business, as changes in
certain FDIC and state laws required us to adapt our operations accordingly. While we don't
like facing regulatory curve balls, we also know that adjusting to such regulation is part and
parcel of our business. If you can learn 1o recognize a'curve ball, you can adjust your swing,

and we pride ourselves on our flexibility and adaptability.

Thus, despite the challenges we faced, CompuCredit grossed more than 1.5 million new
custaomers during Ithe year. We continue to enhance our ability to locate customers and
then match each customer with the product best suited for him or her. Not only have we
achieved the highest level of customer growth in our history, but we also believe these
customers will be some of the most profitable customer relationships we have ever created.

Qur systems for customer retention and satisfaction are better than they have ever been.

We are also pleased to have increased our flexibility and capacity regarding the issuance of
our credit cards. Prior ta 2006, we really had anly cne bank i%suing partner for our new card
products. Today, we have five partners, and we may add more in the future. This is a very
positive development, as the greater capacity allows us to continually try new and better

producis and approaches in order 1o better serve our customers.

We believe our praspects for growth are among the most exciting in the financial services

industry, We have identified numerous growth opportunities by moving deeper and wider in
arenas in which we have already shown expertise, primarily by expanding product offerings
to our current customers and expanding our geographic base. In particular, we are expanding

into the United Kingdom.
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Our base of potential customers in the United States is
approximately 75 million people. in the UK, that number

is approximately 20 million people. Currently, we serve over
four million customers across our various business lines. We
believe, based on the choices made by our customers, that
our preducts and services are more appealing to them than
the products and services offered by others in this market.

Qur betief is supported by empirical data, including numerous
satisfaction surveys of our customers, as well as the higher-than-
industry-average response rates we receive te our offers. In
10 years, CompuCredit has moved from zero CUSLOMErs 1o
over four million, and zero receivables to $3 billion of managed
receivables, as our customers find our products and services .
attractive and appealing. We're reminded of the album cover,
“50 Million Elvis Fans Can't Be Wrang”

We also think it would be helpful to offer a few comments regarding
the lending market of late 2006 and early 2007. As many of you
are aware, there has been a great deal of anxiety around the
sub-prime and underserved mortgage market. We are often asked
how these issues in the mortgage market might affect the
CompuCredit customer. First, the fundamental flaw of many of
these mortgages was very lackadaisical underwriting. Most
mortgage originators made loans to sell into securitization
markets, and the long-term performance of those loans was not
of great concern for the seller/originator. This type of fending
reminds us of the excessive lending in the credit card market in
2000 and 2001. Back then, as now in the mortgage industry, the

economic incentives of thase originating the loans were not

correlated with the concerns of the long-term owner of the asset.

This misalignment created a perverse incentive for the originators
to pursue growth for its own sake, rather than with a mind toward

long-term economic value.

In stark contrast is the approach taken at CompuCredit where
management owns the majority of the long-term economic
value of the lending decisions we make, Therefore, we employ
and constantly re-engineer some of the most sophisticated
underwriting in the consumer lending industry, and we anly

make money if our customer performs well over the long haul.

I

1
We also seek to u:'s.e our state-of-the-art underwriting to improve
our products ar\d1 services over time in order to retain each and
every one ofour:perforrning customers. We believe the least
expensive way 1o get a new customer is to keep the cne you
already have. The_i only way to do that is 1o proactively offer your
customer a betteff transaction than might be offered by scmecne

else in the industry.

Wa have also been asked whether problems in the mortgage
market might affe:ct our customer base despite what we have done
onourend to enfsure proper underwriting of cur customers, We
do believe that ifI the problems in the mortgage market cause a
reCession (whichfwe think is unlikely), we will make less money
than we would n"fnake in a robust economy. We have been through
a recession at Cc;)mpuCredit, and we found that those lenders
who made good?decisions and had discipline were able 10 weather
the negative eclonomic storm and emerge as even stronger
companies. Aqain, we don't believe the problems in the mortgage
market will Cause a recession, but we are prepared to operate

i
our business in that enviranment if necessary.

Finalty, there is the question regarding the effect on CompuCredit
should our cust’omers have a problem with their individual
rnartgages. In particular, what about the customer who took out
a mortgage Ioarf1 at a low interest rate that has now reset at a
higher interest rate, thus causing the customer to have higher
payments? We hfave performed fairly extensive analysis regarding
this issue, and do not believe it will represent a meaningful problem
for CompuCredit. Our data tells us that about 36% of our customers
are homeowners. If we assume that 25% of these customers, during
the last two year;s, cbtained a mortgage that resets after two years,
we could theoretically have 9% of our customers facing a rising
maortgage paym:ent. Based on public data, it appears as though
15% to 20% of pleople with these types of mortgages might have
a problem with the repayrment of their loans. This would indicate
that 1.35% (o 1.|8% of our customers might have an issue with
their mortgage bayment in 2007. We think that this is a number
that we can ma:nage. Fortunately, to date, we have not seen
anything in our.data that would indicate any greater issue, but

we intend to sta;Iy on top of the matter.




Last year, we wrote a great deal 2bout our mission as a company. We told you about the
values to which we are committed, and the factors we evaluate in all of our business
decisions. While we will not repeat the entire discussion, we do believe some of the points
bear repeating: fundamentally, these considerations are at the core of who we are and what

we seek to de,

CompuCredit exists to create value: for ous customers, our emptoyees, and our shareholders,
If we fail to create value for any of these groups, we will fail to exist. We will address each of
these constituencies and our plans for ensuring that we continue 1o create value for each of

these equally important constituencies.

First, our customers. As we mentioned earlier in this letter, we generated more new
customers in 2006 than in any other year in our history. During 2006, we changed many of
our billing practices within our credit card business to make them more customer-friendly.
We believe that our practices are now some of the most customer-friendly in the credit
card industry. We should note that some of the onerous practices that have been discussed
recently in congressional hearings on the prime credit card industry have never been the
practice at CompuCredit, Many are surprised to learn that CormpuCredit, a lender to the
underserved market, has always given its customers a grace period of a few days before
they are charged a late fee. We haven't employed the double cycle billing that others

are just now starting to eliminate. We are very proud of our history of trying to do what is
best for the customer. We believe this is both good for the customer and good for the
company. Again, we are convinced that the most'cost-effective customer to attain is keeping
the one you already have. Our golden rule of customer interaction enables us to retain our
customers over a long period of time, We seck to treat our customers as we ourselves would

like to be treated.

We can say we do things well, but we take it a step further and actually spend a fair amount
of resources examihing the level of our customer satisfaction. This is really where rubber meets
the road. In addition to asking our customers about their satisfaction, we also seek, in these
surveys, to ensure that our customers fully understand our products and services. We believe
the most fully informed customers are often our best customers, as they understand the value
proposition we are providing. We have a high degree of confidence that if customers in our
market fully understood the myriad of fees they are being charged by other financial service

providers, they would appreciate the offers we are putting in front of them even more. Our

satisfaction surveys continue to rank our products and services superior to most of the mainstream .

consumer lenders in the country. We are proud of this ranking, and more importantly, we are
determined to keep our leading position in this all-important category, Without happy, satisfied
customers, a business will not be around for very long. Inasmuch as both of us are young
and hope to be involved with CompuCredit for many years to come, we are determined 1o

take care of our customers.

- 2006 Annual Report o
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We also have a great desire to create value for our employees.
We encourage stock ownership among our employees, and

we use restricted stock in many of our compensation plans.

We would like afl of our employees to think like owners.
CompuCredit now has over 4,000 employees, and we are very
proud of our team of employee partners. We could not have built
a company without the incredible group of talented people who
work with us each day to deliver products and services to our
customers. We have been blessed with low turnover at Compu-
Credit for the following simple reasons: attractive compensaticn
programs, a pleasant working environment, fulfilling goals (the
delivery of helpful preducts to our customers), and challenging -

and enjoyable work,

Finally, we are keenly focused on our shareholders. Inasmuch

as the management team at CompuCredit owns over 60% of
the shares outstanding, we want 1o do everything we can do

to build long-term value within the company. We are pleased

with the vaiue creation fast year. Cur book value increased to
$17.89 per share at year-end. In 1999, the year we became a
public company, our book value per share was $4.40 per share.
We are pleased wiih this long-term growth in the boak value
of our stock. That said, we have been disappointed at the price
of the stock over the last several months. Our approach has been
to try and build a successful company and not focus a great deal
on the stock price. We own much of the stack, and we want its
value to go up over time, but we don't get too upset if the stock

doesn’t perform as well as we think it should in one particular year.

Book Value
Per Share

i
!

That said, pruder:wt capital allocation decisions compel a

consideration of stock buybacks, particularly when the stock is

trading at what we believe to be an irrationally low price. Early in

2007, we bought back almost 2.9 million shares of the stock at

prices we thougrt were too low to pass up.

Before we discus:s each of the primary business lines, we wanted
to report that wé have recently undertaken an examination
across all business lines to ensure we are operating as efficiently
as we can. Sométimes when a company grows as rapidly as
CompuCredit has, the level of detailed attention to cost control
and, more imporitantly, efficiencies and best practices can suffer.
We wanted to pFoactiver address these challenges. J. Paul
Whitehead 4, ou:r CFO, and Guido Sacchi, our CIQ, are leading
this importani initiative. The goal is to ensure that we maintain

the type of cost efficiency and competitive edge we had as a

- much smaller company. We are convinced this program will

result in some operating efficiencies in the future.

|
Now for the business lines;

Credit Cards .

2006 was the strbngest year we have ever had for organic
growth. KK Srinivasan and his team that run the credit card
business COI"ltinL:Je to exceed expectations. For the first time in
several years, we did not purchase a meaningful new credit card
portfolic during ;2006. We always look at portfolio purchases as
nice add-ons to our organic business. Fortunately, the arganic

business grew well and is ofi tc a good start for growth in 2007.
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As we mentioned earlier, we made several customer-friendly
¢hanges to our billing practices. We are convinced these changes
will be goud for our company long term, though they did
depress reported eamings some during the latter part of 2006
and are also expected to depress reported earnings during the

early part of 2007.

We also expanded some of our marketing channels, which we
believe will enable us to baok more new accounts during 2007
than we did during 2006. Once again, we think the testing we do,
the data we mine and the discipline we mainiain will enable us

to continue to generate profitable cusiomer refationships.

We heope to begin issuing cards in the UK by the end of 2007 or

early 2008, We believe the UK. market represents a very attractive
new market. We have been studying this market for a number of
years and now believe we have the pieces in place to launch our

business there.

Jefferson Capital

Jefferson Capital is our subsidiary that invests in previously
charged-off receivables and manages cur Chapter 13 bankruptcy
program. David Burton and his team have continued to generate
good profitability with this business, despite a market for

charged-off paper that is still highly competitive.

The balance transfer program that we have developed in this
areé is truly unique and offers a win-win proposal for our company
and our customers, It is the most efficient and quickest way we
know for someone 1o regain a usable credit card without having
to put up a security deposit after they have had severe credit

problems. Our customers seem to put great value in this product.

Retail Micro-Loans

The regulatory environment for this business was in a state of

flux during the beginning of 2006, necessitating some adjusiments

during the year. We made the necessary changes, and now have
room to grow in the various markets where we operate. The
states where we now operate have hospitable legistation, and
there appears 10 be some consensus being developed as to
standard practices for these products that still provide for their

access by customers with short-term financial needs.

We are very excited about the success we have had in Texas
with our Purpose Money neighborhood financial centers. In
these stores, we offer several financial products and services
1o our customers, and we have seen early performance in these

stores which has given us the confidence to ramp up growth,

We have also had success with our {irst stores in the UK. We
opened four stores recently, and we look to increase that number
dramatically during 2007 and beyond. We are convinced that
there is.much opportunity for store growth in the UK. In many
respects, we believe the UK. market presents one of the most

attractive growth areas for our neighborhood financial centers.

In addition to aur business success in this market, we also
provided a great deal of assistance for some of the communities
in which we operate, We were able to help school children in
New Orleans. We raised $45,000 for Toys for Tots through our
stores. We have worked with financial literacy programs to try
and teach our customers and others in tight financial situations
how best to lift themselves out of cycles of debt, We worked for
some time and successfully implernented a program whereby
someane who obtains his or her first micro-loan can actually '
begin to build positive credit experience, thereby enhancing
their abitity to obtain more attractive producis and services

because of their pasitive track record with a micro-loan product.

Auto Lending

We are pleased with our auto business from an infrastructure
basis. We are not pleased from a sales perspective, We are looking
at ways to increase sales pretty dramatically in 2007. While the
return on cur investment has been acceptable, we truly believe
that auto finance can be a very targe business for us that contributes
very meaningfully to our earnings. It has not been yet, but we
think we have a plan that will allow it to do so during the next

few years.

We are very excited about the purchase of ACC, an automotive
lender previcusly owned by Rocco Fabiano. Rocco will continue
to work with us trying to grow not only the auto business but

our other businesses as well.
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Last year, we told you that CompuCredit has a great opportunity to
“crack the code” on an efficient delivery system for the 75 million
underserved or under-banked consumers in our market. We
continue to believe that we are better positioned to be that company
than almost anyone else. We have the people, the infrastructure,
the experience and the desire to become the premiere provider

of financial products and services to this market.

Finaliy, we would like to briefly discuss capital atlocation. Over
the last 78 months, we have ofter been asked why we are not
spending some of our available capital. Capital allocation is
something on which the two of us spend a great deal of time.

Itis among the most important things that we do.

We have watched and admired Warren Buffett over the years
and we like his analogy about investing. He says that investing
is like playing baseball where there are no called strikes. One
can stand at the plate and only swing at fat pitches. This is the
approach we take at CompuCredit. Sometimes, as we did in
March 2007, we think the best use of our capital is to purchase

more of our stock,

We invest the capital of the company as if we were investing our
own personal dollars. In a sense, due to our ownership position,
we are. Our rule for investing is simple. Try and determine where
we can invest our capital to get the greatest return possible with
the least amount of risk. We are much more interested in holding
dry powder fbr the opportunity to make a large investment
rather than several small investmenis. We have found that by
focusing on fewer objectives, we obtain greater performance,
We alsc.belfieve in the old adage that you create wealth by
concentrating and you preserve wealth by diversifying. We

still believe there are tremendous growth opportunities in the
underserved market for financial products and services. During
the last recession, we saw opportunities too numerous 1o count,
but we did not have much available capital o invest. Therefore,
we would rather err on the side of having ready, available cash to
invest-in great opportunities than on the side of spending all of

cur cash to generate slightly better short-term returns.

We remain ver)ir excited about the future opportunities for
CompuCredit. \{\le have the resources in place 1o continue to
grow, and we know our customers appreciate the products

we deliver to thjem.

We also know ojur sharehoiders have options about where they
invest their dollérs. We appreciate the confidence you have placed
in us by making an investment in CompuCredit. We do not iake
lightly the respc;msibility we have to you to work every day to try
and increase the long-term value of your shares. Thank you for
your investmeni in CompuCredit, and you can be assured of our

continued diligence on your behalf.

Sincerely,

David G. Hanna
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

L Y

i
Richard R. Hou;se, Ir.
President .
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CompuCredit's common stock, no par value per share, is registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

CompuCredit (1) is a well-known seasoned issuer, (2} is required to file reports pursuant 10 Section 13 or
Section 15(d) of the Act, (3) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act during the
preceding 12 months and (4) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

CompuCredit believes that during the 2006 fiscal year, its executive officers, directors and 10% beneficial
owners subject to Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 complied with all applicable filing
requirements, except as set forth under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance”
in CompuCredit’s Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

CompuCredit is an accelerated filer and is not a shell company.

The aggr‘egulc market value of CompuCredit’s common stock (based upon the closing sales price quoted on
the NASDAQ Global Select Market} held by nonaffiliates as of June 30, 2006 was $685.7 million. (For this
purpose, directors and officers have been assumed to be affiliates and we have excluded 5,677,950 of loaned
shares.)

As of February 22, 2007, 51,930,494 shares of common stock, no par value, of the registrant were
outstanding. (This excludes 3,677,950 loaned shares to be returned.)

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of CompuCredit’s Proxy Statement for its 2007 Annual Meeting of Sharcholders are incorporated
by reference into Part IIL.
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Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

We make forward-looking statements in this Report and in other materials we file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) or otherwise make public. In this Report, both Item 1, “Business,” and Item 7, “Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations,” contain forward-looking statements. In
addition, our senior management might make forward-looking statements orally to analysts, investors, the media and others.
Statements with respect to our expected income, acquisitions and other growth opportunities, location openings and closings,
loss exposure and loss provisions, delinquency and charge-off rates, securitizations and gains and losses from securitizations,
the impact of actions by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”), Federal Trade Commission (“FI'C”) and other
regulators on both us and the banks that issue credit cards on our behalf, account growth, the performance of investments that
we have made, operating expenses, the impact from our utilization of the Market Expansion Platform (“MEP”), the impact of
recent bankruptcy law changes, marketing plans, the profitability of our Auto Finance segment, the profitability of our Retail
Micro-Loans segment, our entry into international markets, our ability to raise funds, our income in equity-method investees,
growth in our ancillary and interchange revenues, our servicing income levels, gains and losses from investments in
securities, experimentation with new products and other statements of our plans, beliefs or expectations are forward-looking
staternents. In some cases these statements are identifiable through the use of words such as “anticipate,” “believe,”
“estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “project,” “target,” *‘can,” “could,” “may,” “should,” “will,” “would” and similar
expressions. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The forward-looking
statements we make are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to various assumptions, risks and other factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those suggested by these forward-looking statements. These factors
include, among others, those set forth in Part [, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in this Report and in the other documents that we
file with the SEC. There also are other factors that we may not describe, generally because we currently do not perceive them
to be material, that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations.

LI

We expressly disclaim any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

In this Report; except as the context suggests otherwise, the words “Company,” “CompuCredit Corporation,”
“CompuCredit,” “we,” “our,” “ours” and “us” refer to CompuCredit and its subsidiaries and predecessors. CompuCredit owns
Aspire®, CompuCredit®, Emerge®, Imagine®, Majestic®, Purpose®, Tribute® and other trademarks in the United States.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

A general discussion of the business of CompuCredit Corporation follows. For additional information about
our buﬁmese including specific descriptions of how we market and segment customers and other operational
items, please visit our website at www.compucredit.com.

We are a provider of various credit and related financial services and products to or associated with the
underserved (or sub- prime) consumer credit market, as well as to “un-banked™ consumers. We serve this market
pnnc:pa]]y through our marketing and solicitation of credit card accounts and other credit products and our
servicing of various receivables underlying originated accounts and portfolio acquisitions. We operate primarily
within one industry consisting of five reportable segments by which we manage our business. Qur five reportable
segments are: Credit Cards; Investments in Previously Charged-Off Receivables; Retail Micro-Loans; Auto
Finance; and Other. We describe these segments below. (See, Note 3, “Segment Reporting,” to our consolidated
financial statements included herein for segment-specific financial data.)

Credit Cards Segment. Our Credit Cards segment consists of our credit card lending and servicing
activities, as conducted with respect to receivables underlying accounts that we originate and receivables
underlying portfolios that we purchase. This reportable segment includes the activities associated with
substantially all of our credit card products, including our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at
the lower end of the FICO scoring range. We finance a substantial majority of our credit card activitics through
securitization of the receivables underlying the accounts we originate and portfolios we purchase. The leverage
(i.e., the percentage on a dollar of receivables that lenders will lend, or the “advance rate”) that our securitization
facilities provide against our credit card receivables is a critical factor in our ability to obtain the desired returns
on equity for-our shareholders. Revenues from the Credit Cards segment principally consist of: (1) the portion of
fees and related income on non-securitized earning assets derived from our largely fee-based credit card offerings
to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range; (2) fees and related income on securitized earning
assets, which are derived from our investments in our securitized originated and purchased portfolios; (3) the .
portion of servicing income that relates to credit card servicing; (4) income earned on cash and cash equivalents
and investments in debt and equity securities; and (5) equity in the income of the Credit Cards segment’s equity-
method investees. Our post-2002 credit card receivables acquisition activities include:

.

+  Our 62.5% investment interest in Embarcadero Holdings, LLC (“Embarcadero”} acquired during the
third quarter of 2003. Embarcadero was formed by an affiliate of Merrill Lynch and one of our wholly
owned subsidiaries in connection with the acquisition of $824.0 million (face amount) in credit card
receivables from Providian Bank.

«  Our 75.1% investment interest in Bluestem Holdings, LLC (“Bluestem”) acquired during the third
quarter of 2004. Bluestem was formed by an affiliate of Merrill Lynch and one of our wholly owned
subsidiaries in connection with the acquisition,of $92.0 million (face amount) in credit card receivables
during the third quarter of 2004. In January 2005, Bluestem purchased another $72.1 million (face
amount) in credit card receivables from the same party from whom it purchased the original credit card
receivables.

«  Our 33.3% investment interest in Transistor Holdings, LLC (“Transistor”) acquired during the third
quarter of 2004. Transistor was formed by an affiliate of Banc of America Securities, Greenwich Capital
Financial Products and one of our wholly owned subsidiaries in connection with the acquisition of
$996.5 million (face amount) in credit card receivables from Fleet Bank (RI), National Association.

«  Our 47.5% investment interest in Rapid City Holdings, LLC (*‘Rapid City™) acquired in January 2005.
Rapid City was formed by an affiliate of Merrill Lynch, one additional party and one of our wholly
owned subsidiaries in connection with the acquisition of $376.3 million (face amount) in credit card
receivables contemporaneous with Marshall Bancorp Inc.’s purchase of BANKFIRST Corp.
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*  Our 61.25% investment interest in CSG, LLC (“CSG”), which resulted from our third quarter 2006
acquisition of an 11.25% interest in this entity, which followed|our initial acquisition of a 50% interest
in this entity in the second quarter of 2002, CSG was formed during the second quarter of 2002 by
affiliates of Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Salomon Smith Barney and one of our wholly owned
‘ subsidiaries. CSG was formed 1o acquire notes and a subordm.ne certificated interest issued by a trust
' (*CSG Trust”) that had acquired approximately $1.5 biltion (face amount} of credit card receivables
from Providian National Bank.

We decide whether to grow receivables levels through our on‘ginali‘on efforts or to acquire other portfolios
based upon several factors, including credit quality and financing costs. We assess credit quality using an
analytical model that we believe predicts the likelihood of payment more accurately than traditional credit
scoring models. For i instance, we have identified factors (such as delinquencies, defaults and bankruptcies) that
under some circumstances we weight differently than do other credit pro:viders. Our analysis enables us to better
identify consumers within the underserved market who are likely to be better credit risks than otherwise would
be expected. Similarly, we apply our analytical model to entire ponfolloe in order to 1dem]fy those that may be
more valuable than the seller or other potential purchasers might recogmze

Customers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range intrinsically have higher loss rates than do customers
at the higher end of the FICQ scoring range. As a result, we price our products to reflect this greater risk,
generally through more demanding terms than our customers would have to bear if their FICO scores were
higher. For the products that we provide to customers with the lowest FICO scores, we also generally charge
higher up-front, annual and other fees than customers would have to pay if their FICO scores were higher.
Beciuse of these higher fees, our products are subject to greater reguIalorly scrutiny. See “Consumer and Debtor
Protection Laws and Regulatioﬁs—C_redit Card Segment” and Item 1A, “;Risk Factors.”

As is customary in our industry, we finance most of our credit card receivables by selling them to a
securitization vehicle, such as a trust, that in turn sells participation interests. The rates of return that purchasers
require and the portion of the funding that the purchasers are willing to provide (as contrasted with the portion -
that we must provide), which is known as the advance rate, are our two mbst significant financial considerations.
In 2001, the advance rates provided by purchasers of participation interests in our securitization facilities
decreased significantly, thereby leading us to conclude that we could not eam our desired return on equity from
growing our portfolio of credit card receivables that we had historically funded through secuntization within our
originated portfolio master trust. As a result, we reduced our marketing efforts during 2002 and 2003 and began
to contemplate an orderly liquidation of the credit card receivables within our originated portfolio master trust.
During this same time period, however, we were able to obtain attractive ﬁnancmg for acquisitions of portfolios
and, hence, were able to complete three substantial portfolio acquisitions. Also during this time period, we began
to focus on ways to diversify our business to better insulate us against adverse shifts in advance rates, which have
the effects of increasing financing costs, incredsing liquidity requirements and reducing returns on the equity we
invest in credit card receivables. By way of example, we began in 2003 to:grow our portfolio of credit card
receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerlngs to consumers at the lower end of the FICO
scormg range. Even without initial leverage against this pamcular ponfoho we earned our desired return on

equity. _ :

In January 2004, we completed a financing arrangement with Merrill Lynch that provided us with
significantly improved advance rates. As a result, we significantly increased our marketing and related efforns
throughout 2004 and into 2005 to grow our receivables within the on'ginated portfolio master trust. Advance rates
and cost of funds under the Merrill Lynch facility continue to support the rharketing and growth of our originated
portfolio master trust receivables. Also, in March 2006, we completed a structured financing transaction that is
secured by credit card receivables associated with our largely fee-based credlt card offerings to consumers at the
lower end of the FICO scoring range. This debt facility is recourse only to the underlying credit card receivables
that serve as security for the facility. [n September 2006, we amended this facility to increase the maximum
borrowings limit from $150.0 million to $350.0 million, improve the advar{ce rates and pricing, and extend the
maturity to March 2008. i
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Investments in Previously Charged-Off Receivables Segment. Our Investments in Previously Charged-Off
Receivables segment consists of the operations of our debt collection subsidiary, Jefferson Capital Systems, LLC
(“Jefferson Capital”). Through this subsidiary, as market conditions.and other factors justify, we acquire and sell
previously charged-off credit card receivables and apply our collection expertise to the receivables we from
time-to-time own. Revenues in this segment are classified as fees and related income on non-securitized earning
assets in our consolidated statements of operations.

In June 2005, Jefferson Capital sold a portfolio of charged-off credit card receivables having a face amount
of approximately $2.9 billion to Encore Capital Group, Inc. (“Encore™), and agreed to sell Encore up 10 $3.25
billion in face amount of future charged-off credit card receivables at an established price over the next five
years. As consideration for these transactions, Jefferson Capital received $143.0 million in cash. The purchase
price included $76.0 million related to the sale of the portfolio of charged-off credit card receivables and $67.0
million of deferred revenue related 1o the sale of future receivable acquisitions. Pursuant to the agreement with
Encore, Jefferson Capital is expected to purchase for delivery ta Encore over the life of the agreement, certain
previously charged-off receivables from trusts, the receivables of which are serviced by us, as well as certain
previously charged-off receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the
lower end of the FICO scoring range. Any shortfalls in delivery of minimum periodic dollar amounts of
previously charged-off receivables to Encore could result in Jefferson Capital being required to return a pomon
of the purchase price related to the sale of future receivable acquisitions.

The market for buyers of previously charged-off receivables has become more competitive, in part because
of the entry of new publicly held debt buyers into the market, although we continue to believe that investing in
previously charged-off receivables is an attractive business activity for us in the current environment in narrow
areas, including Chapter 13 bankruptcy purchases and purchases through Jefferson Capital’s balance transfer
program. Jefferson Capital’s balance transfer program involves a credit card offering as an incentive to debtors to
repay their previously charged-off debts. This program not only allows Jefferson Capital to realize enhanced
liquidation curves in what is now a competitive pricing environment, but it also allows Jefferson Capital to
partner with other debt buyers to help them enhance their own economics.

Retail Micro-Loans Segment. Our Retail Micro-Loans segment consists of a network of storefront locations
that, depending on the location, provide one or more of the following products or services: (a) small-
denomination, short-term, unsecured cash advances that are typically due on the customer’s next payday;

(b) installment }oan and other credit products; and (c) money transfer and other financial services. Our revenues
in this segment principally consist of fees and/or interest earned on our cash advance, installment loan and other
credit products, as well as various transactional fees earned on our money transfer and other financial services.
Qur Retail Micro-Loans segment marketed, originated, invested in, and/or serviced $613.4 million in micro-loans
during 2006, which resulted in revenue of $103.9 million.

We established this segment during the second quarter of 2004 principally through the acquisition by one of
our subsidiaries of substantially all of the assets of a sub-prime lender with over 300 retail storefronts operating
under the names of First American Cash Advance and First Southern Cash Advance (collectively “First
American™). We followed this acquisition during the third quarter of 2004 with the acquisition by one of our
subsidiaries of substantially all of the assets of Venture Services of Kentucky, Inc. (*Venture Services™), which
ddded another 166 retail storefronts, and we acquired another 39 storefronts in the State of Ohio in January 2005.
During 2006, we began exploring strategic alternatives in the United Kingdom, and we initiated the process of
opening several test stores in the greater London area. As of December 31, 2006 our retail micro-loan
subsidiaries operated 475 storefront locations in 17 U.S. states and the United Kingdom.

In most of the states in which they historically have operated, our retail micro-loan subsidiaries have made
cash advance and other micro-loans directly to customers. However, in four states (Arkansas, Florida, North
Carolina and West Virginia), they previously acted only as a processing and servicing agent for a state-chartered,
FDIC-insured bank that issued loans to the customers pursuant to the authority of the laws of the state in which
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the bank was located and federal interstate banking laws, regulations an;d guidelines. During February 2006, we
learned from our bank partner that the FDIC had effectively asked insured financial institutions to cease deferred-
presentment and installment micro-loan activities conducted Lhrough prbcessing and servicing agents. In

response to the FDIC’s actions, we converted all of our Florida and Arl{ansas operations to a direct lending

model during 2006. However, in North Carolina and West Virginia, after initially pursuing conversion to a direct
lending madel, our subsidiaries decided to exit those states because they concluded that alternative lending
products would not provide acceptable long-term returns for the business. Consequently, during the third quarter
of 2006, our subsidiaries completed the process of closing 52 branch locauons in North Carolina and 11 branch
locations in West Vlrglma l :

The FDIC’s February 2006 actions followed restrictive guidelines issued by the FDIC in March 2005, which
originally caused us to accelerate our efforts to convert our mono-line micro-loan storefronts into neighborhood
financial centers offering a wide array of financial products and services. The FDIC’s 2006 actions combined
with the ongoing regulatory scrutiny of the retail micro-loan industry only reconfirmed the need for this strategic
transition, In addition, we believe that a multi-product line strategy is important to increasing foot traffic within
our storefronts, thereby maximizing the profit potential for each of the stores. Our current suite of products
includes auto insurance, stored-value cards, credit cards, check cashing,i' money transfer, money order, biil
payment, auto title loans and tax preparation service assistance, To supﬁon these multiple products, our Retail
‘Micro-Loans segment completed the process of converting our entire network of branches to a comimon
information technology platform during 2006. We have been pleased with the early results we have seen from the
‘new product offerings, and we continue to roll out new products to our %lores.

As evidenced by the FDIC’s actions, the regulatory environment snimounding our micre-loan activities is a
dynamic one. Our Retail Micro-Loans segment management team continuously monitors federal and state
legislative and regulatory initiatives affecting its product offerings, and :we believe our retail micro-loan
subsidianies continue to have reasonable prospects to reap acceptable risk-adjusted returns on equity and growth
for us through a multi-product-line strategy.

Auto Finance Segment, On April |, 2003, we acquired Wells Fargo Financial’s “Consumer Auto
Receivables” (or “CAR”) business unit, which comprised the entirety. of our Auto Finance segment in 2005 and
2006. When we completed the acquisition, CAR had $128.9 million auto finance-related receivables (at face, net
‘of unearned discounts) and approximately 300 employees and operated i 'm thirty-cight states through its twelve
branches, three regional processing centers and national collection centér at its Lake Mary, Florida headquarters.

Our CAR operations consist of a nationwide network of pre-qualified dealers in the “Buy Here/Pay Here”
‘used car business from which auto loans are purchased at a discount or ":erviced for a fee. Revenues are generated
on purchased loans through interest earned on the face value of the purchased installment agreements combined
'with discounts on these purchased loans. Interest income from dxscoum‘; is generally carned over the life of the
applicable loan. Additionally, CAR generates revenues from servicing loans on behalf of dealers for a portion of
actual collections, providing custodial services and providing back-up servicing for similar quality securitized
assets. ) !

During 2005, our CAR segment received regulatory approval to ex|pand business operations into four new
states, and during 2006, CAR expanded business operations into three addmonal states, bringing the total number
of states in which the business operates to forty-five, with appmxnmatcly 1,200 active dealers, approximately
38,000 active accounts that the business owns and approximately 2,800 accounts for which the business provides
servicing. During 2006, CAR released new financing products designed to complement the products it currently
offers to this market. In addition to these initiatives, the business unit is in the process of forming strategic
Aalliances with aftermarket product and service providers in an effort to cross-sell to existing customer bases.

- On February 2. 2007, we acquired the assets of San DICgO based ACC Consumer Financial Services, LLC
(“ACC”). which we expect to include within our Auto Finance segment operations in 2007 and beyond. ACC
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currently services approximately $275 million in auto finance receivables, operates in 12 states with collection
centers in San Diego, California and Denver, Colorado, and has approximately {70 employees. In conjunction
with this purchase, we also acquired a $195 million auto loan portfolio from Patelco Credit Union. These assets
were originated and serviced by ACC on behalf of Patelco. ACC serves a consumer niche that, from a credit
quality perspective, is slightly above the niche served by CAR, which makes our acquisition of ACC quite
complementary to our CAR operations.

Other Segment. Our Other segment consists of our stored-value (or debit) card operations and their
associated fee income and servicing expenses and other start-up product offerings (including our merchant credit
program, an Internet-based installment loan product, centralized decision engine development efforts and third-
party consumer finance receivables origination and servicing activities) that do not individually meet the
reportable business segment disclosure criteria. The activities within our Other segment are generally start-up in
nature, and we expect to continue our testing and investments in these areas in keeping with our diversification
strategy throughout 2006 and beyond.

Recent Developments. In September 2005, we entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”)
with CardWorks, L.P., pursuant to which we would acquire CardWorks, Inc., a privately held issuer and third-
party servicer of consumer credit cards through its subsidiaries Merrick Bank Corporation, a Utah industrial loan
bank, and Cardholder Management Services, LLC. The CardWorks, Inc. acquisition was subject to customary
closing conditions, including the receipt of regulatory approvals. On July 28, 2006, the FDIC announced a
moratorium until January 31, 2007 on approving acquisitions of industrial loan banks, which made it impossible
for us to obtain the necessary regulatory approvals prior to the October 2, 2006 contract expiration date. As a
result, the Agreement expired on October 2, 2006, We subsequently withdrew our application to acquire Merrick
Bank Corporation.

Future Plans. We expect to continue to expand and diversify our product offerings to our underserved and
“un-banked” consumer market base by developing new products and services that we can provide to them and by
acquiring other complementary sub-prime lenders and businesses throughout 2007. As noted above, on
February 2, 2007, we acquired a $195.5 million portfolio of auto finance receivables and the ACC servicing
platform under which the acquired receivables and others previously have been serviced. We believe the
acquisition of this existing portfolio and business will provide us greater depth in the auto finance arena and
provide significant room for expansion in the coming years.

How Do We Operate?

Credit Cards Segment. We market unsecured general-purpose Visa and MasterCard credit cards through
our contractual relationships with third-party financial institutions. Our longest-standing relationship is with
Columbus Bank & Trust Company (“CB&T"), a Georgia state chartered banking subsidiary of Synovus
Financial Corporation. Qur contractual arrangement with CB&T expires in March 2009. Under our CB&T
agreement, CB&T, as the issuer, owns the credit card accounts, and we purchase receivables underlying the
CB&T credit card accounts. Qur cther newer contractual relationships with third-party financial institutions work
in a similar manner to our agreement with CB&T,

On a daily basis, we purchase the credit card receivables generated in the accounts originated by the banks
issuing our credit cards. We in turn securitize a significant majority of the receivables (i.e., all of the Credit Card
segment’s credit card receivables other than those receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card
offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range) each day by selling the receivables to trusts.
When we sell the receivables, we receive cash proceeds and a retained interest in the trusts. The cash proceeds
that we receive from investors when we sell receivables in our securitizations are less than the cash we use o
initially purchase the credit card receivables. The retained interest we receive equals this difference and is a use
of our cash. Qur retained interests are subordinate to the other investors’ interests. The receivables that are sold in
our securitizations generale future cash flows as cardholders remit payments, which include repayments of
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principal. interest and various fees on their accounts. These payments are remitted to the securitization trusts and

then disbursed in accordance with the securitization agreements. We receive all of the excess cash flows from the

securilizations, which represent-collections on the accounts in excess: of Lhe interest paid to-the investors,
servicing fees, credit losses and required amortization or other pnnmpal payments We use the cash proceeds that

we receive when we sell the receivables to help fund the new recewables generated in the accounts, We use cash' |

flows generated from operations, as well as cash from the issuance of debt and equity,'1o fund our retained
interests in the receivables generated in the accounts. ‘

We also acquire distressed and other portfolios of sub-prime credit card receivables. We typically acquire
these portfolios at a substantial discount due to the likelihood that-a large; percentage of the receivables will be
charged off as the underlying debtors default. We use our credit models to prédict the-extent to which the
underlying debtors will be able.to repay us, which we factor into the pric;e that we pay for the portfolio. Our
profitability in these transactions hinges on whether the underlying debtors in the aggregate remit payments that
exceed the price we paid for the porlfollo Portfolio acqunsmons h:stoncz'tlly have been a significant component
of our business. |

See our consolidated financial statements included herein and our “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section
of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condmons and Results of Operations for further details
on our securitizations. - ]

‘Retail Micro-Loans Segment. Our Retail Micro-Loans segment ope;rates through a subsidiary, which serves -

as a holding company for the several separate subsidiaries required to support these operations. This business is
conducted by subsidiaries that operate separately in each state. Each of these operating subsidiaries has a board
of managers and management distinct from those of CompuCredit, has been capitalized at a level that we believe
is appropriate for its business, conducts its operations independently of the other operating subsidiaries and on an
arms’-length basis with its parent and other CompuCredit-related cnuues has its own books and records, and
maintains its assets independently of the other operating companies and qther CompuCredit-related entities
except insofar as certain cash management and administrative functions that are or may be performed on a
collective basis for the benefit of the operating subsidiaries, Each of thesé subsidiaries is operated as an
independent entity in accordance with the laws of the state of its formation.
. . i

Auto Finance Segment. During 2005 and 2006, our Auto Finance ségmem consisted entirely of CAR,
which operates through a subsidiary. which serves as a holding company for the separate subsidiaries required to
support these operations. CAR is licensed and/or authorized to acquire a%'sets in the forty-five states in which it
presently operates. Each of the various CAR operating subsidiaries has a board of managers and management
distinct from those of CompuCredit, has been capitalized at a level that we believe is appropriate for its business,
conducts its operations independently of other operating subsidiaries and ‘on an arms’- -length basis with
CompuCredit and other CompuCredit-related entities, has its own books and records and maintains its assets
independently of other operating companies and other Company-related eintmes except insofar as certain cash
management and administrative functions that are or may be performed on a collective basis for the benefit of the
operating subsidiaries. Each of the CAR subsidiaries is operated as an mdependent entity in accordance with the
laws of the state of its formation. |

This business unit is principally dedicated to acquiring and servicing aged or newly originated receivables
from buy here/pay here used car dealers; related finance companies and régional finance companies, as well as
receivables that are being liquidated by banks, thrifts or consumer ﬁnance ‘companies. These receivables are
purchased at a discount to net present value, and typically have a remdmmg maturity of twenty to thirty months.

' F

CAR is comprlsed of seventeen primary physical locations and’ approxlmately sixty sales resources. Three
of the physical locations manage business developed by direct sales resources while twelve locations act as
standalone profit centers with dedicated sales résources. The business is d'1v1ded into three divisions (East,
Central and West) with sales operations centers located in Charlotte, Nonp Carolina, Coppell, Texas and
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Las Vegas, Nevada, respectively. Collections and customer service are centralized in an operations center that is
based in Lake Mary, Florida. Executive and certain corporate functions are based in Peachtree City, Georgia.
This operating unit maintains a dedicated funding facility sufficient to support present operations.

Our ACC operation, which we acquired on February 2, 2007, services auto loans that it has originated. In
addition, our ACC operation is in the process of recommencing its origination of auto loans, a process that it
discontinued in November 2006 in anticipation of winding up its business prior to agreeing to be acquired by us.

ACC ser\;'ices auto loans from facilities located in San Diego, Califorma, and Denver, Colorado. It currently
originates loans through franchised automobile dealers located in 12 states.

How Do We Collect and Evaluate Data?

Credit Cards Segment. Our general business model is predicated upon our ability to successfulty predict the
performance of sub-prime receivables, irrespective of whether the receivables arise from portfolio acquisitions or
through other origination channels. In other words, we do not focus on the financial institution that originated the
particular receivable, but, rather, on how it will perform. We believe our unique skill set is our ability to predict
this behavior and to service the portfolio in a supertor manner to ensure maximum performance. To this end, we
have developed a proprietary information management system that supports our decision-making functions,
including target marketing, solicitation, application processing, account management and collections activities.
The information system takes advantage of a state-of-the-art data warehouse and ancillary data management
systems that maintain information regarding a customer throughout the customer’s relationship with us. The
system's purpose is to gather, store and analyze the data necessary to facilitate our target marketing and risk
management decisions.

Our infoj’rmalion system captures customer information gathered either from prior owners of our acquired
receivables or in the target marketing and solicitation phases of an originated customer relationship and
throughout the remainder of our relationship with the customer, including customer behavior patterns. By
combining and storing such information, we have established an analytical database linking “static™ historical
data with “dynamic” actual customer performance. Qur portal interfaces and business intelligence tools allow
management to access and analyze the information management system on demand.

We believe that the information we collect in our information system, as well as the ability that we have to
access, study and model this information, provides us with a more efficient and complete process to effectively
price our products and our portfolio acquisitions. We believe that we have priced our products and acquisitions
such that over time the income we earn from the receivables that are not charged off is sufficient to cover our
marketing expenses, our servicing expenses, overhead expenses, our costs of funds and our losses from
cardholders who fail to make their payments and are charged off.

In addition, over the past two years, we have made significant investments in the technology infrastructure
supporting our information management system, such as a new data warehouse, enterprise-wide data
management'sofiware, and a Voice-over-Internet Protocol (VolP)-enabled telephony platform. Such investments
are rapidly providing tangible returns in terms of cost efficiencies and higher productivity. These solutions also
allow us to effectively enable the growth of our business through a flexible, scalable and secure infrastructure,

How Do We Obtain Our Customers?

Credit Cards Segment. As noted above, we view our customers the same regardless of whether we acquire
them through traditional marketing activities or via portfolio purchases. For our credit card lending activities, we
believe we have developed an effective model for predicting the behavior of sub-prime consumers, and this
model works for credit card receivables generated through acquisition and through our other origination
channels. We believe we can use this model to predict the behavior of sub-prime consumers with sub-prime-
related products and asset classes other than credit cards. Since 1996, we have worked with national credit
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bureaus to develop proprietary risk evaluation systems using credit burc|au data. Our systems enable us to
segment customers into narrower ranges within each' FICO scoring range. The FICO scoring, developed by Fair,
Isaac & Co., Inc., is the most commonly used credit risk scofe in the cor{sumer credit industry. The purpose of
the FICO score is to rank consumers relative to their probability of non-payment on a consumer loan. We believe
that sub-segmenting our market within FICO scoring ranges enables us to'better evaluate credit risk and to price
our products effectively, Within each FICO scoring range, we evaluate potential customers using credit and
marketing segmentation methods derived from a variety of data sources. [we place potential customers into
product offering segments based upon combinations of factors, We focus our marketing programs (direct mail,
telemarketing, Internet, television, etc.) on those customer segments that appear to have high income potential
when compared to other segments and demonstrate acceptable credit and bankruptcy risks. The key 1o our efforts
is the use of our systems to evaluate credit risk more effectively than the]use of FICO scores alone.

Similarly, our target marketing system is intended to provide the sarlne competitive advantage when
evaluating portfolios as when originating customers through our marketing campaigns. We believe that our
ability to evaluate credit risk within FICO scoring ranges enables us to détermine a portfolio’s overall credit risk
more accurately than many portfolio sellers and potential purchasers. This risk evaluation expertise'is designed to
enable us to avoid portfolio purchases in which the final purchase premlum or discount does not accurately
reflect the credit risk of the portfolio. Conversely, we may bid more aggressively for portfolios in which the
perceived credit risk, as reflected by the FICO scores, is significantly higher than our forecast of credit risk.

.

Retail Micro-Loans Segment. Our subsidiaries obtain new retail mitro-loan customers through direct
marketing on television and radio, as well through local advertising in appropriate markets. All new customers
are required to have an active bank actount and a regular source of income, of which they must provide positive
evidence, prior to obtaining most micro-loan product offerings. Once app:roved, a customer signs a leﬁding
agreement detatling the terms of the loan and, depending upon the type of micro-loan product, may write a

personal check to cover the amount of the loan plus a finance charge. =

Auto Finance Segment. Our CAR operatlons within this unit acqmre existing retail installment contracts
directly from dealers and small finance companies, while' ACC, which we acquired on February 2, 2007, directly
extends loans to consumers. The Auto Finance segment also enters agreements to service retail installment
contracts. Relationships with dealers and small finance companies are developed and maintained through a direct
sales force. Markets are analyzed through the acquisition of data from 1nd|ustry -related service providers, which
provide information that indicates sufficient dealer and customer densities. Direct advertising campaigns also are
conducted in specific target markets in conjunction with industry- focused advertising in established magazines
and periodicals. This segment also sponsors and participates in most state;and local auto dealer associations and
is a sponsor in national organizations such as the NIADA and NABD. :

|
i
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What Other Services Do We Offer to Our Customers?

Credit Cards Segment. We offer fee-based products and services to E)ur cardholder customers, including
memberships, insurance products, subscription services and debt waiver. These fee-based products and services
are offered throughout our relationship with a customer. Currently, our two most significant providers of
fee-based products are LOTSolutions, which administers debt wavier proc?ucls and Assurant Solutions, which
provides supplemental insurance products to our customers and administers debt wavier for certain customer
segments, We provide marketing support and a billing platform for these thtrd -party products. These third-party
providers are fully responsibie for the fuifillment of the products. Our responsnb:llty is to ensure that enroilment
and cancellation of the products purchased by our.customers are properly processed and billed to the customers
at the rates established. ‘

The success of our fee-based business is a function of .the number and variety of our fee-based product
oflferings, the marketing channels leveraged to sell fee-based products and;the customers to whom we market
these products. The profitability of our fee-based products and services is affected by new credit card account

*
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growth; the response rates to product solicitations, the volume and frequency of the marketing programs and the
operating expenses associated with the programs. Although a wide range of our customers purchase fee-based
products and services, fee-based product and service sales generally are higher to new customers and tend to
diminish throughout our relationship with our cardholders. As a result, we anticipate that during periods of low
new account growth, our profitability from fee-based products and services will either grow at a reduced rate or
decline.

How Do We Maintain the Accounts and Mitigate Qur Risks?

Credit Cards Segment. For our credit card lending activities, we manage account activity using behavioral
scoring, credit file data and our proprictary risk evaluation systems. These strategies include the management of
transaction authorizalions, account renewals, over-limit accounts and credit line modifications. We use an
adaptive control system to translate our strategies into the account management processes. The system enables us
to develop and test multiple strategies simultaneously, which allows us to continually refine our account
management activities. We have incorporated our proprietary risk scores into the control system, in addition to
standard behavior scores used widely in the industry, in order to segment, evaluate and manage the accounts. We
believe that by combining external credit file data along with historical and current customer activity, we are able
to better predict the true risk associated with current and delinquent accounts.

We monitor authorizations for all accounts. Customer credit availability is limited for transaction types that
we believe present higher risks, such as foreign transactions, cash advances, etc. We manage credit lines to
reward underserved customers who are performing well and to mitigate losses from delinquent customer
segments. Accounts exhibiting favorable credit characteristics are periodically reviewed for credit line increases,
and strategies are in place to reduce credit lines for customers demonstrating indicators of increased credit or
bankruptcy risk. Data relating to account performance are captured and loaded into our proprietary database for
ongoing analysis. We adjust account management strategies as necessary, based on the results of such analyses.

- Additionally, we use industry-standard fraud detection software to manage the portfolio. We route accounts to
manual work queues and suspend charging privileges if the transaction-based fraud models indicate a high
probability of fraudulent card use,

Auto Finance Segment. Accounts are managed in house by an experienced staff specifically trained in this
segment of the industry. For our CAR operations, credit quality and loss mitigation are managed at the dealer
portfolio level through the implementation of deater-specific loss reserve accounts. In most instances, the reserve
accounts are cross-collateralized across all business presented by any single dealer. Performance at the dealer
portfolio level (by product type) is monitored to adjust pricing or the reserve account or to determine if the dealer
is to be excluded from our account purchase program.

Specific purchase guidelines are applied within CAR based upon each product offering, and established
delegated approval authorities exist to assist in the monitoring of transactions during the loan acquisition process.
Dealers are subject to specific approval criteria, and individual accounts are typically verified for accuracy
before, during and after the acquisition process. Dealer portfolios across the business segment are monitored and
compared against expected collections and peer dealer performance. Monitoring of dealer pool vintages,
delinquencies and loss ratios helps determine past performance and expected future results, which are used to
adjust pricing and reserve requirements. Our CAR operations manage risk through diversifying their receivables
among approximately 1,200 active dealers.

For our ACC operations, credit quality and loss mitigation initially are dependent upon our obtaining a first
lien in the auto being financed. When a customer defaults and we repossess the auto, the sale of that auto at
auction generally provides for the repayment of a substantial portion of the loan. However, it is unlikely to
provide proceeds sufficient to repay the entire loan. As a result, for credit evaluation purposes, we consider a
portion of these loans to be unsecured and evaluate the creditworthiness of the customers in that context.
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How Do We Collect from Our Customers? I
Credit Cards Segment The goal of the collections process is 1o coilect as much of the money that is owed to
.us in the most cost effective and customer friendly manner possible. To 'this end, we employ the traditional cross-
section of letters and telephone calls to encourage payment, However, recogmzmg that our objective is to
maximize the amount collected, we also will offer customers flexibility with respect to the application of
payments in order to encourage larger or prompter payments. For instance, in certain cases we vary from our
.general payment apphcanon priority (ie., of applymg payments first to accrued finance charges, then to fees, and
‘then to principal) by agreeing to apply payments first to principal and then 1o accrued finance charges and fees or
‘by agreeing to forego finance charges in exchange for an appropriate payment Application of payments in this
‘manner also permits our collectors to assess real time the degreeto whlch a customer’s payments over the life of
.an account have covered the prll’]Clpal credit extensions to the (:ustomerI This allows our collectors to readily
“identify our potential, “economrc” loss associated with the charge-off of| a particular account (i.e., the excess of
_principal loaned to the customer over payments received back from the customer throughout the ]1fe of the
“account). With this information, our collectors work with our customers in a way intended to best protect us from

- economic loss on the cardholder relauonshlp Our selection of collecuon techniques, including, for example,

whether we apply paymems to finance charges or principal, impacts the statistical performance of our portfolios
-that we reflect under the *“Credit Cards Segment” caption within Item 7] “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” l

: i

" We consider managemem S experlence in operating professnonal collection agencies, coupled with our

_proprietary systems, to be a competitive advantage in minimizing delinquencies and charge off losses. Our
‘collectors employ various and evolving tools when working with a cardho]der and they routinely test and
evaluate new tools in their drive toward i 1mprovmg our collections with the greatest degree of efficiency possible.
These tools include programs under which wé may reduce or eliminate a ‘cardholder’s APR or waive a certain
amount of accrued late fees, provided the cardholder makes a minimumi' number or amount of payments. In some
instances, we may agree to match a customer’s payments, for example, with a commensurate reduction of '
accrued finance charges or waiver of accrued late fees. In other situations, we may actually settle with customers
and adjust their accrued finance charges and accrued late fees, for exarn'ple based on their commitment and their
'follow through on their commitment to pay certain portions of the ba]ances that they owe. Our collectors may
“also decrease a customer’s minimum payment under certain collection programs Additicnally, we employ
re-aging techniques as discussed below. We also may occasionally use our marketing group to assist in
determining various programs to assist in the collection process. Moreover we willingly participate in the

: Consumer Credit Counseling Service (“CCCS”) program by waiving a certam percentage of a customer’s debt

ythat is considered our “fair share” under the CCCS program. All of our programs are utilized based on the degree
of economic success they achleve 1

We constantly are monitoring and adapting our collection strategie:s, techniques, technology and training to
:optimize our efforts to reduce delinquencies and charge offs. We use our systems to develop these proprietary
collection strategies and techniques, which we employ in our operations. We analyze the output from these
systems (o identify the strategies and techniques that we believe are most likely 10 result in curing a delinquent
account in the most cost-effective manner, rather than trearmg all accounls the same based on the mere passage
of time.

Our collection strategies include utilizing both internal and third- party collectors and creating a competitive

_process of rewarding the most effectwe and efficient group of collectors from within our system and among

third-party agencies. We divide our porfolios into various groups that are stausucally equivalent and provide

1
-these groups of accounts to our various internal and external collection resources. We compare the results of the

internal and external collectors against one another to determine which Iechmques and which collection groups

- are producing the best results. :
! - !

Asin all aspecls of our risk management strategies, we compare the results of each of the above strategies
with other collection strategies and devote resources to those strategies that yield the best results. Results are
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measured based on delinquency rales, expected losses and costs to collect. Existing strategies are then adjusted as
suggested by these results. Management believes that maintaining the ongoing discipline of testing, measuring
and adjusting collection strategies will result in minimized bad debt losses and operating expenses. We believe
this on-going evaluation differs from the approach taken by the vast majority of credit grantors that implement
collection strategies based on commonly accepted peer group practices.

We generally charge off credit card receivables when they become contractually 180 days past due or within
30 days of notification and confirmation of a customer’s bankruptcy or death. However. if a cardholder makes a
payment greater than or equal to two minimum payments within a month of the charge off date, we may
reconsider whether charge off status remains appropriate. Additionally, in some cases of death, receivables are
not charged off if, with respect to the deceased customer’s account, there is a surviving, contractually liable
individual or an estate large enough to pay the debt in full.

Our determination of whether an account is contractually past due is relevant to our delinquency and charge
off data included under the “Credit Cards Segment” caption within Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Various factors are relevant in analyzing whether an
account is contractually past due (i.e., whether an account has not satisfied its minimum payment due ,
requirement), which for us is the trigger for moving receivables through our various delinquency buckets and :
ultimately to charge off status. We will consider a cardholder’s receivable o be delinquent if the cardholder fails
to pay a minimum amount computed as a fixed percentage of his or her statement balance (3% or 4%, depending
on the credit card product that he or she has). If, for any reason, we are required to revise our minimum payment
requirements and practices, our delinquency and charge off data may be adversely affected.

Additionally, we use account re-aging as an account and customer management tool based on indicia or
criteria that, in our judgment, evidence continued payment probability in an effort to increase the value of our
account relationships. It is our policy to work cooperatively with customers demonstrating a willingness and
ability to repay their indebtedness and who satisfy other criteria, but are unable to pay the entire past due amount,
Generally, to qualify for re-aging, an account must have been opened for at least nine months and may not be
re-aged more than once in a twelve-month period or twice in a five-year period. We also limit re-ages for
cardholders in workout programs to once in a five-year period in addition to the periods stated above. The
customer also must have made three consecutive minimum monthly payments or the equivalent cumulative
amount in the last 90 days with the exception of CCCS customers who are required to make at least one
qualifying payment within a2 month of CCCS proposal acceptance. In addition, if a re-aged account subsequently
experiences payment defaults, it will again become contractually delinquent and will be charged off according to
our regular charge off policy. The fact that the re-aging criteria may be met for a particular account does not
require us 1o re-age that account, and the extent to which we re-age accounts that are eligible under the criteria
will vary depending upon our view of prevailing economic conditions and other factors which may change from
period to pericd. In addition, where circumstances warrant, we can make exceptions to these practices. The
practice of re-aging an account may affect delinquencies and charge offs, potentially delaying or reducing such
delinquencies and charge offs.

Retail Micro-Loans Segment. Generally, for our traditional cash advance micro-loan product, upon the
establishment of a relationship with a customer, the store will schedule when the customer is expected to return
Lo our retail location and repay the cash advance. Prior to that date, the store will attempt to contact the customer
to confirm scheduling.

If a customer does not return to repay the cash advance, the store manager will either atlempt to contact the
customer to schedule another payment date through a promise to pay or deposit the personal check issued to us
by the customer when he or she received his or her cash advance loan. Re-scheduling of payment dates is
generally attempted first in order to improve customer relations and enhance overall collections. -

If the store manager is unable to re-schedule a payment date, the customer’s check is deposited. If the check
does not clear, either due to insufficient funds, a closed account or a stop-payment order, the branch employees




1

use additional collection efforts. These collection efforts typically include contacting the customer by phone or in
person to-obtain a promise 1o pay, sending collection letters to the custor'ner or attempting to deposit the
customer’s check if funds become available. If these collection efforts 1a|l the debt may be sold to either our
own debt collecttons subsidiary or to a third party to attempt collection. 1

Auto Finance Segment. Accounts that CAR purchases from approved dealers initially are collected by the
originating branch or service center location using a combination of tradmonal collection techniques. After a
short period, accounts that have been loaded into our data processmg syeﬁtem are centrally serviced to leverage
auto dialer processing for early stage collections. The collection-process includes contacting the customer by
phone or mail, skip tracing and using starter.interrupt devices to minimize delinquencies. Uncollectible accounts
in our CAR operation generally are returned to the dealer under an agree:ment with the dealer to charge the
balance on the account against the dealer’s reserve account. We génerall'y do not repossess autos in our CAR
operation as a result of the agreéments that we have with the dealers. In our ACC operation, we customarily
[epossess autos following the defauit and seil those autos at national auctions. Thefe almost always is a
dcﬁ(:lency upon that sale at which pomt we assess whether to  pursue ()rI more often not pursue that deficiency.

f
. i
Consumer and Debtor Protection Laws and Regulations -

Credit Cards Segment. Qur business is regulated directly and 1nd1rectly under various federal and state
consumer protection and other laws, rules and regulations, including the federal Truth-In-Lending Act, the
federal Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the federal Fair Credit Reporting Pl\ct the federal Fair Debt Coliection
Practices Act, the federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and the federal Telemarketmg and Consumer Fraud and
Abuse Prevention Act. These statutes and their enabling regulations, among other things, impose disclosure
requirements when a consumer credit loan is advertised, when the account is opened and when monthly billing
statements are sent. [n addmon various statutes limit the liability of credlt cardholders for unauthorized use,
prohibit discriminatory practices in extending credit, impose limitations on the types of charges that may be
assessed and restrict the use of consumer credit reports and other accountt -related information. Some of our
productq are demgned for customers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range. To offset the hlgher loss rates
among these customers, these products generally have higher fees and more demanding terms than our other
products. Because of the greater credit risks inherent in these customers and the fees and terms that the products
have, these products, and the banks that i issue them on our behalf, are subject to significant regulatory scrutiny.
Were regulators, including the FDIC (Wthh regulates the lenders that issue these products on our behalf) and the
FTC, to object to these products, we could be requnred to modify or dmco'ntmue them.

Investments in Previously Charged-Off Receivables Segment. Oljr business is regulated directly and
mdtrectly under various federal and state consumer protection and other Iaws rules and regulations, including the
federal Truth-In-Lending Act, the federal Equal Credit Opportunity Act. the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act,
the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the federal Gramm- Leach- Bhley Act, the U.S. Bankruptcy Code

_and the federal Telemarketmg and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevenuon Act. These statutes and their enabling
regulations, among other things, establish specific regulations that debt collectors must follow when collecting
consumer accounts and contain specific restrictions when commumcatmg with customers, including the time,
p]ace and manner of the communications. In addition, some states require licensure prior to attempting collection
efforts. : y 1 ,

Retail Micro-Loans Segment. These businesses are reguldted dlrectly and indirectly under various federal
and state consumer protection and other laws, rules and regulations, mc]udmg the federal Truth-In-Lending Act.
the federal Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the federal Falr Credit Repomng Act, the federal Fair Debt Collection

Practices Act, the federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and the federal Tc.len‘mrketmg, and Consumer Fraud and

Abuse Prevention Act. These statutes and their enabling regulations, among other things; impose disclosure

requirements when a consumer loan or cash advance is advertised and when the account is opened. In addition,

. various state statutes limit the mterth rates and fees that may be charged, lpl"()hlbl[ discriminatory practices in

e}xlendmg credit, impose limitations on the number and form of transactions and restrict the use of consumer
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credit reports and other account-related information. Many of the states in which these businesses operate have
various licensing requirements and impose certain financial or other conditions in connection with their licensing
requirements.

Auto Finance Segment. This segment is regulated directly and indirectly under various federal and state
consumer protection and other laws, rules and regulations, including the federal Truth-In-Lending Act, the
federal Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act, the federal Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act, the federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and the federal Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and
Abuse Prevention Act. These statutes and their enabling regulations, among other things, impose disclosure
requirements. In addition, various state statutes limit the interest rates and fees that may be charged, limit the
types of interest computations {e.g., interest bearing or pre-computed) and refunding processes that are permitted,
prohibit discriminatory practices in extending credit, impose limitations on fees and other ancillary products and
restrict the use of consumer credit reports and other account-related information. Many of the states in which this
business segment operates have various licensing requirements and impose certain financial or other conditions
in connection with these licensing requirements.

Competition'

Credit Cards Segment. We face substantial competition, the intensity of which varies depending upon
economic and liquidity cycles, from other consumer lenders. Our credit card business competes with national,
regional and local bankcard issuers, other general-purpose credit card issuers and retail credit card issuers. Large
credit card issuers, including but not limited to JP Morgan Chase, Bank of America, CitiBank, and Capital One,
may compete with us for customers in a variety of ways, including but not limited to interest rates and fees.
Many of these competitors are substantially larger than we are, have significantly greater financial resources than
we do-and have significantly lower costs of funds than we have. In addition, most of our largest competitors are
banks and do net have to rely on third parties to issue their credit cards. Customers choose credit card issuers
largely on the basis of price, including interest rates and fees, credit limit and other product features. Customer
loyalty is often limited in this area. As such, we may lose entire accounts or account balances to competing credit
card issuers. ’

Our competitors are continually introducing new strategies to attract customers and increase their market
share via techniques such as advertising, target marketing, balance transfers and price competition. In response to
competition, some issuers of credit cards have lowered interest rates and offered incentives to retain existing
customers and attract new ones. These competitive practices, as well as competition that may develop in the
future, could harm our ability to obtain customers and maintain profitability.

Investiments in Previously Charged-Off Receivables Segment. The consumer debi collection industry is
highly competitive and fragmented. We compete with a wide range of other purchasers of charged-off consumer
receivables, including third-party collection agencies, other financial service companies and credit originators
that manage their own consumer receivables.

Some of our competitors are larger and more established and may have substantially greater financial,
technological, personnel and other resources than we have, including greater access Lo capital markets. We
believe that no individual competitor or group of competitors has a dominant presence in the market. )
Competitive pressures affect the availability and pricing of receivables portfolios, as well as the availability and
cost of qualified debt collectors.

We face bidding competition in our acquisition of charged-off consumer receivables portfolios. Some of our
current competitors, and possible new competitors, may have more effective pricing and collection models,
greater adaptability to changing market needs and more established relationships in our industry than we have.
Moreover, our competitors may elect to pay prices for portfolios that we determine are not reasonable and, in that
event, our volume of portfolio purchases may be diminished.
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We believe that our management’s experience and expertise in identifying, evaluating, pricing and acquiring
consumer receivable portfolios and managing collections coupled with our strategic alliances with third-panty
servicers give us a competitive advantage. However, we cannot be assured that we will be able to compete
successfully against current or future competitors or that competition wi}] not increase in the future, Because our
Investments in Previously Charged-Off Receivables segment serves in some respects as a hedge for the sale of
charged-off credit card receivables by cur Credit Cards segment, the ad\!rerse effects of competition for our
Investments in Previously Charged Off Receivables segment typically would serve to benefit the operating
results of our Credit Cards segment.

Retail Micro-Loans Segment. Competition for our Retail Mibro-anns segment originates from numerous
sources. Qur Retail Micro-Loans segment subsidiaries compete with traditional financial institutions that offer
similar products such as overdraft protection and cash advances, as well | as with other micro-loan companies that
offer substantially similar products and pricing models to ours. Key competllors in addition to traditional
financial institutions, include Advance America. Check ‘n Go and ChecK into Cash, among others, who have
multiple store operations located throughout the United States. {

Differentiation among micro-loan providers is often relegated to location of branches, customer service,
convenience and confidentiality. Due to the low barriers to entry within the market in terms of both cost and
regulatory safe harbors within certain states, the micro-loan industry is in a period of significant growth, with
multiple local chains and single unit operators often operating within the same market. The competition created
by these operations could restrict our businesses’ ability to effectively earn adequate returns or grow at desired
rates in certain markets. ‘

Auto Finance Segment. Competition within the auto finance sector is very widespread and fragmented and
includes captive finance companies from-all of the major manufacturers. Our CAR operations target a customer
base and dealer profile that often times are not capable of accessing mdlrecl iending from major financial
institutions or captive finance companies. We compete mainly with a h.mdful of national companies focused on
this credit segment (e.g., Credit Acceptance Corp.,.WestLake Financial, Mld Atlantic Finance and Western
Funding) and a large number of smaller, regional based private companies with a narrow geographic focus.
Individual dealers with access to capital may also compete in this segment through the purchase of receivables
from peer dealers in their markets. :

Employees v

Asof Deccmber 31, 2006, we had approximately 3,600 employees principally located in Florida, Georya
Minnesota. Nevada, North Carolina and Utah. Predominantly associated \;Vllh the acquisitions within and
operations of our Retail Micro-Loans and Auto Finance segments, we have employees located in Alabama,
Arizona, Arkansas, Colorado, Florida, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, Nevada North Carolina, Ohio,
Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia and Wisconsin. Addmonally, we have a limited number
of employees in India and the United Kingdom. No collective bargaining agreement exists for any of our
employees. We consider our relations with our employees to be good. |

Trademarks, Trade Names and Service Marks
L]

CompuCredit and our subsidiaries have registered and continue to register, when appropriate, various
trademarks. trade names and service marks used in connection with our businesses and for private-label
marketing of certain of our products. We consider these trademarks and service marks to be readily identifiable
with, and valuable to, our business. This Annual Report on Form 10-K a]so contains trade names and trademarks
of other companies that are the property of their respective owners. i
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Additi(')nal Information

CompuCredit is incorporated in Georgia. Our principal executive offices are located at 245 Perimeter Center
Parkway, Sune 600, Atlanta, Georgia 30346, and the telephone number at that address is (770) 206-6200. Our
Internet address is www. compucredit.com. We make available free of charge on our Internet website our annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. '

Certain corporate governance materials, including our Board committee charters and our Code of Business
Conduét and Ethics, are posted on our website under the heading “Investor Relations,” From time to time, the
corporate governance materials on our website may be updated as necessary to comply with rules issued by the
SECor. NASD'AQ, or as desirable to further the continued effective and efficient governance our company.



‘ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock or other securities involves a number of risks. You should carefully
consider each of the risks déscribed below;before deciding to invest in our common stock. If any of the following
risks develops into actual events, our busmess financial condition or reslults of operatlons could be negatively
affected, the market price of our common stock or other securities coulct decline and you may lose all or part of
your investment. ‘

i

Our Cash Flows Are Dependent Upon the Cash Flows Received on the Receivables Underlying Our
Securitizations and From Our Other Credit Products. - 1

The collecnblllty of the receivables underlying our securitizations ?nd those that we hold and do not
securitize is a function of many ' factors including the criteria used to select who is issued credit, the pricing of the
credit products, the lengths of the relationships, general economic condltlons the rate at which customers repay
their accounts or become delinquent and the rate at which cardholders use their cards. To the extent we have over
estimated collectibility, in all likelihood we have over estimated our financial performance. Some of these
concerns are discussed more fully below. 1

|
. We may not successfully evaluate the creditworthiness of our customers and may not price our credit
products so as to remain profitable. The creditworthiness of our target market generally is considered “sub-
prime” based on guidance issued by the agencies that regulate the banking industry. Thus, our customers
generally have a higher frequency of delinquencies, higher risk of nonpailyment and, ultimately, higher credit
losses than consumers who are served by more traditional providers of cionsumer credit. Some of the consumers
included in our target market are consumers who are dependent upon ﬁniance companies, consumers with only
retail store credit cards and/or lacking general purpose credit cards, consumers who are establishing or expanding
their credit and consumers who may have had a delinquency, a default or, in some instances, a bankruptcy in
their credit histories, but have, in our view, demonstrated recovery. We price our credit products taking into
account the perceived risk level of our target customers. If our estimales; are incorrect, customer default rates will
be higher, we will receive less cash from our securitizations and other criedit products, which will result in a
decrease in the value of our retained interests (which are based on expected future cash flows) and our loans and
fees receivable, and we will experience reduced levels of net income. | -

+

An economic slowdown could increase credit losses and/or decrease our growth. Because our business is
directly related to consumer spénding, any period of economic slowdown or recession could make it more
difficult for us to add or retain accounts or account balances. In addition, during periods of economic slowdown
Or recession, we expect to experience an increase in rates of delinquenci:es and frequency and severity of credit
losses. Our actual rates of delinquencies and frequency and severity of credit losses may be higher under adverse
economic conditions than those experienced in the consumer finance incalustry generally because of our focus on
the sub-prime market. Changes in credit use, payment patterns and the rate of defaults by account holders may
result from a variety of unpredictable social, economic and geographic fiactors Social factors include, among
other things, changes in consumer confidence levels, the public’s percep!non of the use of credit and changing
atiitucdes about incurring debt and the stigma of personal bankruptcy. Ecpnomic_ factors include, among other
things, the rates of inflation, the unemployment rates and the relative intFrest rates offered for various types of
loans. Moreover, adverse changes in economic conditions in states where account holders are located, including
as a result of severe weather, could have a direct impact on the timing and amount ‘of payments on our credit card
accounts.

1

Because a significant portion of our reported income is based on jmanagemem’s estimates of the future
performance of securitized receivables, differences between actual andi’ expected performance of the
receivables may cause fluctuations in net income. Income from the sale of receivables in securitization
transactions and income from retained interests in receivables securmzed have constituted, and are likely to
continue to constitute, a significant portion of our income. Portions of thls income are based on management’s
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estimates of cash flows we expect to receive from the interests that we retain when we securitize receivables.
Differences between actual and expected performance of the receivables will occur and may cause fluctuations in
our net income. The expected cash flows are based on mariagemem’s estimates of interest rates, default rates,
payment rates, cardholder purchases, costs of funds paid to investors in the securitizations, servicing costs,
discount rates and required amortization payments. These estimates are based on a variety of factors, many of
which are not within our control. As a result, these estimates will differ from actual performance.

Increases in expected losses and delinquencies may prevent us from continuing to securitize receivables
in the future on similar terms or otherwise obtaining favorable financing for non-securitized receivables.
Greater than expected delinquencies and losses also could impact our ability to complete other securitization or
financing transactions on acceptable terms or at all, thereby decreasing our liquidity and forcing us to either
decrease or stop our growth or rely on aiternative, and potentially more expensive, funding sources if even
available.

Increased utilization of existing credit lines by cardholders would require us to establish additional
securitization and financing facilities or curtail credit lines. Our existing commitments to extend credit to
cardholders exceed our available securitization and financing facilities. If all of our cardholders were to use their
entire lines of credit at the same time, we would not have sufficient capacity to fund card use. However, in that
event, we could either reduce our cardholders’ available credit lines or establish additional securitization and
financing facilities. This would subject us to several of the other risks that we have described in this section.

Increases beyond expected losses and delinquencies may cause us to incur losses on our retained interests
and losses on our loans and fees receivable. If the actual amounts of delinquencies and losses that occur in our
securitized receivables or our on-balance-sheet receivables are greater than expecied, the value of our retained
interests in the securitization transactions and our loans and fee receivable, net on our consolidated balance sheet
will decrease. Since we derive substantial income from our retained interests and loans and fees receivables,
higher than expected rates of delinquency and loss could cause our net income to be lower than expecied. In
addition, under the terms of our securitizations agreements, levels of loss and delinquency could result in us
being required to repay our securitization investors earlier than expected, reducing funds available 1o us for
future growth. Similarly with respect to financing agreements secured by our on-balance-sheet receivables, levels
of loss and delinquency could result in our being required to repay our lenders earlier than expected, thereby
reducing funds available to us for future growth

Our portfolio of receivables is not diversified and originates from customers whose creditworthiness is
considered sub-prime. We obtain the receivables that we securitize and retain on our balance sheet in one of two
ways—we either originate the receivables or purchase pools of receivables from other issuers. In either case,
substantially all of our receivables originate from sub-prime borrowers. Our reliance on sub-prime receivables
has in:the past (and may in the future) negatively impacted our performance. For example, in 2001, we suffered a
substantial loss after we increased the discount rate that we use in valuing our retained interests to reflect the
higher rate of return required by securitization investors in sub-prime markets. These losses might have been
mitigated had our portfolios consisted of higher-grade receivables in addition to our sub-prime receivables.
Because our portfolios are undiversified, negative market forces have the potential to cause a widespread adverse
impact. We have no immediate plans to issue or acquire significant receivables that are higher in the credit
spectrum.

Seasonal consumer spending may result in fluctuations in our net income. Our quarterly income may
substantially fluctuate as a result of seasonal consumer spending. In particular, our credit card customers may
charge more and carry higher balances during the year-end holiday season and during the late summer vacation
and back-to-school period, resulting in corresponding increases in the receivables we manage and subsequently
securitize or finance during those periods.
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Increases in interest rates will increase our cost of funds and may reduce the payment performance of
our customers. Increases in interest rates will increase our cost of funds; which could significantly affect our
results of operations and financial condition. Our credit card accounts have variable interest rates. Significant
increases in these variable interest rates may reduce the payment perforr}lancc of our customers.

Due to the lack of historical experience with Internet customers, 1:ve may not be able to successfully target
these customers or evaluate their creditworthiness. There is less historical experience with respect to the credit
risk and.performance of customers acquired over the Internet. As part ofiour growth strategy, we are expanding
our origination of accounts over the Internet; however, we may not be able to successfuily target and evaluate the
creditworthiness of these potential customers. Therefore. we may encour:ner difficulties managing the expected
delinquencies and-losses and appropriately pricing our products. !

]
i

We Are Substantially Dependent Upon Securitizations and Other Borrowed Funds to Fund the

Receivables That We Originate or Purchase. |

All of our securitization and financing facilities are of finite duratio:n (and ultimately will need to be
extended or replaced) and contain conditions that must be fulfilled in order for funding to be available. Although
our primary credit card receivables securitization facility with Memill Lynch alleviates for the foreseeable future
our principal exposure to advance rate fluctuations, in the event that future advance rates (i.e., the percentage on
a dollar of receivables that lenders will lend us) for securitizations our ﬁndncmg facilities are reduced, investors
in securitizations or financing facilities lenders require a greater rate of return, we fail to meet the requirements
for continued funding or securitizations and financing arrangements otherwme become unavailable to us, we may
not be able to maintain or grow our base of receivables or it may be morf‘: expensive for us to do so. In addition,
because of advance rate limitations, we retain subordinate interests in our securitizations, the “retained interests,”
that must be funded through profitable operations, equity raised from third parties or funds borrowed elsewhere.
The cost and availability of equity and borrowed funds is dependent upon our financial performance, the
performance of our industry generally and general economic and market condluon‘; and at times equity and
borrowed funds have been both expenslve and difficult to obtain. Some of these concerns are discussed more
fully below. l

Our gmwth is dependent on our ability to add new securitization a;nd JSinancing facilities. We finance our
receivables through securitizations and financing facilities. To the extent we grow our receivables significantly,
our cash requirements are likely to exceed the amount of cash we gencrate from operations, thus requiring us to
add new securitization or financing facilities. Our historic and projected performance impact whether, on what
terms and at what cost we can sell interests in our securitizations or obtaifl financing from lenders. If additional
securitization and financing facilities are not available on terms we consigler acceptable, or if existing
securitization and financing facilities are not renewed on terms as favorable as we have now or are not renewed
at.all, we may not be able to grow. .

As our securitization and financing facilities mature, they will be required to accumulate cash that
therefore will not be available to us for reinvestment or other purposes. Repayment for our securitization
facilities begins as early as one year prior to their maturity dates. Once repayment begins and until the facility is
. patd, payments from customers on receivables are accumulated to repay-the investors and are no longer
reinvested in new receivables. When a securitization facility matures, the lunderlying trust continues to own the
receivables and effectively the maturing facility maintains its priority in its right to payments following
collections on the underlying receivables untiliit 1s repaid in fuli. As a resull new purchases need to be funded
using debt, equity or a replacement facility subordinate to the maturing falcﬂlty s interest in the underlying
receivables. Although this subordination historically has not made it more difficult to obtain replacement
facilities, it may do so in the future. If our securitization facilities begin to accumulate cash and we also are
unable to obtain additional sources of liquidity, such as debt, equity or new sccuritization facilities that are
structurally subordinate to the facilities accumulating cash, we may be forced to prohibit new purchases in some
or all of our accounts in order to significantly reduce our need for any additional cash.
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The documents under which the securitization facilities are established provide that, upon the occurrence of
certain adverse events known as early redemption events, the timing of payments to the investors could be
accelerated. Early redemption events include portfolio performance triggers, the termination of the affinity
agreement with CB&T, breach of certain representations, warranties and covenants, insolvency or receivership,
servicer defdults and may include the occurrence of an early redemption event with respect to another
securitization transaction. In the Merrill Lynch facility, an early redemption event also may be triggered based on
a total consohdated equity test or a change of control in CompuCredit. If an early redemption event occurs,
pnnupa] payments would be made to investors to reduce their interests in our securitizations. As investors’
interests in our securitizations decrease, our liquidity would be negatively impacted and our financial results may
suffer. xWe wou]d need to obtain alternative sources of funding, and there is no certainty that we would be able to
do so. Slmllar triggers exist with respect 1o the financing facilities for our loans and fees receivable retained on
our balance sheet, the refunding of which could be made more difficult or impossible at terms acceptable to us if
we hit such lngger‘% “

We may be unable to obtain capital from third parties needed to fund our existing securitizations and
loans and fees receivable or may be forced to rely on more expensive funding sources. We need equity or debt
capital'to fund our retained interests in our securitizations and the difference between our loans and fees
receivable and the amount that lenders will advance or lend to us against those receivables. Investors should be
aware of our dependence on third parties for funding and our exposure to increases in costs for that funding.
External factors, including the general economy, impact our ability to obtain funds. For instance, in 2001, we
needed additiénal liquidity to fund our operations and the growth in our retained interests, and we had a difficult
time obtaining the needed cash. If in the future we need 10 raise cash by issuing additional debt or equity or by
selling a portion of our retained interests, there is no certainty that we will be able to do so or that we will be able
10 do 50 on favorable terms. Our ability to raise cash will depend on factors such as our performance and
creditworthiness, the performance of our industry, the performance of issuers of other non-credit card-based asset
backed securities and the general economy.

i
The timiig and volume of securitizations and originations with respect to our largely Jee-based credit

card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range may cause significant fluctuations in
quarterly income. Fluctuations in the timing or the volume of receivables securitized will cause fluctuations in
our quarterly income. Factors that affect the timing or volume of our securitizations include the growth inour .
receivables, market conditions and the approval by all parties of the terms of the securitization. Given the
significant and variable growth rates that we have experienced for our largely fee-based credit card offerings to
consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range and given the appreciably shorter vintage life cycles for
these offerings relative to our more traditional credit card offerings, we have expenenced and in the future
expect to expérience, significant volatility of quarterly earnings from these offerings based on the varying
volumes of marketing spendmg and account origination in the quarters preceding peak vintage charge-off
periods. '

The performance of our competitors may impact the costs of our securitizations and financing Jacilities.
Investors in our securitizations and financing facilities compare us 1o other sub-prime credit card issuers and, to
some degree, our performance is tied to many of the factors that impact their performance. Generally speaking,
investors in our securitizations also invest in our competitors’ securitizations, and lenders against our receivables
also lend against our competitors’ receivables. These investors and lenders broadly invest in or lend against
receivables, and when they evaluate their investments and lending arrangements, they typlcally do so on the basis
of overall industry performance. Thus, when our competitors perform poorly, we typically experience negative
1nvestor and lender sentiment, and the investors in our securitizations and lenders against our receivables require
greater returns, particularly with respect to subordinated interests in our securitizations. In 2001, for instance,
investors demanded unprecedented returns. -

In the event that investors require higher returns and we sell our retained interests in securitizations at that
time, the total return to the buyer may be greater than the discount rate we are using to value the retained interests

19




in our financial statements. This would result in a loss for us at the time of the sale as the total proceeds from the
sale would be less than the carrying amount of the retained interests in our financial statements. We also might
increase the discount rate used to value all of our other retained interests, which also would result in further
losses. Conversely, if we sold our retained interests for a total return to the investor that was less than our current
discount rate, we would record income from the sale, and we would potémially decrease the rate used to value all
of our other retained interests, which would result in additional income. |

t

We.may be required to pay to investors in our securitizations an amount equal to the amount of

securitized receivables if representations and warranties made to us Iiryl sellers of the receivables are
inaccurate. The representations and warranties made to us by sellers of :rcceivab]es we have purchased may be
inaccurate. We rely on these representations and warranties when we securitize these purchased receivables. In
securitization transactions, we make representations and warranties to investors and, generally speaking, if there
is a breach of our representations and warranties, then under the terms of the applicable investment agreement we
could be required to pay the investors the amount of the non-compliant recewables Thus, our reliance on a
representation or warranty of a receivables seller, which proves to be false and causes a breach of one of our
representations or warranties, could subject us to a potentiaily costly hablhty

I

Our Financial Performance Is, in Part, a Function of the Aggregate / Amount of Receivables That Are
Qutstanding. ‘

The aggregate amount of outstanding receivables is a function of many factors including purchase rates,
payment rates, interest rates, seasonality, general economic conditions, competltlon from other credit card issuers
and other sources of consumer financing, access to funding as noted above and the success of our marketing -
efforts. To the extent that we have over estimated the size or growth of opr receivables, in all likelihood we have
over estimated our future financial performance. ;

Intense competition for customers may cause us to lose rece:vables to competitors. We may lose
receivables to competitors that offer lower interest rates and fees or other more attractive terms or features. We
believe that customers choose credit card issuers and other lenders largely on the basis of interest rates, fees,
credit limits and other product features. For this reason, customer loyalty1 is often limited. Qur future growth
depends largely upon the success of our marketing programs and s[rategtes Our credit card business competes
with national, regional and local bank and other credit card issuers, mcludmg issuers of American Express®,
Discover® ,Visa® and MasterCard® credit cards. Our other businesses have substantial competitors as well. Some
of these competitors already may use or may begin using many of the programs and strategies that we have used
to attract new accounts. In addition, many of our competitors are subslanually targer than we are and have greater
financial resources. Further, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999, which permits the affiliation of commercial
banks, insurance companies and securities firms, may increase the level of competition in the financial services
market, including the credit card business. :

We may be unable to sustain and manage our growth. We may experience fluctuations in net income or
sustain net losses il we are not able to sustain or effectively manage our growth. Growth is a product of a
combmanon of factors, many of which are not in our control. Factors include:

« growth in both existing and new receivables; ‘
+ the degree to which we lose receivables 1o competitors;
* levels of delinquencies and charge offs;

» the availability of funding, including securitizations, on favorable terms;

* our ability to sell retained interests on favorable terms,; '

* our ability to attract new customers through originations or portfolio purchases;

+ the level of costs of soliciting new customers; .
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« the level of response to our solicitations;

= our ability to employ and train new personnel;

« our ability to maintain adequate management systems, collection procedures, internal controls and
automated systems; and

» general economic and other factors beyond our control.

Our decisions regarding marketing can have a significant impact on our growth. We can increase or
decrease the size of our outstanding receivables balances by increasing or decreasing our marketing efforts.
Marketing is expensive, and during periods when we have less liquidity than we like or when prospects for
continued liquidity in the future do not look promising, we may decide to limit our marketing and thereby our
growth. We decreased our marketing during 2003, although we increased our marketing in 2004 through 2006
because of our improved access to capital.

Our operating expenses and our ability to effectively service our accounts are dependent on our ability to
estimate the future size and general growth rate of the portfolio. One of our servicing agreements causes us to
make additional payments if we overestimate the size or growth of our business. These additional payments
compensate the servicer for increased staffing expenses it incurs in anticipation of our growth. If we grow more
slowly than anticipated, we still may have higher servicing expenses than we actually need, thus reducing our net
income.

We Operate in a Heavily Regulated Industry.

Changes in bankruptcy, privacy or other consumer protection laws, or to the prevailing interpretation
thereof, may expose us to litigation, adversely affect our ability to collect account balances in connection with
our traditional credit card business, our debt collection subsidiary’s charged-off receivables operations, auto
finance and micro-loan activities, or otherwise adversely affect our operations. Similarly, regulatory changes
could adversely affect our ability or willingness to market credit cards and other products and services to our
customers. The accounting rules that govern our business are exceedingly complex, difficult to apply and in a
state of flux. As a result, how we value our receivables and otherwise account for our business {(including
whether we consolidate our securitizations) is subject to change depending upon the interpretation of, and
changes in, those rules. Some of these issues are discussed more fully below.

Reviews and enforcement actions by regulatory authorities under banking and consumer protection laws
and regulations may result in changes to our business practices, may make collection of account balances
more difficult or may expose us to the risk of fines, restitution and litigation. Our operations and the operations
of the issuing banks through which we originate credit products are subject to the jurisdiction of federal, state and
local government autherities, including the SEC, the FDIC, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the
FTC, state regulators having jurisdiction over financial institutions and debt origination and collection and state
attorneys general. OQur business practices, including the terms of our products and our marketing, servicing and
collection practices, are subject to both periodic and special reviews by these regulatory and enforcement
authorities. These reviews can range from the investigations of specific consumer complaints or concerns to
broader inquiries into our practices generally. If as part of these reviews the regulatory authorities conclude that
we are not complying with applicable law, they could request or impose a wide range of remedies including
requiring changes in advertising and collection practices, changes in the terms of our products (such as decreases
in interest rates or fees), the imposition of fines or penalties, or the paying of restitution or the taking of other
remedial action with respect to affected customers. They also could require us to stop offering some of our
products, either nationally or in selected states. To the extent that these remedies are imposed on the issuing
banks through which we originate credit products, we generally are responsible for the remedies as a result of our
indemnification obligations with those banks. Furthermore, negative publicity relating to any specific inquiry or
investigation could hurt our ability to conduct business with various industry participants or to attract new
accounts and could negatively affect our stock price, which would adversely affect our ability to raise additional
capital and raise our costs of deing business.
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As discussed in more detail below, in March 2006, one of our subsidiaries stopped processing and servicing
micro-loans in North Carolina in settlement of a review by the North Cdrolina Attorney General, and also in
2006, we terminated our processing and servicing of micro-loans for third-party banks in three other states in
response to a position taken in February 2006 with respect to banks 'gen.?rally by the FDIC.

In Jurie 2006, we entered into an assurance agreement with the New York Attorney General in order to
resolve an inquiry into our marketing and other materials and our servicing and collection practices, principally
as a result of New York Personal Property Law Section 413. Pursuant to this agreement, we agreed to pay a $0.5
mililion civil penalty to the State of New York and to refund certain fees'to New York cardholders, which
resulted in cash payments of under $2.0 million and a charge against 2 $5.0 million liability that we accrued for
this purpose. In addition, we assured the New York Attorney General that we would not engage in certain
marketing, billing, servicing and collection practices, a number of which we previously had discontinued.

Also in June 2006, the FDIC commenced an investigation of the polncnes practices and procedures used in
connection with our longest standing third-party credit card originating financial institution relationship. In
December 2006, the FTC commenced-a related investigation. In general' the investigations focus upon whether
marketing and other materials contained misrepresentations regarding, among other things, fees and crédit limits
and whether servicing and collection practices were conducted in accordance with applicable law. We have
provided substantial information to both the FDIC and FTC, and we continue to respond to their requests. The
FDIC and FTC have proposed limitations on certain marketing, servicing and collection practices,
reimbursement of various types of fees to affected customers and the payment of fines. The matters under
investigation involve a significant amount of fees and a substantial number of accounts, and it is premature to
determine the outcomes of these investigations or their effects on our financial condition, results of operations or
business position and consolidated financial statements. However, we believe that our marketing and other
materials and servicing and collection practices comply with applicable | Iaw and we intend to vigorously contest
the limitations and other proposats of the FDIC and FTC.

If any additional deficiencies or violations of law or regulations are identified by us or asserted by any
regulator, or if the FDIC, FTC or any other regulator requires us to change any of our practices, there can be no
assurance that the correction of such deficiencies or violations, or the mziking of such changes, would not have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or business. In addition, whether or not
we modify our practices when a regulatory or enforcement authority requests or requires that we do so, there is a
risk that we or other industry participants may be named as defendants in litigation involving alleged violations
of federal and state laws and regulations, including consumer protection :laws. Any failure to comply with legal
requirements by us or the issuing banks through which we originate credit products in connection with the ©  +
issuance of those products, or by us or our agents as the servicer of our accounts, could significantly impair our
ability to collect the full amount of the account balances. The institution of any litigation of this nature, or any
Judgment against us or any other industry participant in any litigation of this nature, could adversely affect our
business and financial condition in a variety of ways.. i

1

Increases in required minimum payment levels could impact our business adversely. Recently, regulators
of credit card issuers have requested or required that issuers increase their minimum monthly payment
requirements to prevent so-called “negative amortization,” in which the monthly minimum payment is not
sufficient to reduce the outstanding balance even if new purchases are not made. This can be caused by, among
other things, the imposition of over-limit, late and other fees. We request a minimum payment from our credit
cardholders equal to the greater of 3% or 4% (depending upon the credit card product) of their outstanding
balance or an amount that is sufficient to cover over-limit, late and other fees —a minimum payment level that is
designed to prevent negative amortization. However, we have followed 1 more consumer-friendly practice of not
treating cardholders as delinquent (with commensurate adverse credit agency reporting) provided they make a
minimum payment of only 3% or 4% (depending on the credit card prod{lct) of their outstanding balance (i.e.,
exclusive of the requested over-limit, late and other fees). Because of thm practice, as of December 31, 2006,
approximately 3.8% of our accounts (representing approximately 5.9% of our receivables) were experiencing
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negative amortization; this compares with 4.0% of accounts and 6.1% of our receivables experiencing negative
amortization as of September 30, 2006 and 3.8% of accounts and 5.7% of our receivables experiencing negative
amortization as of June 30, 2006. In response o comments about minimum payments and negative amortization
received from the FDIC in the course of its routine examinations of the banks that issue credit cards on our
behalf, during the second quarter of this year we began a review of our practices in this area. As a result of this
review, commencing during the third and fourth quarters of 2006, we discontinued billing finance charges and
fees on credit card accounts once they become over 90 days delinquent. In addition, we are reviewing alternative
minimum payment, fee and other credit terms designed to prevent negative amortization. We have not, however,
made any assessment of the impact of any changes on our business, although changes could adversely impact our
delinquency and charge off statistics and the amounts ultimately collected from cardholders.

Adverse regulatory action with respect to issuing banks could adversely impact our business. It is possible
that a regulatory position or action taken with respect to any of the issuing banks through which we originate
credit preducts or for whom we service receivables, might result in the bank’s inability or unwillingness to
originate credit products on our behalf or in partnership with us. For instance, in February 2006 the FDIC
effectively asked insured financial institutions not to issue cash advance and installment micro-loans through
third-party servicers. As a result of this request, the issuing bank for which we provided services in four states
stopped making new loans, In the future, regulators may find other aspects of the products that we originate or
service objectionable, including, for instance, the terms of the credit offerings (particularly for our high fee
products), the manner in which we market them or our servicing and collection practices. We are entirely
dependent in our issuing relationships with these institutions, and their regulators could at any time limit their
ability.to issue some or all products on our behalf, or that we service on their behalf, or to modify those products
significamly. Any significant interruption of those relationships would result in our being unable to originate new
receivables and other credit products, which would have a materially adverse impact on our business.

Changes to consumer protection laws or changes in their interpretation may impede collection efforts or
otherwise adversely impact our business practices. Federal and state consumer protection laws regulate the
creation and enforcement of consumer credit card receivables and other loans. As an originator and servicer of
sub-prime receivables, we typically charge higher interest rates and fees than lenders serving consumers with
higher credit scores. Sub-prime lenders are commonly the target of legislation (and revised legislative
interpretations) intended to prohibit or curtail these and other industry-standard practices as well as non-standard
practices. For instance, Congress recently enacted legislation that regulates loans to military personnel through
imposing interest rate and other limitations and requiring new disclosures, all as regulated by the Department of
Defense. Among others, changes in the consumer protection laws could result in the following:

+ receivables not originated in compliance with law (or revised interpretations) could become
unenforceable and uncollectible under their terms against the obligors;

+ we may be required to refund previously collected amounts;

» certain of our collection methods could be prohibited, forcing us to revise our practices or adopt more
costly or less effective practices;

»  federal and state laws may limit our ability to recover on charged-off receivables regardless of any act or
omission on our part;

= reductions in statutory limits for fees and finance charges could cause us to reduce our fees and charges;

» some of our products and services could be banned in certain states or at the federal level; for example,
in 2004 the State of Georgia made certain micro-loan practices illegal and regulatory action and
litigation has been brought in North Carolina alleging that certain micro-loan practices are prohibited in
that state;

» federal or state bankruptcy or debtor relief laws could offer additional protections to customers seeking
bankruptcy protection, providing a court greater leeway to reduce or discharge amounts owed to us; and

+ areduction in our ability or willingness to lend to certain individuals, such as military personnel.
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Accordingly, our business is always subject to changes in the regulatory environment. Changeq or additions
to.the consumer protection laws and related regulations, or to the prevailing interpretations thereof, could
invalidate or call into question 2 number of our existing products, 9crv1ccs and business practices, including our
credit card origination, charged-off receivable collection, auto finance and micro-loan activities, Any material
regulatory developments could adversely impact our results from operat‘lons

Changes in bankruptcy laws may have an adverse impact on our ;Irerformance. Effective October 17,
2005. the federal bankruptcy code was amended in several respects. One of the changes made it substantially
more difficult for individuals to obtain a corrfplele release from their deb"ts through a bankrupicy filing. As a
result, immediately prior to the effective date of the amendments there v\;/us a substantial increase in bankruptcy
filings by individuals. While much of the impact of this particular law change appears 1o have been simply to
accelerate the bankruptcy filings by individuals who otherwise would-hafve filed in due course and while this
barticular law may have ongoing future benefits to us through potential r;eductions in future bankrupicy filings,
other future bankruptcy law changes could potentially have a materially adverse effect on our business.

) .t 1 N B

The Retail Micro-Loans segment of our business operates in an iricreasingly hostile regulatory
environment. Most states have 9pec1ﬁc laws regulating micro-loan actwatnes and practices. (One form of these
activities.is sometimes referred to as “payday”™ lending.) Moreover durmg the last few years, legislation has been
adopted in some states that prohibits or severely restricts micro-loan cash advance services. For example,
in 2004, a new law became effective in Georgia that effectively pl"Ohlb][S certain micro-loan practices in the state.
Several other state legislatures have introduced bills to restiict or prohlbn ‘cash advance” micro-loans by
limiting the amount of the advance and or reducing the allowable fees. Ir; addition, Mississippi and Arizona have
sunset provisions in their laws permitting micro-loans that require renewal of the laws by the state legislatures at
periodic intervals. Although states provide the primary regulatory frame\;uork under which we conduct our micro-
loan services. certain federal laws also impact our business. In March 2005 the EDIC issued guidance limiting
the frequency of borrower usage of cash advanceé micro-loans offered by FDIC- supervised institutions and the
‘period a customer may have cash advance micro-loans ocutstanding from Idny lender to three months during the
previous 12-month period. Subsequently, in February 2006, the FDIC cffecuvcly asked FDIC-insured financial -
institutions to cease cash advance and installment micro-loan activities conducted through a processing and
servicing agent such as us. Morcover, future laws or regulations (at the qtate federal or local level) prohibiting
micro-loan services or making them unprofitable could be passed at any umc Or existing micro- loan laws could
expire or be amended, any of Whlch could have a material adverse effect on our busmcss results of operduons
and financial condmon s ' ‘

Additionally, state attorneyq general, banking rcgu]alors and others conlmue to scrutinize the micro-loan
mduslry and may take actions that could require us to cease or suspend operauons in their respective states. For -
example, one of our subsidiaries agreed with the Attorney General of the State of North Carolina in March 2006
to stop servicing micro-loans for third-party banks, a practice that we a}so terminated in three other affected
states based on the February 2006 FDIC action cited above. Also, a group of plaintiffs brought a series of
putative class action lawsuits in North Carolina claiming, among other things, that the cash advance micro-loan
. activities of the defendants violate numerous North Carolina consumer protection laws. The lawsuits seek
various remedies including treble damages. One of these lawsuits is pend:lng against CompuCrcdlt and five of our
subsidiaries. If these cases are determined adversely to us, there could be significant consequences 1o us,

" including the payment of monetary damages. In the future, we also mightzvolumarily {or with the encouragement
of a regulator) withdraw particular products from particular states, which could have a similar effect. .
I

Negative publicity may impair acceptance of our products Crmcq of sub—pnme credit .md micro-loan -
providers have in the past focused on marketing practices that they claim encourage consumers to borrow more
money than they should. as well as on pricing pl'dCllCGS that they claim are either confusing or result in prices that
are 100 hlgh Consumer groups, Internet chat sites and media reports frcquenlly characterize sub -prime lenders as
prcdatory or abusive toward consumers and may misinform consumers regardmg their rights. if these negative
characterizations and misinformation become widely accepted by consumers, demand for our products and
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services could be adversely impacted. Increased criticism of the industry or criticism of us in the future could
hurt customer acceptance of our products or lead to changes in the law or regulatory environment, either of which
would significantly harm our business.

We Recently Entered Into and Have Subsequently Expanded Our Automobile Lending Activities, and
These Activities Involve Risks in Addition to Those We Historically Have Faced.

In 2005, we acquired Wells Fargo Financial’s CAR business unit. We are operating these assets in forty-five
states through twelve branches, three regional processing centers and one national collection center based in
Lake Mary, Florida under the name CAR Financial Services, Inc. On February 2, 2007, we acquired the business
of ACC, also an automobile lender. Automobile lending is a new business for us, and we expect to expand
further in this business over time. As a new business, we may not be able to integrate or manage the business
effectively. In addition. automobile tending exposes us to a range of risks to which we previously have not been
exposed, including the regulatory scheme that governs installment loans and those attendant to relying upon
automobiles and their liquidation value as collateral. In addition, the CAR Financial Services business acquires
loans on a wholesale basis from used car dealers, for which we will be relying upon the legal compliance and
credit determinations by those dealers.

Qur automobile lending business is dependent upon referrals from dealers. Currently we provide
automobile loans only to or through new and vsed car dealers. Providers of automobile financing have
traditionally competed based on the interest rate charged, the quality of credit accepted and the flexibility of loan
terms offered. In order to be successful, we not only will need to be competitive in these areas, but also wiil need
to establish and maintain good relations with dealers and provide them with a level of service greater than what
they can obtain from our competitors. This is particularly true with our newly acquired ACC business, which
stopped originating loans in November 2006 and is in the process of reestablishing its relationships with dealers.

The financial performance of our automobile loan portfolio is in part dependent upon the liquidation of
repossessed automobiles. Qur newly acquired ACC business regularly repossesses automobiles and sells
repossessed automobiles at wholesale auction markets located throughout the United States. Auction proceeds
from these sales and other recoveries rarely are sufficient to cover the outstanding balances of the contracts:
where we experience these shortfalls, we will experience credit losses. Decreased auction proceeds resulting
from depressed prices at which used automobiles may be sold in periods of economic slowdown or recession will
result in higher credit losses for us. Furthermore, depressed prices for automobiles also may result from
significant liquidations of rental fleet inventories and from increased volumes of trade-ins due to promotional
programs offered by new vehicle manufacturers. Additionally, higher gasoline prices may decrease the auction
value of certain types of vehicles, such as SUVs.

Repossession of Automobiles Entails the Risk of Litigation and Other Claims. Although we contract with
reputable repossession firms to repossess automobiles on defaulted loans, it is not uncommon for consumers to
assert that we were not entitled to repossess an automobile or that the repossession was not conducted in
accordance with applicable law. These claims increase the cost of our collection efforts and, if correct, can result
in awards against us.

We Routinely Explore Various Opportunities to Grow Our Business, to Make Investments and to
Purchase and Sell Assets.

We routinely consider acquisitions of, or investments in, portfolios and other businesses as well as the sale
of portfolios and portions of our business. There are a number of risks aitendant to any acquisition, including the
possibility that we will overvalue the assets to be purchased, that we will not be able to successfully integrate the
acquired business or assets and that we will not be able to produce the expected level of profitability from the
acquired business or assets. Similarly, there are a number of risks attendant to sales, including the possibility that
we will undervalue the assets (o be sold, As a result, the impact of any acquisition or sale on our future
performance may not be as favorable as expected and actually may be adverse.
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Portfolio purchases may cause fluctuations in reported credit card managed receivables data, which may
reduce the usefulness of historical credit card managed loan data in evaluating our business. Our reported
managed credit card receivables data may fluctuate substantially from quarter to quarter as a result of recent and
“future credit card portfolio acquisitions. As of Décember 31, 2006, credit card portfolio acquisitions account for
.21.1% of our total credit card-managed receivables portfolio based on oiur ownership percentages.

Receivables included in purchased portfolios are likely to have been originqted using credit criteria different
from our criteria. As a'result, some of these receivables have adifferent credit quality than receivables we
~originated. Receivables included in any particular purchased portfolio nfmy have significantly different

* delinquency rates and charge off rates than the receivables previousty originated and purchased by us. These
receivables also may earn different interest rates and fees as compared tio other similar receivables in our
. receivables portfolic. These variables could cause our repbned managed réceivables data to fluctuate
" substantially in future periods making the evatuation of our business more difficult.
: ‘ . ; .

Any acquisition or investment that we make, will involve risks different from and in addition to the risks to
which our business is currently exposed. These include the risks that we will not be able to successfully integrate
and operate new businesses, that we will have to incur substantial mdeb[edncqs and increase our leverage in order
1o pay for the acquisitions, that we will be exposed to, and have to comply with, different regulatory regimes and
that we will not be able to apply our traditional analytical framework (which i is what we expect to be able to do)

ina successful and value-enhancing manner. !

o |
Other Risks of Our Business

Unless we obtain a bank charter, we cannot issue credit cards alher than through agreements with banks.
Because we do not have a bank charter, we currently cannot issue credlt cards other than through agre¢ments
“with banks. Previously we applied for permission to acquire a bank and our appllcauon was denied. Unless we
obtain a bank or crédit card bank charter, we will continue to rely upon bankmg relauonshlps 1o prov1de for the
issuance of credit cards to our customers. Even if we obtain a bank chaner there may be restrictions on the types
of credit that it may extend. Our longest slandmg issuing agreement is wnth CB&T and is scheduléd to expire on
March 31, 2009. If we are unable to execute a new agreement with CB&T or our other issuing banks at the
expirations of our current agreements with them, or if our existing or néw agreements with our issuing banks
were terminated or otherwise distupted, there is a risk that we would nc{l be able 1o enter into agreements with an

. alternate provider on terms that we consider favorable or in a timely manner without disruption of our business.
' We may not be able to ;;uréh'ase charged-off receivables at sufﬂbiently favorable priées'or terms for our
- debt collection operations to be successful. The charged-off receivables that are acquired and serviced by
Jefferson Capital, our debt collection subsidiary,.or sold to third parties pursuant to forward flow contracts have
_been deemed uncollectible and written off by the originators. Jefferson Capital seeks to purchase charged -off
! receivables portfolios only if it expects projected collections or prices recewed for sales of such charged-off
receivables to exceed its acquisition and servicing costs. Accordingly, lfactors causing the acquisition price of
* targeted portfolios to increase could reduce the ratio of collections (or sales prices received) 10 acquisitions costs
* for a given portfolio, and thereby negatively affect Jefferson Capital’s firoﬁtability. The availability of
. charged-oft receivables portfolios at favorable prices and on favorable. termq depends on a number of factors,
" including the continuation of the current growth and charge off trends |‘n consumer recéivables, our ability 1o
develop and maintain long-term relationships with key charged-off rece:vable sellers, our ability to obtain
adequate data to appropriately evaluate the collectibility of porifolios and competitive factors affecting potential
" purchasers and sellers of charged-off receivables, including pricing pressures, which may increase the cost to us
~of acquiring portfolios of charged-off receivables and reduce our return on such portfolios. Lo

Additionally, sellers of charged-off receivables generally make nujmcrous attempts to recover on their
non-performing receivables, often using a combination of their in-house collection and legal departments as well
as third-party collection agencies. Charged-off receivables are difficultlto collect, and we may not be successful

v
)
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in collecting amounts sufficient to cover the costs associated with purchasing the receivables and funding our
Jefferson Capital operations.

The analytical model we use to project credit quality may prove to be inaccurate. We assess credit quality
using an analytical model that we believe predicts the likelihood of payment more accurately than traditional
credit scoring models. For instance, we have identified factors (such as delinquencies, defaults und bankruptcies)
that under some circumstances we weight differently than do other credit providers. We believe our analysis
enables us to better identify consumers within the underserved market who are likely to be better credit risks than
otherwise would be expected. Similarly, we apply our analytical model to entire portfolios in order to identify
those that may be more valuable than the seller or other potential purchasers might recognize. There can be no
assurance, however, that we will be able to achieve the collections forecasted by our analytical model. If any of
our assumptions underlying our model proves materially inaccurate or changes unexpectedly, we may not be able
to achieve our expected levels of collection, and our revenues will be reduced, which would result in a reduction
of our carnings. -

Because we outsource account-processing functions that are integral to our business, any disruption or
termination of that outsourcing relationship could harm our business. We outsource account and payment
processing pursuant to agreements with CB&T and its affiliates. In 2006, we paid CB&T and its affiliates
$36.5 million for these services. If these agreements were not renewed or were terminated or the services
provided to us otherwise disrupted, we would have to obtain these services from an alternative provider, such as
First Data Resources, Inc., which currently provides only limited account and payment processing for us. There
is a risk that we would not be able to enter into a similar agreement with an alternate provider on terms that we
consider favorable or in a timely manner without disruption of our business.

If we obtain a bank charter, any changes in applicable state or federal laws could adversely affect our
business. From time-to-time we have explored the possibility of acquiring a bank or credit card bank. If we
obtain a bank or credit card bank charter, we will be subject to the various state and federal regulations generally
applicable to similar institutions, including restrictions on the ability of the banking subsidiary to pay dividends
to us. We are unable o predict the effect of any future changes of applicable state and federal laws or regulations,
but such changes could adversely affect the bank’s business and operations.

If we ever consolidate the entities that hold our receivables, the changes to our financial statements are
likely to be significant. When we securitize receivables, they are owned by special purpose entities that are not
consolidated with us for financial reporting purposes. The rules governing whether these entities are consolidated
are complex and evolving. These rules at some point could be changed or interpreted in a manner that requires us
to consolidate these entities. In addition, we might at some point modify how we securitize receivables, or
propose modifications 1o existing securitization facilities, such that the consolidation of these entities could be
required. If this occurred, we would include the receivables as assets on our balance sheet and also would include
a loan loss reserve. Similarly, we no longer would include the corresponding retained interests as assets. There
atso would be significant changes to our statements of operations and cash flows. The net effect of consolidation
would be dependent upon the amount and nature of the receivables at the time they were consolidated, and
although it is difficult to predict the net effect of consolidation, it is likely to be material.

Internet security breaches could damage our reputation and business. Internet security breaches could
damage our reputation and business. As part of our growth strategy, we may expand our origination of credit card
accounts over the Internet. The secure transmission of confidential information over the Internet is essential to
maintaining consumer confidence in our products and services offered online. Advances in computer capabilities,
new discoveries or other developments could result in a compromise or breach of the technology used by us to
protect customer application and transaction data transmitted over the Internet. Security breaches could damage
our reputation and expose us to a risk of loss or litigation. Moreover, consumers generally are concerned with
security and privacy on the Internet, and any publicized security problems could inhibit the growth of the Internet
as a means of conducting commercial transactions. Our ability to solicit new account holders over the Internet
would be severely impeded if consumers become unwilling to transmit confidential information online.
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Investments that we make in the securities of others may be more‘risky and volatile than similar assets
owned by us. From time-to-time we purchase debt and securities of others, principally those issued by. asset-
backed securitization trusts (e.g., notes secured or “backed’™ by pools of assets) that represent sub-prime credit
risks .of 1nd1vrduals These securities in many cases are Jumor including below investment grade “traunches of
securmes 1ssued by the trustc. The assets underlymg these securities are. ot originated by us and, accordingly,
may hiot meet the underwrrtmg standards that we foliow in originating receivables. Further, we do not have direct
control over the management of the underlymg assets and, similarly, the'y may not be managed as effectively as
we would manage similar assets. As a result, the Securities in which we mvest may carry htgher risks, including "
risks of higher delinquencies and charge offs, risks of covenant v1o]at10ns and Tisks of value impairment due to
the claims of more senior securities issued by the trusts, than similar assets originated and owned by us, These
higher risks can cause much greater valation volatility for these securmes than we typically have experienced
and would expect to experience on our holdrngs of securities under]ymg the trusts that we service. And although-
these securities generally are traded in an actrve secondary market, valuation volatility also can be expécted to
result from liquidity needs that we might have in the future, including ady need that we may have for quick

* Jiquidity or to meet margin requtrements related to our investments in these securities should their prices decline.
In turn, this ¢ould result in steep and immediate impairments in the values of the securities as presented within
our financial statements and could cause our financial position and results of operauons 1o deterigrate, possibly
materially. At December 31, 2006, we had investments in the debt and srmﬂar securttles of others of $141.7
mllllon ‘ . !
| |
Risks Relating to an Investment in Our Common Stock X

The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly, and this may make it difficult Jor you to resell
your shares of our common stock when you want or at prices you find attractwe The price of our common

. stock on the NASDAQ Global Market constantly changes We expect that the market price of our common stock

will continue to ﬂuctuate The market price of our common stock ‘may ﬂ‘uctuate in response to numerous factors
many of which are beyond our control These factors 1nc]ude the followmg

» - actual or anticipated fluctuations.in our operatmg results; .i

+ changes in expectations as to our future ﬁnanc1al performance 1nc1udrng financial estimates by
. securities analysts and investors; Co o
+ the operatmg and stock performance of our competitorS' :
) L.
- announcements by us or our competrtors of new products or services or significant contracts,
acquisitions, strategic.partnerships, joint-ventures or capital commllmems R

. changes in rnterest rates; .
t ’ PEPEE S
. 'the announcement of enforcement actions or 1nvestrgauons agamst us or our competltors or other
negative publicity relating to-us cr our industry; S ;

1

-+ “changes in accountmg prmcrp]es generally accepted in the Untted States of America (“GAAP") laws,
regulations or the interprefations thereof that affect our various. business activities and segments;

. general domestic or'intemational economic market.and political conditions;
. addltton‘; or departures of key personnel and ) ]

o« future sales of bur common stock and the share lending agreement
. In addition, the stock markets from time.to time, experlence extreme price and volume ﬂuctuattons that may

-be unrelated or disproportionate to the operanng performance of companlles These broad fluctuations may
adversely affect the trading price of our common stock, regardless of our] actual operating performance.
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Fiiture sales.of our common stock or equity-related securities in the public market, including sales of our
common stock pursuant to share lending agreements or in short sales transactions by purchasers of
convertible notes securities, could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock and our ability to
raise funds in new stock offerings. Sales of significant amounts of our common stock or equity-related securities
in the public market, including sales pursuant to share lending agreements, or the perception that such sales will
occur, could adversely affect prevailing trading prices of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise
capital through future offerings of equity or equity-related securities. No prediction can be made as to the effect,
if any, that future sales of shares of common stock or the availability of shares of common stock for future sale,
including sales of our common stock in short sales transactions by purchasers of the notes, will have on the
trading price of our common stock. :

We have the ability to issue preferred shares without shareholder approval. Our common shares may be
subordinate to-classes of preferred shares issued in the future in the payment of dividends and other distributions
made with respect to common shares, including distributions upon liquidation or dissolution. Our articles of
incorporation permit our board of directors to issue preferred shares without first obtaining shareholder approval.
If we issued preferred shares, these additional securities may have dividend or liquidation preferences senior to
the common shares. If we issue convertible preferred shares, a subsequent conversion may dilute the current
common shareholders’ interest.

Our executive officers, directors and parties related to them, in the aggregate, control a majority of our
voting stock and may have the ability to control matters requiring shareholder approval. Our executive
officers, directors and parties related to them own a large enough stake in us to have an’influence on, if not
control of, the matters presented to shareholders. As a result, these shareholders may have the ability to control
matter$ requiring shareholder approval, including the election and removal of directors, the approval of
significant corporate transactions, such as any reclassification, reorganization, merger, consolidation or sale of all
or substantially all of our assets and the control of our management and affairs. Accordingly, this concentration
of ownership may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of us, impede a
merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination invelving us or discourage a potential acquirer
from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us, which in turn could have an adverse
effect on the market price of our common stock.

Note Regarding Risk Factors

The risk factors presented above are atl of the ones that we currently consider material. However, they are
not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks not presently known to us, or which we currently
consider immaterial, may also adversely affect us. There may be risks that a particular investor views differently
from us, and our analysis might be wrong. If any of the risks that we face actually occur, our business, financial
condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected and could differ materially from any
possible results suggested by any forward-looking statements that we have made or might make. In such case, the
trading price of our common stock could decling, and you could tose part or all of your investment. We
expressly disclaim any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result
of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices, comprising approximately 194,000 square feet, and our operations centers
and collection facilities for our Credit Cards segment, comprising approximately 284,000 square feet, are located
in leased premises in: Aulanta, Georgia; St. Cloud, Minnesota; North Wilkesboro, North Carolina; and Salt Lake
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'City, Utah. Our Investments.in Previously Charged-Off Receivables segment principally operates out of the

St. Cloud, Minnesota facility Our Retail Micro-Loans segment is headquartered in Peachtree City, Georgia with
.approximately 19,000 square feel of leased space; its storefront locauons in the various states in which they

. Operate average approximately 1, 550 square:feet per store of-leased space Our Auto Finance segment principally
.operates out of Lake Mary, Florida in apprommately 16,000 square feet of leased space, with additional operation
‘centers in North Carolina, Nevada and Texas-and branch locations in vafrloue states. We believe-that our facilities
zare suitable to our business and that we will be able to lease or purchase such additional facilitiés as our needs
require. During 2006, we signed an additional lease for approximately 400,000 square feet in Atlanta, Georgia,
which in mid-2007 will serve as our principal executive offices and will replace most of our Atlanta-based
operations centers and collection facilities. We currently are exploring sublease options related to our
pre-existing Atlanta office leases. '

|
TTEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various legal proceedings that are incidental to lhe conduct of our business. In one of
these legal proceedings, CompuCredit Corporation and five of our sub51dmne‘; are defendants in a purported
class action lawsuit entitled Knox, et al. vs. First Southern Cash Advance, et al, No 5 CV 0445, filed in the
Superior Court of New Hanover County, North Carolina, on February 8, 12005, The plaintiffs allege that in
conducting a so-called * payday lending” business, certain of our Retail Mlcro Loans segment subsidiaries
violated various laws governing consumer finance, lending, check cashing, trade practices and loan brokering.
The plaintiffs further allege that CompuCredit is the alter ego of our Qub'sidiaries and is liable for.their actions.
The plaintiffs are seeking damages of up to $75,000 per class member. We are vigorously defending this lawsuit.
These claims are similar to those that have béen asserted against several olher market participants:in transactions
involving small balance, short-term loans made to consumers in North Carolina. As of December 31, 2006 we
have not recorded any accruals related to this lawsuit.

S , 1 '
ITEM4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

‘No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended December 31, 2006.

i

!
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “CCRT.” The
following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock
as reported on the NASDAQ Global Select Market: As of February 22, 2007, there were approximately 74
holders of our common stock, not including persons whose stock is held in nominee or “street name” accounts
throghbrokers, banks and intermediaries. '

2005 | | High = _Low
IstQuarter 2005 ... L $33.18  §25.01
20d QUATEEr 2005 - .-+t $34.96  $25.63
3rd Quarter 2005 . .. ..o $44.95 $33.66
4th Quarter 2005 . ...t .. %4685 $30.86
2006 * , | High Low

Ist Quarter 2006 .. ........ i $42.21  $35.02
2ndQuarter2006..................................I ......... $4275 $35.70
3rd Quarter 2006 .. ... PRI U ...t $38.84  $26.02
Ah QuUarter 2006 . ...\t $41.05 $29.76

The closing pI‘lCC of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on February 22, 2006 was
$34.93.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying a cash
dividend on our common stock in the foreseeable future. See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analy51s of
Flnan(:1a1 Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity, Funding and Capital Resources.”

We have E_;letermined that we are a well-known seasoned issuer—a determination that we made based on our
closing stock price on February 6, 2007 and our having 19,313,616 non-affiliate shares outstanding on that date,
excluding 5,677,950 of loaned shares.

In:May 2006, our Board of Directors authorized a new program to repurchase up to an additional 10 million
shares of our outstanding common stock. Under the plan, we can repurchase shares of our common stock from
time to-time, through June 30, 2008, either on the open market or through privately negotiated transactions in
compliance with SEC guidelines. In August 2006 our pre-existing plan expired and as of December 31, 2006, we
were authorized to purchase 10 million shares under the new plan. During 2006, we did not purchase any shares
under either the pre-existing or our new plan. At our discretion, we may use acquired shares in treasury to satisfy
option exercnses and restricted stock grants. We will continue to evaluate our stock price relative to other
investment opportumues and, to the extent we believe that the repurchase of our stock represents an appropriate
return of capital, we will repurchase additional shares of our stock.

H
'
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Equity Compensatlon Plan Information

I

We maintain the 1998 Stock Opuon Plan, the 2000 Stock Opnon Plan the 2003 Stock O]JIIOI‘I Plan ... .
(collecuvely, Lhe Opuon P]ans BX pursuam to which we may grant opuom to purchase shares,of common stock Ty
'lo eligible persons. We' also mdmlam the 2004 Restricted Stock Plan (lhe “Restncted Stock Plan,” together with s
ithe Option Plans; the “P]am”) pursuant to- Wthh we may grant shares olf restncted stock 1o éligible persons. The .
1followmg tdble provrdes information about- optlon awards under the Plans as-of the end of - 2006. . T

) - - - - 34

. i, . Number of .
' ’ o ' securities to be’ Number of securities
’ tssued under - Weighted- . remaininig available for AR
Option Plans average exercise  future issuance under
upon exercise of price of the Plans (exciudmg
s ' : outstanding outstanding securities reflected in . o
Plan Category ) : options (1) : options . first column}) (2) '
- Equity compensation plans previously approved by . e
security holders . ... ... Lol 1,079,889 $23.96 1,547,921
‘Equity compensanon plans not .Jpproved by security '
cholders oL - — =
Total ......... e N 1,079,889 $23.96 1,547,921

(1) Does not include outstanding shares of restricted stock previously awarded under the Restricted Stock Plan.
(2) Includes 530,814 shares of restricted stock, ‘which were available as of December 31 2006 for future .
' issuance under the Restricted Stock Plan ) . H




Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock from
December 31, 2001 through December 31, 2006, with the cumulative return for the Russell 2000 Index and the
NASDAQ Other Finance Index over the same period, assuming the investment of $100 on December 31, 2001,
and reinvestment of all dividends. We have not paid dividends since our initial public offering.

Performance Graph
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

'

The following tables set forth, for the periods indicated, selected comolldated financial and other data. You
should read the selected consolidated financial and other data below in conjuncnon with our consolidated
financial staterients and the related notes and with Item 7, “Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Cendition and Results of Operations,” included within this Form 10-K. th the exception of the selected credit
‘card data, we have derived the following selected financial data from our audited consolidated financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004, 2003 and 2002.

We securitize a subslanlml majority of our credll card recelvables ln lransactions that are treated as sales
under GAAP. In these securitizations, we receive cash, retain an 1nterest in the receivables that are securitized,
retain the rights to receive cash in the future and retain the rights and obl'lganons to service the accounts. As such,
we remove the securitized receivables from our consolidated balance sheet. The performance of the underlying
credit card receivables, however, will affect the future cash flows we actua]ly receive. Various financial,
operating and statistical data for the credit card recewables underlying lhe securitization structures for which we
act as servicer are presented in the “Credit Cards Segment” discussion wuhm Item 7, “Management s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condmon and Results of Operauons !

|
For the year ended December 31,
2006 { 2005 2004 2003 2002

{(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Opei'ati_ons Data: -

INtErest iNCOME . .. .o oot e e e $ 298.136 St 125615 % 40683 § ll‘.193 3 2494
[NIETEST EXPETISE - - .. eteet ettt et e e e e (52,472) (33971 4.729) (6,534) (7.579)
Net interest income (expense) before fees and related income ! '
on nen- securitized earning assets and provision for loan :
108865 . L e e 245.664 i 91.644 35.954 4,659 (5,085)
Fees and related income on non-securitized earning assets . ... ... 596,411 1477.482 241.984 50,584 —
Provision fortoanlosses .................. ... ... ... (512,579  (140.660) (61.944) (7,059) —
Net interest income (expense) fees and related i income ‘on i ) ’ _
non-securitized earming assels ... ... ... oLl : 329.4?6 1428.466 215,994 48,184 (5.085)
Other operating income: - o
Fees and related income on securitized earning assets ... ... 200.232 ‘127 779 158,192 270.239 97411
Servicing inCOMEe ... .. . . ... .. i 90,855 |]43 128 92,297 97,473 66,665
Ancillary and mlerchdnge FEVEMUES . .o voeeee i, 43318 28,954 24.271 19,613 30,713
Equity in income of equity-method investees ............. 106,883 l 45,627 1,987 27,676 45,717
‘Total other operating income .................... e 441,288 345 488 276,747 415,001 240,506
Other operating eXpense . ............c.ooveieinia i, 589,956 490,762 313327 237,242 226,389
Income before minority interests and income taxes ............ 180.828 283,192 179,414 225,943 9,032
Minority interests . ... ... ... i (12.898) 3(13.349) (22,345)  (37.233) _
Income before INCOME tAXES . ... it it 167,930 ?69.843 157,069 188,710 9,032
ln_come {1 € O (60,455) 98.493) (56,350} (66,992) (3.161)
NELINCOME . ... e i $ 107475 % 171350 $ 100719 SI121,718 § 5871
Net income attributable to common shareholders .. ............ $ 107475 $ 171,350 $§ 96315 $117434 § 1,703
Net income per common share—diluted ..................... ¥ 214 $ 7 334§ 193 § 234 § 004
‘ ' At December 31,
. 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

| ‘ | {(In thousands)
Balance Sheet Data: !

| .

Securitized earning assets ... ... ... i $ 801715 § 786983 § 536,718 $543.160 3298674
Non-securitized earning assets.net ......................... 858,821 . 468311 158,430 45,238 —
Total 88518 . . . .ot 2,113,897 182,190 1,003,526 761,355 518915
Notes payable and other borrowings .. .. ... ............... 358,694 165,186 83,624 1,945 —
Convertible senior NOtES ... ..ot 550.000 550,000

- Shareholders™ equity ... .. .. ... i i $ 883940 § T67.211 $ 683800 §574,013 $447.868

;
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The following tables contain unaudited quarterly results for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Selected Quarterty Financial Data

At or for the Three Months Ended
2006 2005
Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31 Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31
(Unaudited, in thousands)

Summary of operations:
Net interest income, fees and related
income on non-securitized eaming

ASSEIS ..ottt $ B1634 § 86,102 § 73693 § 83041 § 83441 5 97937 $ 151019 § 96,069
Fees and related income on

securitized earning assets ....... 53,786 50.837 45,140 50.469 11,295 56,503 22,489 37.492
Other operating income . .......... 46,961 71,929 60,497 61,669 54.674 50.700 51,524 60811
Other operating expense .. ........ 166,168 141,865 133,051 148.872 146,084 119,500 117.415 107,763
Income before minority interests and

income taxes ................. 16,233 67.003 46,285 51,307 3326 85.640 107,617 86.609
Minority interests ............... (1,069) 6,363) (2,061) (3,405) 1,360 (2,706) (2.842) (9,161}
Income before income taxes ....... 15,164 60,640 44,224 47,902 4,086 82,934 104,775 77.448
Income taxes .............00nnn (5.459)  (21.830) (15922) (17.244) (L711)  (30.271) (38,243)  (28,268)
Netincome ...........conenn $ 9,705 § 38810 § 28302 § 30658 § 2975 § 52663 § 66532 § 49,180

At or for the Three Months Ended

2006 2005
Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31 Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31
{Unaudited)
Per common share:
Basic ... $ 020 § 0.80 % 058 § 063 § 006 3 1.09 3 133 § 0.96
Dilwted ... 3 019 $ 078 % 0356 $ 061 $ 0,06 3% 1.05 $ 1.29 % 0.94

Ator for the Three Months Ended
2006 2005
Dec, 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31 Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun, 30 Mar. 31
(Unaudited, in thousands)

Balance sheet data:

Securitized earning assets .. ....... $ 801,715 $ 862,785 $ 870817 $ B0L216 $ 786983 § 714369 $ 586,766 $§ 473,367
Non-securitized eamning assets,

T 858,821 778,534 566,651 501,785 468,311 388,756 306,373 176,730
Totalassets . .............c.v0ns 2.113,897 2103724 1914218 1,789,807 1.821.190 1.507,688 1425177 1,008,573
Notes payable and other

borrowings .................. " 358,694 373,630 240,146 175,542 165.186 161.079 145,609 79,547
Convertible seniornotes .. ........ 550,000 550,000 550,000 550,000 550,000 250,000 250,000 —_
Sharcholders” equity ............. $ 883940 $ 871,217 $ 820881 $ 799387 § 767211 § 761,398 § 703,685 3 734.20%
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 1

N
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with Item 6, “Selected Financial Data,” and our
consofidared financial statements and the re!a!ed notes included rhereir% where certain terms have been defined.

This Management’s Discussion-and Analysis of Financial Condluon and Results of Operations includes
forward-looking statements. Weé have based these forward-looking stalemems on our current plans, expectations
and beliefs about future events. There are risks that our actual expenence will differ materially from the
expectations and beliefs reflected in the forward-looking statements in this section. See ‘Cautionary Notice
Regarding Forward -Looking Statements.” i

OVERVIEW ’

We are a provider of various credit and related financial services alid products to or associated with the
underserved, or sub-prime, consumer credit market, and to “un- banked”rconsumerq We serve these markets -
principally through our marketing and solicitation of credit card dccounts and our servicing of various credit card
receivables underlying both originated and acqunred accounts. Because only financial institutions can issue
general-purpose credit cards, we contract with third-party financial mstltuuon% pursuant to which the financial
institutions issue general purpose Visa and MasterCard credit cards and we purchase the receivables relating to
such accounts on a daily basis. We market to cardholders other fee-based products, including credit monitoring/
identity theft, health discount programs, shopping discount programs, debl waiver and life insurance. Our largely
fee-based credit card offermgs to consumers at the lower end of the FIC® scoring range are now a significant
source of growth and profitability for us. At December 31, 2006, the gross face amount of credit card receivables
underlymg these product offerings was $732.0 million.

b

Our product and service offerings also include small-balance, short-‘_term cash advance loans (generally less
than $500 for less than 30 days and to which we refer as “micro-loans”™), installment loans and stored-value cards
marketed through various channels, including retail branch locations, direct marketing, telemarketing and the
Internet. We also originate auto loans lhrough franchised auto dealers, purchase and/or service auto loans from or
for a pre-qualified network of dealers in the “Buy Here/Pay Here” used car business, and originate, purchase and/
or service motorcycle, all-terrain vehicle, personal watercraft and slmllarlloans through, from or for pre-qualified
networks of dealers in these products. Lastly, our licensed debt collections subsidiary purchases and collects
previously charged-off receivables from us, the trusts that we service dnd{lhlrd partles

Our business experienced several significant changes in 2006: i.

* Interest income grew $172.5 million to $298.1 million, primarily as a result of substantial growth in our
largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lowerlend of the FICQ scoring range and the *
April 2005 addition of our Auto Finance segment.

+ Fees and related income on non-securitized assets grew $118.9 miltion to $596.4 million; this increase
reflects an increase of $259.2 million in fees on our credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end
of the FICQO scoring range offset by the absence of the $69.6 miIlTion gain from our 2005 sale of
charged-off receivables to Encore and $84.4 million in income from the Fingerhut receivables.

«  Provision for loan losses grew by $371.9 million to $512.6 millioin; because we do not securitize in
off-balance-sheet transactions the receivables generated by our largely fee-based credit card offerings to
consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, as these recelvableq have grown, we have had
corresponding growth in our provision for loan losses. !

* Servicing income decreased by $52.3 million to $90.9 million reflecting fewer portfolio purchaseq by us
and the termination of the servicing arrangements between our Retml Micro-Loans segment in four
: states where we previously serviced loans for a FDIC-insured Fnan01al institution and stopped as a

result of revised guidance from the FDIC regarding micro-loan aqnwnes.
t
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Throughout 2007 and beyond, our shareholders should expect us to continue to evaluate and pursue
additional credit card receivables portfolios and other business activities and asset classes that are complementary
to our historic sub-prime credit card business. For instance, in February 2007, we acquired the business of ACC,
an originator and servicer of auto loans generated by franchised auto dealers, and a related portfolio of auto
loans.

We also expect to continue growing our traditional originated portfolio and our largely fee-based credit card
offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range. However, these operations are heavily
regulated and over time there will be changes to how we conduct our operations. For example, in response to
comments about minimum payments and negative amortization received from the FDIC in the course of its
examinations (?f the banks that issue credit cards on our behalf, during the third and fourth quarters of 2006 we
discontinued billing finance charges and fees on credit card accounts that become over 30 days delinquent. This
change had adverse effects on our third and fourth quarter net interest margins and other income ratios associated
with our securitized managed receivables, and we expect it 1o have an adverse net effect on our net interest
margin and other income ratios associated with our securitized managed receivables during the first quarter of
2007. Thereafter, however, we expect this change to positively impact our net interest margin and other income
ratios associated with our securitized managed receivables because we no longer will experience any charge offs
of finance charges and fees no longer billed on these delinquent accounts.

Also, in June 2006, we entered into an assurance agreement with the New York Attorney General in order to
resolve his investigation into our marketing and other materials and our servicing and collection practices.
Pursuant to this agreement, we agreed to pay a $0.5 million civil penalty to the State of New York and to refund
certain fees to New York cardholders primarily in recognition that New York has a unique statute (New York
Personal Property Law Section 413} relating to, among other things, the opening of credit card accounts.

Moreover, in June 2006, the FDIC commenced an investigation of the policies, practices and procedures
used in connection with our longest standing third-party credit card originating financial institution relationship.
In December :2006. the FTC commenced a related investigation. In general, the investigations focus upon
whether marketing and other materials contained misrepresentations regarding, among other things, fees and
credit limits and whether servicing and collection practices were conducted in accordance with applicable law.
We have provided substantial information to both the FDIC and FTC, and we continue to respond to their
requests. The FDIC and FTC have proposed limitations on certain marketing, servicing and collection practices,
reimbursement of various types of fees to affected customers and the payment of fines, The matters under
investigation'involve a significant amount of fees and a substantial number of accounts, and it is premature to
determine the outcomes of these investigations or their effects on our financial condition, results of operations or
business position and consolidated financial statements. However, we believe that our marketing and other
materials and servicing and collection practices comply with applicable law, and we intend to vigerously contest
the limitations and other proposals of the FDIC and FTC.

We remain focused on making good economic decisions that will result in high returns on equity to our
shareholders over a long-term horizon. While our decisions may make economic sense, they may also result in
volatile earnings under GAAP as a result of the accounting requirements for securitizations under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities,” (“Statement Nao. 1407). To the extent that we grow our overall portfolio of credit
card receivables (through origination, acquisition or other new channels) and then securitize these assets, we will
have securitization gains or losses, which may be material. {This occurred, for example, in the third quarter of
2004 and in the first and third quarters of 2003.) For further discussion of our historic results and the impact of
securitization accounting on our results, see the “Results of Operations” and “Liquidity, Funding and Capital
Resources” sections below, as well as our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included herein.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS .
Year Ended December 3] 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2005

. Total interest income. Total interest income consists pnmanly of ﬁnance charges and Ia[e fees:earnedon -
loans and fees receivable that we have not securitized in off-balance- sheet securitization transactions—
principally receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card:offerings to consumers at the lower end
of the FICO scoring range and our Auto Finance segment, The $172.5 million increase when comparing 2006 to
2005 is primarily due to growth in credit card receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card
offerings 1o consumers at the lower end of-the FICO scoring range, as well as the fact that we did not complete
our CAR acquisition within the Auto Finance segment until after the close of the first quarter of 2005. This new
business line contributed $49.7 million to total interest income in 2006 qompdred to $36.7 million-in 2005. Also
included within total interest income (under the other category) is the intleresl income that we earned on our -
various investments in debt securities, including interest ¢arned on bonds distributed to us from our equity-
method investees, and on our subordinated, certificated interest in the Embarcadero Trust. Principal amortization
has caused reductions in interest income levels associated with some of our bonds and the Embarcadero Trust
interest. Nevertheless, our other interest income levels have increased year over year as interest paid on our
investments in debt securities (typically in bonds issued by other third party asset-backed securitizations) has:
increased with our additional investments in these securities. :

We expect continued growth in receivables associated with our Iargely fee-based credit card offerings to
consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range and within our Auto Finance segment. Unless we
securitize these receivables in off-balance-sheet arrangements, this expecjted growth should translate into
continued growth in our total interest income. :

. I

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased $18.5 million when compared to the prior year, principally due
-to interest expense associated with our issuance of an aggregate $550.0 n"lillion in Convertible Senior Notes in
May and November of 2003, interest expense related to our March 2006 $lmctured financing associated with our
largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range and a {ull year of
interest costs during 2006 associated with our April 2005 CAR acqutsmo'n and its working capital-related debt.
This increase would have been greater had we not incurred $1 1.0 miltion of interest expense in the second
quarter of 2005 associated with a final settlement of an obligation to a lencler that financed our original equity
investment in CS8G, an equity-method investee. !

|
Fees and related income on non-securitized earning assets. The following table details (in thousands) the
components of fees and related income on non-securitized earning assets for 2006, 2005 and 2004:

., Forthe year ended December 31,

. 2006 ’ 2005 2004

Retail micro-loan fees . ... ... o, % 97872 § 81,488. $ 37.485
Fees on non-securitized credit card receivables . ............. |436,697" 177,521 81,505
Fingerhut receivables while on balance sheet ............... 339 84,745 64,322
Investments in previously charged-off recelvableq ........... . 46,719 48,912 36,723
Gain'on bulk ‘sale of previously charged-off receivables . ... ... — 69355 0 —
OLer .« ... ''14.784 15.257 1,949
Total fees and related income on non-securitized earning '

SSELS « o e e e e $596.411 $477.482  $241.984

The $118.9 million increase in fees and related income on non- securitized earning assets during 2006 was

largely attributable 10: :

*  growth in fees on our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO
scoring range, which increased $259.2 million principally due to increased originations;
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+ growth in our Retail Micro-Loans segment, in which fees increased $16.4 million primarily due to our
expansion into Michigan, Texas.and Nevada and our conversion of operations in Arkansas and Florida
from bank-model servicing operations (for which revenues were reflected as servicing income in 2005
and up until the time of conversion early in 2006} to direct lending operations in 2006;

*  accretion in 2006 of $12.5 million in deferred revenue associated with our forward flow contract with
Encore (see Note 5, “Sale of Previously Charged-Off Receivables and Forward Flow Contract,” to our

consolidated financial statements included herein); and
1

= anincrease in gains on our investments in debt and equity securities of $2.1 million .

4

These increases were partially offset by:

= the second guarter 2005 gain of $ 69.6 million from the bulk sale of previously charged-off receivables
to Encore; :

» an $84.4 million reduction in income between 20035 and 2006 associated with our Fingerhut receivables
while they were held on-balance-sheet given the securitization of these receivables from the third
quarter of 2005 through the date of their de-securitization late in the fourth quarter of 2006; and

» adecline in income within our Investments In Previously Charged-off Receivables segment of $2.2
million, due to the bulk sale of its receivables to Encore which occurred during the second quarter of
2005.

f

Because of the September 2005 securitization of the Fingerhut receivables, income associated with the
Fingerhut receivables through the date of their de-securitization late in the fourth quarter of 2006 is primarily
represented within fees and related income on securitized earning assets (as income from retained interests in
credit card receivables) and as part of servicing income on our consolidated statements of operations. Because
the portfoliofof Fingerhut receivables is liquidating at a rapid rate, the income generated from this portfolio is
much lower in 2006 than it has been in prior years. Because the debt facilities underlying the Fingerhut
securitization had been amortizing at a more rapid rate than the rate of liquidation of the Fingerhut receivables,
we de-securitized the Fingerhut receivables late in the fourth quarter of 2006. The income subsequent to this
de-securitization is reflected above but was not meaningful when compared to the income earned in the prior
year. As the portfolio now consists of under $20.0 million in receivables, we do not expect significant income (o
result from this pertfolio in future periods.

The other category above includes unrealized gains and losses in both 2006 and 2005 associated with our
investments in debt and equity securities that we classify as trading securities. It also includes 2005 gains on put
options that we wrote on our stock and fees associated with our stored-value card, merchant credit, on-line
micro-loan and third-party consumer finance receivable operations, none of which currently represents a
mgmﬁcam activity for us. We expect to see continued income growth within the other category, as well as within
our retail micro-loans fees and fees on non-securitized credit card receivables categories, throughout 2007 and
beyond. We have these expectations in part because we significantly increased our purchases of debt and equity
securities classified as trading securities during the third quarter of 2006. We expect future activity levels with
respect to these securities commensurate with or even greater than 2006 levels, and we expect greater future
volatility i |n realized and unrealized gains and losses taken into account with respect to these securities based on
evolving future market conditions.

Provision for loan losses. Our proviston for loan losses increased $371.9 million during 2006. This increase
corresponds with our significant year-over-year growth in on-balance- sheet loans and fees receivable principally
related to our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range and
our second quarter 2005 CAR acquisition.

Our provision for loan losses covers aggregate loss exposures on (1) principal receivable balances,
(2) finance charges and late fees receivable underlying income amounts included within our total interest income
category, and (3) other fees receivable. Although we do not expect to see any significant near-term degradation in
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the credit quality of our on-balance-sheet loans and fees receivable, and while current delinguency and credit loss
_trends for these receivables generally look neutral to favorable on a vm[age basis and with reference to our
expectations, we do expect our provision for loan losses (o increase in fulure quarters based on expected loans
and fees receivable growth. |

The percentage of our allowance for uncollectible loans and fees receivable to gross period-end loans and
fees receivable at December 31, 2006 (22.6%) is higl{er than it was at Se'ptember 30, 2006 (19.7%) and at
December 31, 2005 (18.9%). Additionally, our provision for toan losses as a percentage of average gross loans
and fees receivable in the fourth quarter of 2006 (18.8%) is higher than it was in the third quarter of 2006
(17.0%) and in the fourth quarter of 2005 (11.2%). The generally increasing trends between the third and fourth
quarters as well as between 2005 and 2006 are explained principally by the following:

»  With the significant growth that we have experienced for receivables associated with our largely
fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of “the FICO scoring range, we continue (o
experience a mix change in the receivables comprising our gross loans and fees receivable, such that an
increasing percentage of the overall balance is comprised of these receivables. The loss rates for these
receivables are higher than for the remaining receivables within our gross loans and fees receivable
balance, which consist primarily of receivables within our Auto F1mmce scgmem and our Retail Micro-
Loans segment. Based on our expectations for continued higher growth rates for these receivables, we
expect some general continued trending growth in these percentqgcs in future quarters; and

* - Through our Other segment, we recently have begun to invest in;loans and fees receivable that are
secured by sports vehicles, including motorcycles, all-terrain vehicles, personal watercrafts and the like.
Because this is a new asset class for us for which we do not have' any direct historical loan loss
experiences. and because the risk-profile of this particular asset class is different from those of our other
previous underwriting endeavors, we have provided loan loss allowances associated with this new asset
class that are more significant on a relative basis than the allowances that we historically have prowded
on some of our other receivables, '

The foliowing factors offset the trends noted within the above percentages:

+  Through our CAR operations purchased in April 2005, we acquiré loans and fees receivable from auto
dealers with recourse back to the dealers to the extent of negotiated reserves that we carry as a liability
($24.3 million at December 31, 2006} within accounts payable and accrued expenses on our
consolidated balance sheets, Because of the level of recourse that we have back to the dealers, our credit
loss rates for CAR are (and are expected in the future to be) lowef than average loss rates experienced
{and expected to be experienced) for our credit card and micro-loan activities; and

*  We added a new category of receivables during the third quarter o:f 2005 within our retail micro-loan
operations for which we have low loss expectations given underlying credit enhancements in the form of
corporate guarantees and bink-issued standby letters of credit; wethave not provided an allowance for
these loans receivable ($39.0 million at December 31, 2006) because we do not expect to incur charge
offs of these receivables in excess of the underlying credit enhancements.

. Fees and related income on securitized earning assets. Fees and reidt‘ed income on securitized earning
assets include (1) securitization gains and (2) income from retained mleresls in credit card receivables securitized
and (3) returned-check, cash advance and other fees associated with our securmzed credit card receivables, each
of which is detailed (in thousands) in the following table for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

For the year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Securitization ains .. ... ... i i .. % 6,193 §$ 40,142 § 1,651
Income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized ... ... .. 173,670 73,143 138,213
Fees on securitized recewables ............... e e . 20,369 14,494 18,328
Total fees and related incomé on securitized earning assets .. ........... . $200232 $127,779 $158,192
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The $72.5 million increase in total fees and related income on securitized earning assets during 2006 reflects
the following positive trends:

« increased income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized of $100.5 million,
principally due to (a) receivables growth within our originated portfolio master trust offset by some
declines in the acquired credit card portfolios, (b) the benefits of reduced charge offs associated with
personal bankrupicies that were accelerated into the fourth quarter of 2005 prior to the effective date of
newly enacted bankruptcy Jegislation and have continued throughout 2006 to be somewhat below the
levels experienced prior to this legislation, (c) the favorable effects on our 2006 excess spreads within
our ongmaled portfolio master trust of new account originations for which the underlying receivables
are in less mature vintages that have not yet aged through peak charge-off months, and (d) increases in
late fee billings within our originated portfolio master trust during the latter half of 2006 associated with
somewhat higher delmquency levels than we experienced in 2005, and

« increases in fees on securitized receivables, including returned check and cash advance fees, in 2006
relative 1o 2005 levels due to growth within our originated portfolio master trust offset by declines in the
acquired credit card portfolios;

partially offset, however, by:

+ lower securitization gains principally due 1o the securitization of the Fingerhut receivables in the third
quarter of 2005 which resulted in a securitization gain of $31.6 million during 2005 with no
corresponding Fingerhut securitization gain during 2006: and

«  contraction in income from retained interests in our Fingerhut Trust securitized credit card receivables
(prior to their de-securitization late in the fourth quarter of 2006) due to continued reductions in
managed receivables levels within the Fingerhut Trust throughout 2005 and 2006.

In our Credit Cards segment discussion below, we provide further details concerning delinquency and credit
quality trends, which affect the level of our income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized
and fees on securitized receivables.

Servicing income. Servicing income decreased $52.3 million during 2006 due to receivables liquidations
within our securitized purchased portfolios. Absent one or more significant credit card portfolio acquisitions, it is
likely that servncmg income will be lower than in the recent past as growth in servicing revenues associated with
our serviced receivables within our originated portfolio master trust is unlikely to outpace decreases in servicing
revenues associated with net liquidations of the securitized acquired portfolios.

Moreover, in February 2006, the FDIC effectively asked FDIC-insured financial institutions to cease cash
advance and installment micro-loan activities conducted through processing and servicing agents such as our
Retail Micro-Loans segment subsidiaries. We were conducting these retail micro-loan activities in four states and
earned $5.9 million in servicing income from them during 2006, compared to $23.2 million in 2005. Because we
have ceased these servicing operations, we expect no further servicing income associated with our Retail Micro-
Loans segment. We converted the Retail Micro-Loans segment’s operations in two of the four affected states to a
direct lending model, and we expect some of this lost servicing income—albeit at substantially diminished
amounts—to be replaced by lending fees, which are reported within fees and related income on non-securitized
earning assets, '

Ancillary and interchange revenues. Ancillary and interchange revenues increased $14.4 million during
2006 primarily due to growth in both categories as a result of our origination of new credit card accounts,
including those receivables that have been sold to our originated portfolio master trust and those associated with
our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range. We typically
experiénce higher ancillary revenues and higher purchasing volumes and associated interchange fees for newer
cardholders than for more mature cardholders. As a result, we expect further growth in our ancillary and
interchange revenues principally from our current emphasis on new account originations.
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Equity in income of equity-method investees. Equity in income of 'equity method investees increased $61.3
million during 2006 due to (1) improvements in the performance of recewables associated with our investment in
our Transistor (33.3%) equity-method investee and our 47.5%-owned equ:ty method investee, (2) refinements in
the assumptions used by our 47.5% owned equity-method invesiee within its Statement No. 140 model (as
mentioned in Note 12, “Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements,” to our consohdated financial statements included
herein), (3) the late 2005 resumption of income within our then 50%- owned equity-method investee, CSG, which
resulted from resumed cash flows from its underlying securitization trust after an extended several month
blackout period, (4) our July 2006 purchase of an additional 11.25% 1nteresl in CSG, which increased our
ownership interest to 61.25% and increased our income allocation (net of premium amortization) from this
equity-method investee, and (5) a $36.2 million gain (of which our ; d"OCldlCd share was $12.1 million) recognized
by Transistor upon its September 2006 sale of its receivables pursuant to a Statément No. 140 transfer in
exchange for a subordinated interest in a trust. We expect our equity- method investees to continue to contribute
significantly to our equity in income of equity-method investees in successwe quarters, albeit at levels that will
diminish over ume as we liquidate lhe receivables balances associated wnh these equity-method investees.

Total other operating expense. Total other operating expense increased by $99.2 million between 2005 and
2006 due principally to: '

(1) $16.4 million increase in salaries and benefits primarily due to {a) g’rowth in receivables within our
originated portfolio master trust and receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings
to consuimets at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, (b) personnel additions in connection with the
acquisition of CAR in April 2005, (c) additional information techno]ogy and other management personnel
that we have hired associated with several new-product and systems launches within our Credit Cards, Retail
Micro-Loans, Auto Finance and Other segments, and (d) $0.6 nulhon increased charges to salaries and
benefits expense in 2006 associated with stock-option expensing in: connectlon with our adoption of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share- Based Payment, at the beginning of the
fiscal year, amplified by another $2.5 million of charges to salaries related to both our granting of a
significant number of shares of restricted stock and stock options to our President in May 2006 and higher
2006 cash payment bonus accruals (relative to 2005 accruals) based on management’s attainment of 2006
performance goals. I

2) $20.9 million i increase in card and loan servicing expense due to (.1) servicing costs related to growth in

’ receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerm'gs to consumers at the lower end of the

FICO scoring range and net growth in our originated portfolio master trust receivables, (b) $1.8 million of

costs associated with our séttlement with the New York Attorney General recorded in card and servicing

expense during 2006, (c) higher servicing costs associated with our expandmg number of issuing bank
relationships and new product lines, and (d) $6.9 million of additional servicing costs during 2006 related to

CAR, which we acquired in April 2005, all such increases being offset partially by (a) a $8.7 million

decrease in servicing costs associated with our Investments in Previously Charged-Off Receivables segment

as it now sells previously charged-off receivables under a 5-year forward flow contract covering up to $3.25
billion of its acquisitions of previously charged-off receivables, thereby defraying the servicing costs
normally associated with collection efforts on those receivables and (b) diminished servicing costs

associated with our acquired credit card portfolios given their conti:?uing liquidations during 2006;

“(3) a$10.8 million increase in marketing and solicitation costs during 2:006 principally associated with

increased marketing efforts aimed at growing account originations (a) within our originated portfolio master
trust, (b) with respect to our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the
FICO scoring range, and (c) within our Retail Micro-Loans segment;

(4) $17.1 million of impairment charges during 2006 (including $10.5 million for goodwill impairment

" recorded during the first quarter 2006) within our Retail Micro-Loans segment associated primarily with the
February 2006 FDIC decision effectively asking FDIC-insured financial institutions to cease cash advance
and installment micro-loan activities conducted through processing and servicing agents such as our Retail
Micro-Loans segment subsidiaries; and :
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(5) an increase of $34.0 million in other expenses, including depreciation and occupancy and related expenses,
due primarily to increased costs associated with infrastructure build-out to handle (a) growth within our
ongmaled portfolio and our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the
FICO scoring range (along with associated customer service enhancements), (b) the April 2005 addition of
CAR, (c) our implementation of an advanced data analytics platform that allows us 10 access, query and
analyze our large data sets with increased efficiency, speed and power, thereby decreasing our unit costs for
data management while contributing to our competitive advantage in data analysis, (d) heightened legal,
regulatory and compliance efforts and costs associated with the New York Attorney General, FDIC and FTC
investigations and our establishment of an expanded number of issuing bank relationships and new product
offerings, () several new product and systems launches within our Credit Cards, Retail Micro-Loans, Auto
Finance and Other segments, and (f) our fourth quarter charitable contribution of $15.0 million compared to
the $12.0 kmillion contribution during 2005's fourth quarter,

While we incur certain base levels of fixed costs associated with the infrastructure that we have built to
support our growth and diversification into new products and services, the majority of our operating costs are .
highly variable based on the levels of receivables that we service (both for our own account and for others) and
the pace and breadth of our search for, acquisition of and introduction of new business lines, products and
services. We expect to continue growing and diversifying our business in 2007, and while certain unique
expenses undertaken in 2006 may not be repeated and while we continue to derive cost reductions through our
outsourcing arid other cost-control efforts, we do expect to see continued growth in our total other operating
expense levels (on a year-over-year and quarter-over-quarter comparative basis) based on growth that we plan to
undertake. For example, we anticipate spending an average of just under $10.0 million more per quarter on
marketing in 2007 than we spent in the fourth quarter of 2006.

We expect to incur higher operating costs in 2007 associated with the move of our corporate headquarters
and other Atlanta, Georgia facilities to new buildings in mid-2007; among these higher costs are the physical
costs of moving, the costs associated with a net increase in our total square footage being leased, heightened
levels of techriology.spending associated with the move, the duplication of some facilities rental costs while we
seek to sublease our existing facilities, potential loss recognition if we determine that we are unable to sublease
our existing facilities at lease rates in excess of the costs of our existing leases, additional depreciation for
leasehold improvements and additional furniture & fixtures related to the new lease and accelerated depreciation
associated with shortened useful lives of our leasehold improvements within our existing facilities.

Minority interests. We reflect the ownership interests of minority holders of equity in our majority-owned
subsidiaries (including management team holders of restricted shares in our subsidiary entities as referenced in
Note 20, “Stock-Based Compensation,” to our consolidated financial statements included herein) as minority
interests in our consolidated statements of operations. The minority interests expense associated with these
subsidiaries totaled $12.9 million and $13.3 million for 2006 and 2005, respectively. Generally, this expense is
declining, Wh]Ch is consistent with liquidations of acquired credit card portfolios within securitization trusts, the
retained interests of which are owned by our majority-owned subsidiaries, and the resulting relative contributions
of our majority-owned subsidiaries (as discussed in “*Fees and related income on securitized earning assets,”
above) to income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized as noted above.

Income #axes. Our effective tax rate was 36.0% for 2006, compared to 36.5% for 2005. The decrease of
0.5% in our effective tax rate between 2006 and 2005 is principally due to the favorable state income tax effects
of several of our recent expansion and diversification initiatives.

+
'

Year Ended December 31, 2005, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004

Total inierest income. Total interesi income consists primarily of finance charges and late fees earned on
our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range and interest
and fee income associated-with our CAR operations within our Auto Finance segment, which we acquired in
April of 2005. The approximate $84.9 million increase when comparing 2005 to 2004 was primarily due to
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growth in our credit card receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to customers at
the lower end of the FICO scoring range, as well the addition of our Auto Finance segment and its related toans
receivable, none of which we have securitized. Also included within lotal interest income (under the other
category) is the interest income that we have earned-on our interest- bearmg cash accounts and various
investments in debt securities, including interest earned on CSG Trust b’{onds and on our subordinated,
certificated interest in the Embarcadero Trust. Principal amortization caused reductions in interest income levels
associated with our CSG Trust bonds and the Embarcadero Trust intere%t. Nevertheless, our other interest income
levels increased between 2004 and 2005 due to other bond investments that we made (typically in bonds issued
by other third-party asset backed-securitizations) throughout 2004 and 2005 and given the cash deposits that we
-accumulated in interest-bearing accounts during 2005 associated with oilr '$250.0 million and $300.0 million
Convertible Senior Notes offerings and our receipt of $143.0 million in cash from the sale of assets within our
Investments in Previously Charged-Off Receivables segment. ‘

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased $29.2 million in 2005 when compared to 2004, principally due
to an $11.0 million final settlement of our obligations to a lender that financed our original equity investment in
CSG, an equity-method investee. Under the terms of the original loan agreement, in addition to principal
payments to be made, which were repaid during the fourth quarter of 2002, the lender was entitied to receive
15% of all future excess cash flows we receive from our investment in CSG. Because of our $11.0 million
settlement payment to the lender, we became entitled to receive 100% of all future excess cash flows atiributable *
to our investment in CSG; we started receiving these excess cash flows (and hence began realization of the
benefits of our settlement payment to the lender) during the fourth quarter of 2005, Additional 2005 interest costs
were associated with: !

3
(1) our Retail Micro-Loans segment acquisition and working capital-related debt, which increased interest costs
' $3.8 million; i

1

|
(2) debt funding the April 2005 acquisition and operations of our CAR ‘operations within our Auto Fmance
segment, which added $7.6 million in interest costs; :

{3) our May 2005 $250.0 million Convertible Senior Notes issuance, which added $5.4 million in interest costs;
and

(4) our November 2005 $300.0 million Convertible Senior Notes issvance, which added $1.8 million in interest
costs. b
|
Fees and related income on non-securitized earning assets. The inlcrease during 2005 of $235.5 million in
fees and related income on nen-securitized earning assets was largely attributable to: -

(1) growth in fees on our largely fee-based credit card offerings 1o consumers at the lower end of the FICO
scoring range, which incredsed $96.0 million;

i

(2) the addition and growth of our Retail Micro-Loans segment (estabhshed during the second quarter of 2004),
in which fees increased $44.0 miilion in 2005; !

(3) increased income of $20.4 million associated with the Fingerhut receivables {including amortization of
deferred gain and recognition of the remaining deferred gain upon secuntlzauon of these receivables in
September 2003) during the period when they were reflected on ouriba]ance sheet following their
de-securitization in the third quarter of 2004 and prior to their securitization in September 2005, as
referenced in Note 7, “Fingerhut Receivables,” (o our consolidated financial statements included herein; and

(4) growth in income within our Investments In Previously Charged-Off Receivables segment of $61.7 million
when including our bulk sale of previously charged-off receivables durmg the second quarter of 2005,
which generated $69.6 million in fees and related income with no correspondmg amount recognized in the
prior year, I

The bulk sale of previously charged-off receivables transaction is dlscussed further in the specific segment
dlscussmn for our Investments in Previously Charged-Off Receivables segmem Because of the September 2005
i
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securitization of the Fingerhut receivables, income from then through late in the fourth quarter of 2006 associated
with the Fingerhut receivables is represented exclusively within fees and related income on securitized assets (as
income from retained interests in credit card receivables) and as part of servicing income on our consolidated
statements of operations. Upon securitization of these receivables in September 2003, we recorded a
securitization gain {as part of fees and related income on securitized earning assets on our consolidated statement
of operations) of $31.6 million.

The other category above includes gains on put options that we wrote on our stock, gains associated with
our investments in securities and fees associated with our stored-value card. merchant credit, on-line micro-loan
and third-party consumer finance receivable servicing operations, none of which represented significant activities
for us in either 2005 or 2004.

Provision for loan losses. Qur provision for loan losses increased ta $140.7 million in 2005, from $61.9
million in 2004. The $78.8 million increase was principally due to significant year-over-year growth in
on-balance-sheet loans and fees receivable related to: {1} our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers
at the lower end of the FICO scoring range: (2) our Retail Micro-Loans segment acquisitions, two of which
occurred in the second and third quarters of 2004; and (3) our second quarter 2005 Auto Finance segment
acquisition,

The provision for loan losses is provided to cover aggregate loss exposures on (1) principal receivable
balances, (2} finance charges and late fees receivable underlying income amounts included within our total
interest income category, and (3) other fees receivable. Qur provision for loan losses as a percentage of average
loans and fees receivable in 2005 was significantly lower than 2004, principally due to our acquisition of CAR
during the second quarter of 2005 and the attendant lower loan losses for this business as described above. The
effects of our CAR acquisition also account for the reduction in the ratio of our allowance for uncollectible loans
and fees receivable as a percentage of period-end loans and fees receivable at December 31, 2005, versus recent
prior quarters, Another factor favorable 1o the above ratios is $20.9 million of a new 2005 category of receivables
within our retail micro-loan operations for which we have low loss expectations given underlying credit
enhancements in the form of corporate guarantees and bank-issued standby letters of credit; we did not provide
an allowance for these loans receivable because we did not expect to sce any charge offs of these receivables.
Lastly, the aforementioned ratios were also favorably influenced in 2005 by the improved overall credit
environment that we experienced within our portfolio of credit card and auto finance loans and fees receivable.

Feées and related income on securitized earning assets. Fees and related income on securitized earning
assets decreased $30.4 million as a result of the following trends:

(1) The $40. 1t million of securitization gains in 2005 primarily related to securitization of the Fingerhut
receivablés, which resulted in a securitization gain of $31.6 million, as well as a $1.6 million securitization
gain associated with our first quarter 2003 acquisition of $72.1 million (face amount) in credit card
receivables through one of cur majority-owned subsidiaries. Additionally, securitization gains of $6.9
million in 2005 resulted from a net increase in the managed receivables underlying securitizations through
our originated portfolio master trust during 2005.

(2) Income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized was down $65.0 million in 2005 versus
2004, dué in part to: (a) significant reductions in managed receivables levels within the Embarcadero Trust
between 2004 and 2005; (b) increased charge offs during the fourth quarter of 2005 across each of our
securitized portfolios as cardholders accelerated personal bankruptey filings prior to the effective date of
then-recently enacted bankruptcy legislation; and (c) the effects of purchase discounts underlying our
retained interests in the Embarcadero Trust. The benefits of purchase discounts associated with the managed
receivables underlying our retained interests in the Embarcadero Trust abated significantly between 2004
and 2005; this was expected as the mix of managed receivables within the Embarcadero Trust continued to
shift (i.e., from receivables to which purchase discounts applied at the date of acquisition to new receivables
generated from post-acquisition cardholder purchases for which there are no purchase discounts). Related to
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these mix changes are higher finance charge, late fee charge offs arlld principal charge offs being netted
against our income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized, as well as lower inclusions
of accretable yield as a component of our income from retained imf:rests in credit card receivables
securitized. Another factor underlying the decrease in income from retained interests.in credit card ;- - - -
receivables securitized was the increase in our servicing rates to 4% on the two term securitization facilities
issued out of the originated portfolio master trust in October 2004, TThlS accounted for $18.8 million of this
decrease. Offsetting this amount dollar-for-dollar was $18.8 million increase in servicing income in 2005.

¥
(3) The various decreases in income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized described
above were offset somewhat by: (a) income associated with the September 2005 securitization of the
Fingerhut receivables; and (b) modest amounts of income associated with the securitization trust underlying
our third quarter 2004 acquisition of $92.0 million in face amount él>f receivables and our first quarter 2005
acquisition of $72.1 million in face amount of receivables. o

{4y Fees on securitized receivables, including returned check and cash :advance fees, declined in 2005, when
compared to 2004, primarily due to an overall decrease in-the managed receivables underlying our
purchased portfolios. Our originated portfolio master trust saw modest decreases in overall receivables
levels which also contribuied (o the decline. '

Servicing.income, Servicing income increased $50.8 million due in part to the growth in receivables in our
originated portfolio master trust throughout 2005 as wetl as $18.8 mllhc!n higher servicing fees realized during
2005 for the two term securitization facilities issued out of the Onglnatefl:l portfolio master trust in October 2004.
These two term securitization facilities permitted an increase in our ~:erwcmg rates to 4.0% (i.e., from the 0.1%
level that we have historically experienced for facilities issued out of our originated portfolio master trust). Also
contributing to the servicing income increases were (1) $6.4 million of hlgher retail micro-loan processing and
servicing fees during 2005 when compared to the prior year and (2) the addition of servicing income related to -
the $92.0 million (face amount) in receivables that we acquired and SeCl.lll'iIiZGd during the third quarter of-2004,
the $996.5 million (face amounl) in receivables that our equity-method mvestee Transistor, acquired during the
fourth quarter of 2004, the $376.3 million (face amount) in receivables that our newest equity-method investee
acquired during the first quarter of 2005 and the $72.1 million (face amount) in receivables that we acquired
during the first quarter of 2005. . ! '
The above-noted servicing income increasés were offset partially by declines in the Embarcadero Trust and
CSG Trust managed receivables and the third quarter 2004 de- securmzanon of the Fingerhut receivables (which
were subsequently re-securitized in September 2005). The de- securitization of the Fingerhut receivables in the
third quarter of 2004 resulted in a year-over-year reduction of $16.1 mll'llon in servicing revenues; relative to
2004.

Ancillary and interchange revenues. Ancillary and interchange revenues increased $4.7 million primarily
due to growth in both categories as a result of thé addition of new accounts in our originated portfolio master
trust. growth in our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers'at the lower end of the FICO scoring
range, as well as the addition of new purchased portfolios. We typically;experience higher purchasing volumes
and higher associated interchange fees for newer cardholders than for more mature cardholders. As a result, our
2005 emphasis on new account additions produced higher interchange revenues.

Equity in income of equity-method investees. Equitly in income of equity-method investees increased
$43.6 million principally due to income associated with our investments' in our Transistor and Capaciter (33.3%
each) equity-method investees made during the fourth quarter of 2004 ancl our first quarter 2005 investment in a
47.5%-owned equity-method investee that acquired a credit card recewables portfolio in that same quarter.
Additionally, our then 50%-owned equity-method investee, CS(G, began‘ to receive cash flows again from its
undertying securitization trust after an extended blackout period, thereby resulting in the resumption of its
recognition of income from retained interests in credit card receivables s:ecuritized (and hence our income in this
equity-method investee). g ] :

i
46




Total other operating expense. Total other operating expense increased by $177.4 million between 2004
and 2005 principally due to:

(1) an §11.5 million increase in salaries and benefits primarily due to growth in receivables within our
originated portfolio master trust, increases in our receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit
card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, the addition of several new
managed receivables portfolios noted in the servicing income discussion above and our acquisition of the
CAR within the Auto Finance segment in April of 2005;

(2) a$75.5 million increase related to card and loan servicing primarily due to (a) the addition of our retail
micro-loan activities (an increase of $23.5 million), (b) servicing costs related to growth in receivables
associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO
scoring range, (¢) the addition of several new managed receivables portfolios noted in the servicing income
discussion above (with some partial offsets for liquidations of receivables within earlier-acquired
portfolios), (d) net growth in our originated portfolio master trust receivables, and (e) the April 1, 2005
addition of CAR ($15.8 millicn)—all such increases being offset partially by an $8.9 million decrease in
servicing costs associated with our Investments.in Previously Charged-Off Receivables segment as it now
sells previously charged-off receivables under its forward flow contract (See Note 3, “Sale of Previously
Charged-Off Receivables and Forward Flow Contract,” to our consolidated financial statements included
herein), thereby defraying the servicing costs normally associated with the collection efforts on those
receivables;

(3) a$53.2 million increase in marketing and solicitation costs principally associated with our efforts to grow
account originations within our originated portfolio master trust and with respect to our largely fee-based
credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range; and

(4) an overall increase of $34.6 million in other expenses, including occupancy, consulting and related
expenses, due primarily to the addition of our Retail Micro-Loans segment and CAR.

Relative to average managed receivables levels, our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at
the lower end of the FICO scoring range are more costly products than the credit card products underlying our
originated portfolio master trust and acquired portfolios. There are a far greater number of accounts and hence
touches of the consumer for each $1 million of managed receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit
card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range than for the receivables underlying our
other credit card products.

Minority Interests. The ownership interests of minority holders of equity in our majority-owned subsidiaries
are reflected as minority interests in our consolidated statements of operations. The minority interests expense
associated with these subsidiaries totaled $13.3 million in 2005 versus $22.3 million in 2004. These trends are
consistent with the relative contributions of two of our majority-owned subsidiaries to income from retained
interests in credit card receivables securitized as discussed above, offset by the adverse effects of increased
bankruptcy charge offs experienced in the fourth quarter, One of our majority-owned subsidiaries owns the
retained interests in the Embarcadero Trust, and another owns the retained interests in the trust that we formed in
2004 to facilitate the securitization of $92.0 million (face amount) of credit card receivables acquired in the third
quarter of 2004 and $72.1 million (face amount) of credit card receivables acquired in the first quarter of 2003.
For more details, see the above discussion of purchase discount effects and receivables mix changes in the
analysis of income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized trends.

1 .

Additionally, certain of our subsidiaries (comprising our Investments in Previously Charged-Off
Receivables segment, our Retail Micro-Loans segment and our Other segment) have management team members
who are minority owners for which we record minority interests. The minority interests associated with these
minority holders are not material 1o our financial statements.
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Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate-was 36.5% for 2005 compar‘!ed to 35.9% for 2004. The 0.6% increase
in our effective lax rate between 2004 and 2005 is principally due to our expansion into additional state tax
" jurisdictions through acquisitions which have caused us to incur tax liability in those jurisdictions. See Note 18,
“Income Taxes,” to our consolidated financial statements included herein for further explanation of income tax
expense and a reconciliation of reported income taxes to the amount that would be computed using the federal
statutory rate.

Credit Cards Segment

Included at the end of this “Credit Cards Segment” section underfthe heading “Definitions of Financial,
Operating and Statistical Measures" are definitions for various terms that we use throughout our discussion of
the Credit Cards segment. i

Our Credit Cards segment consists of our credit card investment and servicing activities, as conducted with
respect 1o receivables underlying accounts originated and portfolios purchased by us. This segment represents
‘aggregate activities associated with substantially all of our credit card products, including our largely fee-based
credit card offerings 1o consumers at the lower end of the FICO sconng range. Because we have not securitized
the receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offermgs to consumers at the lower end of the -
FICO scoring range through an off-balance-sheet securitization, revenues associated with these offerings include
interest income (along with late fees), fees and related income. With respect to our securitized credit card
receivables (which represent a substannal majority of our credit card receivables), our fees and related income on
securitized earning assets within the Credit Cards segment include (1) securitization gains, (2) income from
retained interests in credit card receivables securitized and (3) returned-check, cash advance and other fees
associated with our securitized credit card receivables. Also within our Credit Cards segment are equity in the
income of equity-method investees and servicing income revenue sourc:es. We earn servicing income from the
trusts underlying our securitizations and the securitizations of our equity -method investees. Our revenue
categories most affected by delmquency and credit loss trends are the net interest income, the fees and related
"income on non-securitized earnings assets (which are net of a provmonlfor loan losses) and the income from
retained interests in credit card receivables securitized categories.

Background

For our credit card securitizations that qualify for sale treatment under GAAP, we remove the securitized
receivables from our consolidated balance sheet. The performance of the underlying credit card receivables will
nevertheless affect the future cash flows we actually receive. Various 're;ferences within this section are to our
managed receivables, which include our non-securitized credit card receivables and the credit card receivables
underlying our off-balance-sheet securitization facilities. Managed recellvables data also include our equity
interest in the receivables that we manage for our equity-method mve%tees but exclude minority interest holders’
shares of the receivables we manage for our majority-owned subsidiaries.

Financial, operating and statistical data based on these aggregate managed receivables are key to any
evaluation of our performance in managing (including underwriting, valiuing purchased receivables, servicing
and collecting) the aggregate of the portfolios of credit card receivables reflected on our balance sheet and
underlying our securitization facilities. In allocating our resources and rrlmnaging our business, management
relies heavily upon financial daita and results.prepared on a so-called “managed-basis.” It is also important to
analysts. investors and others that we provide selected financial, operatmg and statistical data on a managed basis
because this allows a comparison of us to others within the specialty ﬁnz]mce industry. Moreover, our
management, analysts, investors and others believe it is critical that they, understand the credit performance of the
entire portfolio of our managed receivables because it reveals informatidn concerning the quality of loan.
originations and the related credit risks inherent within the securitized portfolios and our retained interests in our
securitization facilities. !
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Managed receivables data assume that none of the credit card receivables underlying our off-balance-sheet
securitization facilities was ever transferred to securitization facilities and present the net credit losses and
delinquent balances for the receivables as if we still owned the receivables. Reconciliation of the managed
receivables data 10 our GAAP financial statements requires: (1) recognition that a significant majority of our
credit card loans and fees receivable (i.e., all but $760.8 million of GAAP credit card loans and fees receivable at
gross face valué) had been sold in securitization transactions as of December 31, 2006; (2) an understanding that
our managed receivables data are based on billings and actual charge offs as reported to us through underlying
systems of record (i.e., without regard to an allowance for uncollectible loans and fees receivable); (3) a look-
through to our economic share of (or equity interest in} the receivables that we manage for our equity-method
investees; (4) removal of our minority interest holders’ interests in the managed receivables underlying our
GAAP consolidated results; and (5) recognition that our Fingerhut managed receivables were recorded at a $0.0
basis in our GAAP financial statements prior to our re-securitization of these receivables in September 2005.

The period-end and average managed receivables data (as well as delinquency and charge off statistics) that
follow within this section exclude receivables associated with accounts in late delinquency status in sellers’
hands as of the'dates of our acquisitions of the receivables or interests therein. Pursvant to this treatment, the only
activity within the following statistical data associated with these excluded accounts are recoveries, which we
include within the numerator of the other income ratio computation, as well as the costs of pursuing these
recoveries, which we include within the numerator of the operating ratio computation. Summarized (in
thousands) in the table below are the numbers of managed accounts underlying our acquisitions, as well as the
numbers of lholse accounts that have been excluded from our credit card data because they were in a late stage
delinquency status at the time of our purchases.

Purchases occurring in

: 2006 2005 2004
Acquired aCCOUNES .. ... .. e e — 243 190

Excluded accounts ........... . ...t — 9 12

We typically have purchased credit card receivables portfolios at.substantial discounts. A portion of each
acquisition discount is related to the excluded receivables and accounts described above. Another portion of each
discount relates to the credit quality of the remaining acquired recejvables, which we calculate as the difference
between the face amounts of the receivables purchased (less the excluded receivables described above) and the
future cash flows we expect to collect from the receivables. We refer 1o the balance of the discount for each
purchase not needed for credit quality as accretable yield, which we accrete into net interest margin using the
interest method over the estimated life of each acquired portfolio. As of the close of each financial reporting
period, we evaluate the appropriateness of the credit quality discount component of our acquisition discount and
the accretable yield component of our acquisition discount based on actual and projected future results. Prior to
the third quarter of 2003, we never had determined that thé amount allocated to credit quality discount exceeded
the needed amount. Accordingly, no adjustments to accretable yield had occurred. In the third quarter of 2003,
however, we determined that the amount allocated to credit quality discount exceeded the needed amount for one
of the portfolios acquired in 2002. Accordingly, in our third quarter of 2003 we reallocated $98.4 million of
unused credit quality discount to our accretable yield for amortization into our net interest margin using the
effective yteld method over the remaining estimated life of the receivables underlying the acquired portfolio. For
similar reasons, and for the same portfolio for which the reallocation was performed in the third quarter of 2003,
we reallocated $28.0 million of additional unused credit quality discount to accretable yield in the second quarter
of 2005. Lastly, for this same portfolio, we determined in the fourth quarter of 2006 that the acquired receivables
had completely turned over, yet there was a remaining balance of $3.7 million in unused credit quality discount
on the date the acquired receivables had turned over; accordingly, this $3.7 million in unused credit quality
discount was fully absorbed against fourth quarter 2006 net charge offs. These particular adjustments do not
affect our reported GAAP income, but do affect the amounts included within this discussion of our Credit Cards
segment data, in particular net interest margin and adjusted net charge offs.

49




The following table summarizes (in millions), for acquisitions ocqumng in 2004 through 2006, lhe discount
components associated with our economic interests in the acquired ponfolloq

. | " Purchases occurring in

., . T . 2006 2005 2004
Total face value acquired . . ..... ...t t ..... §— $2281  $401.6
Total discount . ....... .. oo i e — 46.7 77.2
Portion used for excluded receivables ... ......................... — 13.1 269
Portion needed for credit quality ........ ... ... ... ... L, — 21.5 35.1
Portion reflecting accretable yield . ... ... e e — 12.1 15.2

Zero balances in the two above tables for 2006 reflect the fact that we did not acquire any credit card
receivables portfolios during 2006. »

{

Asset Quality

Our delinquency and charge off data at any point in time reflect tht:B credit performance of our managed
receivables. The average age of our credit card accounts, the timing of portfolio purchases, the success of our
collection and recovery efforts and general economic conditions all affect our delinquency and charge off rates.
The average age of our credit card receivables portfolio also affects the qtablhty of our delinquency and loss

‘rates. We consider the delinquency and charge off data reflecied herein in determining our allowance for

uncollectible loans and fees receivable with respect to our non- securmzed earning assets, net on our consolidated

‘balance sheets, as well as the valuauon of our retained interests in credn card receivables securitized which is a

component of securitized earning assets on our consolidated balance sheets. As we charge off receivables, we
reflect the charge offs of non-securitized receivables within our provnsu)n for loan losses, and we reflect the
charge offs of securitized receivables as an offset in determmmg mcome from retained interests in credit card
receivables securitized (within fees and related income on securitized eammg assets) on our consolidated
statements of operations.

Late in the third quarter and continuing into the fourth quarter of 2(})()6 we discontinued our practice of
billing finance charges and fees on credit card accounts that become over 90 days delinquent. Prior to this change
our policy was to bill finance charges and fees on all credit'card accoum's except in limited circumstances, until
we charged off the account and all related recewables finance charges and other fees. In such prior periods,
however, we excluded from our GAAP i income and gross yield, net mtcrest margin and other income ratio
managed receivables data the fipance charge and fee income on all slgmﬁcantly delinquent on-balance-sheet
credit card receivables for which we believed that collectibility was slgmﬁcantly in doubt on the date of billing.
As such, we do not expect that our change in practice will affect managed receivables charge off data associated
with our on-balance-sheet credit card receivables. We do expect such data to be affec(ed however, wuh respect
to our securitized off-balance-sheet managed receivables. !

I

Our strategy for managing delinquency and receivables losses consists of account management throughout
the customer relationship. This strategy includes credit line management and pricing based on the risks of the
credit card accounts. See also our discussion of collection strategies under the heading “How Do We Collect
from Qur Customers?” in Item 1, “Business,” above. - |

Delinguencies. Delinguencies have the potential to impact net incorhe in the form of net credit losses.
Delinquencies are also costly in terms of the personnel and resources ded1caled to resolving them. We intend for
the account management sirategies that we use on our portfolio to manage and, to the extent possible, reduce the
higher delinquency rates that can be expected-in a more mature managediportfoho such as ours. These account

management straiegies include conservative credit line management, purging of inactive accounts and coltection
strategies (as described under.the heading “How Do We Collect from Our Customers?” in Item 1, “Business,”
above) intended to optimize the effective account-to-collector ratio across delinquency buckets. We measure the
success of these efforts by measuring delinquency rates. These rates exclude accounts that have been charged off.
!
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The following table presents the delinquency trends of the credit card receivables that we manage (in
|
thousands; percentages of total):

:

! At or for the Three Months Ended
; 2006 2005
Dec. 31 Sep, 30 Jun. 30 Mar, 31 Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31

Period-end managed

receivables .. ............. §2,599.477 §$2,544.797 §$2.472122 $2.351.667 $2.317,751 §2230,108 $2.198,703 $2.246,256
Period-end managed accounts .. - 3,700 3.611 3.502 3414 3428 3.039 2,868 2.885
Receivables delinquent
3010 59 days pastdue ........ $ 121,149 § 119,432 § (15441 § 8408t § 93583 § ®2,070 § 83175 § 70,558
6010 89 days pastdue ........ 101.615 102,920 89,164 71.213 68,531 66,287 61,882 54,503
90 or more days pastdue ... .. 277.896 269,752 206,234 184,693 156,414 158,161 128,351 143416
Total 30 or more Qays past ’

due ....... . S § 500,660 $ 492,104 3 410839 3 339987 § 318528 5 306518 3 273408 § 268479

Total 60 or more days past )
due ........! R $ 379511 § 372,672 $§ 295398 § 255906 § 224945 S 224448 § 190.233 § 197.921

Receivables delinquent as % of
period-end loans:

3010 59 days pastdue ........ 4.7% 4.7% 4.7% 3.6% 4.0% 37% 3.8% 3%
60 10 89 days pastdue ........ 39% 4.0% 3.6% 1.0% 3.0% 3.0% 2.8% 24%
90 or more days pastdue . ..... 10.7% 10.6% 8.3% 7.9% 6.7% 7 1% 5.8% 6.4%
Total 30 or mere days past

due ...l 19.3% 19.3% 16.6% 14.5% 13.7% 13.8% 12.4% 11.9%

Total 60 or more days past
dee ... 14.6% 14.6% 11.9% 10.9% 9.7% 10.1% 8.6% 8.8%

The increases in our 30-plus day delinquencies and 60-plus day delinquencies between December 31, 2005
and December 31, 2006 are predominantly attributable to growth in our largely fee-based credit card offerings to
consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, the receivables of which experience greater delinquency
and charge-off levels than we experience with respect to our other credit card receivables. As these receivables
underlying our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range
become a larger component of our overall managed receivables balance as we expect that they will over the next
several quarters, we expect this mix change to cause further trending increases in our overall delinquency and
charge-off levels. Additionally, given the shorter life cycle of many of the accounts underlying the receivables
associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring
range, we can also expect some volatility in our delinquency statistics based on the timing and relative volumes
of quarterly account growth underlying these receivables. We believe that the heightened delinguency and
charge-off levels and greater volatility in our delinquency statistics associated with our largely fee-based credit
card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range are reasonable based on the relative
returns offered. Our expected future trending increases in delinquencies associated with the aforementioned mix
change should be offset 1o some degree, albeit somewhat modestly, by our decision to cease finance charge and
fee billings on credit card accounts once they become over 90 days delinquent as mentioned above.

While most of the trending increases in delinquencies are attributable to the above-discussed structural shift
in our managed receivables portfolio to a portfolio with a far greater and increasing percentage of receivables
associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring
range, we have also experienced higher delinquency rates overall relative to the exceptionally low levels we had
seen in 2005 and in the first half of 2006. Nevertheless, our credit card receivables continue to perform in line
with our expected vintage performance levels. Moreover, based on our analyses of vintage data, we continue to
be pleased with the overall credit quality of our managed receivables, including those underlying our largely
fee-based crddit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range. In fact, based on
delinquency roll rates we have seen subsequent the close of 2006, we actually are seeing some improvements in
roll rates that cause us to be optimistic that we will realize credit quality improvements in 2007,
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Charge offs. We generally charge off credit card receivables when they become contractually 180 days past
due or within 30 days of notification and confirmation of a customer’s bankruptcy or death. However, ifa
.cardholder makes a payment greater than or equal 10 two minimum payments within a month of the charge off
date, we may reconsider whether charge off status remains appropriate. *Addmonally, in some cases of death,
~receivables are not charged off if, with respect 10 the deceased customeg s account, there is a surviving,
.contractually. liable individual or an estate large enough to pay the debt in full.

i

The following table presents charge off data (dollars in thousands; percentages annualized) for: (1) all of the
credit card receivables underlying the securitizations by our consolidated subsidiaries (adjusted to exclude the
receivables associated with minority interest holders’ equity in our majority-owned consolidated subsidiaries);
(2) our respective 61.25%, 33.3% and 47.5% shares of the receivables _(fllat we manage on behalf of our equity-
method investees: and (3) all non-securitized credit card receivables ($760.8 million face amount of receivables
at December 31, 2006), including the Fingerhut receivables while they Were held on balance sheet and the
receivables associated wnh our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO
scoring range. i

For the Three Months Ended
2006 Lo 2005
Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31 {Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 11

Average managed i

receivables . .............. $2.557.807 S2.512.066 $2.420272 $2.341.712 $2.256.994 $2211,547 $2212.378 $2.307.471
Grass yieldratio .......... " 32.9% 353% 32.6% 32.9% 1 31% 30.2% 29.1% 28.2%
Combined gross charge offs ... $ 227869 $ 196,697 § 173709 § 129111 § 162917 $ 120989 § 129921 .5 117.924
Netchargeoffs ............. $ 76384 § 64773 § 57572 § 47571 § 75708 § 58473 § 67602 5 54,432
Adjusted charge offs ... ...... $ 68377 $ 50642 $ 51,225 § 39344 § 62078 § 42463 $ 44900 $  39.053
Combined gross charge off :
RO L 35.6% 31.3% 28.7% 22.1% 28.9% 21.9% 23.5% 20.4%
Net charge offratio .......... 11.9% 10.3% 9.5% 8.1% 13.4% 10.6% 12.2% 9.1%
Adjusted charge off ratio .. ... 10.7% 9.5% 8.5% 6.7% | 11.0% 7.7% 8.1% 6.8%
Net interest margin .......... 22.6% 25.6% 23.7% 253%  22.6% 233% 22.5% 21.1%
Other income ratio .......... 11.2% 10.3% 12.4% 149% = 124% 10.4% 8.6% 6.8%

Operating ratio ......... AN 13.7% 11.2% 10.0% 10.7% 12.9% 9.0% 8.9% 8.6%

Factors relevant to an analysis of this table are as follows: '

» Higher trending quarterly gross yield ratios since the quarter enéling March 31, 2005 correlate with
(1) interest rate increases associated with cardholder accounts, quch rates being indexed to prime rates
which have increased along with Federal Reserve Board rate mcreases over the past several quarters,
(2) higher quarterly delinquency rates (and hence higher quarterly late fee billings) experienced in the
latter half of 2006 for the receivables within our originated pOflfOllO master trust and purchased
portfolios, and most significantly (3) higher trending quarterly delmquency rates (and hence higher
quarterly late fee billings) associated with our change in recelvables mix toward a greater percentage of
our receivables being comprised of those receivables associated \with our largely fee-based credit card
offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring r.m!ge As noted previously, these
receivables experience greater delinquency and charge-off Ievele than we experience with respect to our
other credit card receivables.

»  Given our late third quarter 2006 decision to discontinue finance! charge and fee billings on credit card
accounts that become over 90 days delinquent, our gross yield ratlo declined as expected in the fourth
quarter of 2006. Assuming no additional Federal Reserve Board' 'interest rate increases and no marked
changes in delinquencies, we expect this ratio to stabilize in the first quarter of 2007 at roughly the same
level as we experienced in the fourth-quarter of 2006 and then grow from this new lower based level as
we experience further expected mix changes toward greater perc:entages of our receivables being

-comprised of those receivables associated with our largely fee—bz}sed credit card offerings to consumers
at the lower end of the FICO scoring range. .
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While our charge off levels and ratios have recently benefited from our marketing of new accounts
underlying our originated portfolio master trust, the favorable effects of new account additions have
been offset by growth in our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the
FICO scoring range. the receivables of which experience (a) greater gross charge off levels than we
experience.within our originated portfolio master trust and with respect to any of our acquired
receivables portfolios, and (b) adjusted net charge off rates higher than with those we experience within
our originated portfolio master trust and with respect to our acquired receivables portfolios.

The rush of consumers to file for bankruptcy prior to the October 2005 effective date of the new
bankruptcy laws caused unusually high fourth quarter 2005 charge offs that exceeded our expectations
coming into that fourth quarter. This rush of bankrupicy filings served to accelerate certain charge offs
that we otherwise would have experienced in 2006; as such, we experienced significantly lower
bankruptcy and other delinquency charge offs than normal during the first quarter of 2006. Charge offs
during the subsequent quarters of 2006 also were somewhat lower than normal as well due to the
October 2005 bankrupicy law changes, but the effects of these lower charge offs were offset by
increased charge offs associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the
lower end of the FICO scoring range, which was particularly evident in the fourth quarter of 2006. We
expeét continued but diminished benefits associated with the October 2005 bankruptcy law changes in
the first couple of 2007 quarters as the pace of bankruptcy filings under the new bankruptcy law has
been increasing steadily in recent quarters.

Trending overall improvements in our net interest margin over the past two years can be attributed to
(1) the favorable effects of new account additions {which experience lower finance charge and late fee
charge off levels than do more mature account vintages that are moving through their peak charge off
periods), and'(2) growth in our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of
the FICO scoring range, the receivables of which have significantly higher delinquency rates and late
fee assessments than do our other originated and purchased receivables portfolios. These higher late fee
assessments associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of
the E'ICO scoring range overshadow the fact that these offerings bear lower APRs than our other credit
card product offerings.

Given the shorter life cycle of many of the accounts underlying the receivables associated with our '
largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, we can
experience greater volatility in our net interest margin statistics depending on the timing and relative
volumes of quarterly account originations underlying these receivables in the months preceding their
charge off. We experienced adverse effects of this volatility in the fourth quarter of 2006 and expect to
experience further adverse effects of this volatility in the first quarter of 2007 as a significant level of
high volume vintages is flowing through to charge off during these two quarters. We currently expect
greater stability in our net interest margins, however, during the subsequent quarters of 2007,

Our fourth quarter 2006 net interest margin was adversely affected by our late third quarter 2006
decision to discontinue finance charge and fee billings on credit card accounts that become over 90 days
delinquent. Given this decision and the continuing effort to implement this decision into the fourth
quarter of 2006, we had no billings of finance charges and fees on many accounts that became over 90
days past due in the fourth quarter of 2006, while our finance charge and fee charge offs during that
quarter bore the effects of finance charges and fees that were assessed on accounts that were already 90
days past due on the date of our change in billing practices. Once we realize the full effects of this
transition to our new billing practices, which will occur by the beginning of the second quarter of 2007,
neither finance charge and fee assessments nor finance charge and fee charge off's will bear the effects

. of finance charge and fee assessments on accounts that have become over 90 days past due.

Our net interest margin declined between the first and second quarter of 2006 principally due to

(1) dimmished second quarter 2006 beneficial effects of the October 2005 bankruptcy law changes on
finance charge and late fee charge offs, (2) interest costs on $150.0 million of draws that we made in the
seéond quarter of 2006 on the structured financing facility secured by those receivables associated with
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our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range and
(3) heightened levels of finance charge and late fee non-accruals into our net interest margin associated
with greater amounts of delinquent receivables underlying our largely fee-based credit card offerings to
consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, which we marketed heavily in the last two
quarters of 2005. This general decline reversed in the third quarler (1) in part because the percentage of
managed receivables against which we have leverage and i mcu‘r interest costs as an offset to our net
interest margin decreased in the third quarter and (2) in part due to lower levels of finance charge and
late fee non-accruals into our net interest margin in the third goarter given normalization of
delinquencies for our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO
scoring range coming into that particular quaner .

Our general trend line of improving net interest margins (throu‘gh the first three quarters of 2006)
correlates with improved gross yield ratios experienced in recent quarters. Additionally, the October
2005 bankruptcy law changes discussed above resulted in significantly diminished first quarter 2006 and
somewhat lower second and third quarter 2006 bankruplcy charge offs—thereby favorably influencing
our net interest margin during those quarters,

]
s

Growth in our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring
range accounts for much of the increase in the combined gross charge off ratio throughout 2006 relative
to the respective quarters of 2005, notwithstanding that the net charge off ratio actually declined slightly
in the third and fourth guarters of 2006 relative to the third and fourth quarters of 2005. The mix change
in our receivables based on disproportionately larger growth in our largely fee-based credit card
offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range can be expected to increase our
combined gross charge'off ratios; however, the fact that the ratio of principal receivables to total
receivables for this category of receivables is smaller than for our other originated and purchased credit
- card receivables means that the effects of the mix change are not as great for our net charge off and
adjusted charge off ratios as they are for our combined gross charge off ratio, We expect future
combined gross charge off ratio computations to benefit from our late third quarter of 2006 decision to
cease billing finance charges and fees on credit card accounts that become over 90 days past due. The
positive impacts of this change should become apparent commencing late in the first quarter of 2007

and be fully realized by the second-quarter of 2007. i

While some of the significant rise in the combined gross charge ]off ratio between the third quarter of
2006 and the fourth quarter of 2006 can be explained by our recgivables mix change as discussed
previously, much of this increase is attributable to marketing volume-based volatility for our largely
fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range. Given the

" shorter life cycle of many of the accounts underl.ying the receivables associated with our largely
fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, we can
experience greater volatility in our combined gross charge off stdtistics depending on the timing and
relative volumes of quarterly account originations underlying these recetvables in the months preceding
their charge off. We experienced adverse effects of this volatility.in the fourth quarter of 2006 and
expect to experience further adverse effects of this volatility in the first quarter of 2007 as a significant
level of high volume vintages is flowing through to charge off during these two quarters. We currently
expect greater stability in our combined gross charge off ratios at levels below fourth quarter 2006 and
-expected first quarter 2007 levels during the subsequent quarters of 2007.

Credit quality improvements within our portfolios and the pull- through effects of the October 2005
bankrupicy law changes discussed above have contributed to trending lower net charge off ratios when
comparing 2006 quarterly data to 2005 quarterly data, although as discussed above, we expect the
beneficial effects of bankruptcy law changes to continue to dlmlmqh over the coming quarters, The
change in receivables mix toward greater percentages of our receivables being comprised of those
receivables associated with-our largely. fee-based credit card offcr";ngs to.consumers at the fower end of
the FICO scoring range has adversely affected our net charge off catios throughout 2006 as these
offerings experience higher principal charge offs and principal charge off ratios than we generally
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experience for our other originated and purchased credit card receivables. The magnitude of these
adverse effects on our net charge off ratio increased in the fourth quarter of 2006 and is expected to
remain higher in the first quarter of 2007 as a significant level of high volume vintages is flowing
lhrough to charge off during these two quarters. We currently expect greater stability in our net charge
off ratios at levels below fourth quarter 2006 and expected first quarter 2007 levels during the
subqequent quarters of 2007,

The gap between our net charge off ratio and our adjusted charge off ratio generally is narrowing. With
each passing quarter since our last portfolio purchased at a discount to the face amount of the portfolio’s
receivables (the last of which occurred in the first quarter of 2005), there is a greater percentage of our
total managed receivables and charge offs thereon that is comprised of receivables that we have
originated at par rather than purchased at discounts off of their par value; this phenomenon causes the
gap between our net charge offs and adjusted charge offs (and their associated ratios) to narrow with
each such passing quarter.

Our largety fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range
have contributed significantly to the general trend line of improved other income ratios; however, we
can expect increased volatility in combined gross charge offs, and hence fee charge offs offsetting our
-other income ratio, based on the growth of these particular product offerings. Given the shorter life
cycle of many of the accounts underlying the receivables associated with ‘our largely fee-based credit
card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, charge-off volatility can result
based on the timing and relative volumes of quarterly account growth underlying these receivables—
_such was the case in our fourth quarter of 2006, during which we experienced the adverse effects on our
other income ratio of higher fee charge offs associated with a significant level of high volume vintages
that charged off during that quarter. We expect these adverse effects on our other income ratio to .
continue into the first quarter.2007, after which time we expect greater stability in our other income
ratio'at levels greater than what we experienced in the fourth quarter of this year. Notwithstanding the
volatility and higher charge offs cited herein, based on our analyses of vintage data, we are pleased with
the qverall credit quality of the receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to
consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, and we believe that the heightened charge-off
levels and greater volatility in charge offs associated with these receivables are reasonable based on the
relative returns offered.

Our Idecision in the third quarter of 2006 to discontinue billing finance charges and fees on credit card
acco‘ums that become over 90 days past due was in part in response to prior discussions with the FDIC
concemmg ‘negative amortization and minimum payments. Leading to this decision, we also
experimented with potential revisions to our over-limit fee billing practices. which had the effect of
depressing our other income ratio in the third quarter relative to its fevel in prior quarters. While we
have not ruled out potential future changes to our over-limit fee billing practices, some of which, if
implemented, would adversély affect our other income ratio, we concluded late in the third quarter that
the discontinuation of billing finance charges and fees on credit card accounts that become over 90 days
past due was an appropriate step in response to concerns regarding negative amortization.

While the fuifillment of our commitments under the assurance agreement with the New York Attomey
General contributed to the increase in our operating ratio in the second quarter of 2006, the general
increase in all quarters of 2006 when compared to the same quarter in 2005 is principally associated
with a mix change in our receivables toward lower balance receivables associated with our largely
fee-based credit card offerings 10 consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range. This
disproportionately growing category of receivables is comprised of accounts with smaller receivables
balances than those accounts underlying our originated portfolio master trust and acquired portfolios.
The addition of these many new accounts with small receivables balances means many more customer
service interactions, and hence higher costs as a percentage of average managed receivables, than we
hav:c historically experienced with our originated portfolio master trust and acquired portfolios’
receivables. Also throughout 2006, we have experienced heightened legal, regulatory and compliance
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efforts and costs associated with the New York Attorney General ‘FDIC-and FTC investigations and our
-establishment of an expanded number of issuing bank relanonshlps and new product offerings. Our
expanding number of issuing bank relationships and new product lines also has contributed to higher
credit card servicing costs. We summarize other factors inﬂuer'rcing a shift to higher operating ratio
levels in the explanation of total other operating expense w1thm the “Results of Operations™ section of
this Management’s Discussion and ‘Analysis of Financial Condmon and Results of Operations.
Additionally, as has happened in the fourth quarter of the last lwo years, we made a $15.0 million

. charitable contribution (compared 1o $12.0 million in 2005 and $9 0 millicn in 2004), which had the
effect of i mcreasmg our fourth qumer 2006 operating ratio relanve to the first three quarters of 2006.

Definitions of Financial, Operating and Statistical Measures i

+

Adjusted charge offs. Represents principal net charge offs as adjusted to apply a discount related to the
credit quality of acquired portfolios to offset a portion of actual net char'ge offs. Historically, upon our
acquisitions of credit card receivables, a portion of the discount reflected within our acquisition prices relates to .
the credit quality of the acquired receivables-—that portion representing t the excess of the face amount of the
receivables acquired over the future principal cash flows expected to be eollected from the receivables. Because
we treat the credit guality discount component of our acquisition discount as related exclusively to acquired
principal balances, the difference between.our net charge offs and our adjusted charge offs for each respective
reporting peried represents the total doltar amount of our charge offs thal were charged against our credit quality
discount during each respective reporting period. ; -

Combined gross charge offs. Represents the aggregate amounts of decrued finance charge, fee and principal
losses from customers unwilling or unable to pay their receivables balanees as well as bankrupt and deceased
customers, less current-period recoveries. Recoveries on managed rece:v?bles represent all amounts received
related to managed receivables that previously have been charged off, including payments received directly from
customers and proceeds received from the sale of those charged off recei'vab]es'.-Recoveries typically have
represemed less than 2% of aver_age managed receivables. : e

Gross weld ratio. Represents billed finance charges and late fees (annualized) as a percemage of average
managed receivables. } .

Net charge offs. Includes only the prmc1pa] amount of Iosseq net of ireeovenes (and it excludes accrued
finance charge and fee charge offs, Which are charged against the related i income item at the time of charge-off,
as well as losses from fraudulent.activity in aecounts, which are mcluded sepdrately in other operatmg expenses).

Net interest margin. Repre*;ents an annuahzed fraction, the numeralo‘lr of Wthh includes. all accrued finance
charge and late fee income billed on all oulstandmg receivables, plus amomzauon of the accretab]e yreld
component of our acqummon discourits for portfolio purchases, less mlerest expense assocmted with portfolio-
specific debt and securitization facilities and accrued finance charge dnd lale fee charge offs, and the
denominator of which is average managed receivables. Net interest margms are influenced by a number of
factors, including (1) the level of accrued finance charges and late fees brllled {2) the weighted average cost of
funds underlying portfolio-specific debt or within our securitization structures, (3) amortization of the accretable
yield component of our acquisition discounts for portfolio purchases and (4) the level of our accrued finance
charge and late fee charge offs. On a routine basis, generally no less frequently than quarterly, we re-underwrite
our portfolio to price our producls to appropriately reflect the level of each customer’s credit risk. As part of this
underwriting process, existing customers may be offered increased or decreased pricing depending on their credit
risk, as well as their supply of and demand for credit. Increases in pricing may mcreaqe our net interest margin,
while decreases in prmmg may reduce our net interest margin. . -

Operating ratio, Represents an annualized fraction, the numerator. of :which includes all expenses associated
with our Credit Cards segment, net of any servicing income we receive from third parties associated with our role
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as servicer, other than marketing and solicitation and ancillary product expenses, and the denominator of which is
average managed receivables,

Other income ratio, Represents an annualized fraction, the numerator of which includes credit card fees
(including over-limit fees, cash advance fees, returned check fees and interchange income}, plus earned,
amortized amounts of annual membership fees and activation fees with respect to certain of our credit card
products, plus ancillary product income, less all fee charge offs (with the exception of late fee charge offs, which
are netted against the net interest margin), and the denominator of which is average managed receivables.

Investments in Previously Charged-Off Receivables Segment

For 2006 :and 200'5, the following table shows a roll-forward of our investments in previously charged-off
receivables activities (in thousands of dollars):

i : 2006 2005
Unrecovered balance at beginning of period ......... ... ... $16993 §15,094
Acquisitions of defaulted accounts . .. ... ... .o 35,685 44,762
Cashcollections ......... ..o (74,071) (79,634)
Accretion of deferred revenue associated with forward flow contract . ... .. (12,455) (5,700)
Cost-recovery method income recognized on defaulted accounts (included as '
a component of fees and related income on non-securilized earning assets ‘
on our consolidated statements of operations) .............. . ... ... 46,719 48,912

Income recognized on bulk sale of receivables ......................... — 69,559

Cash collections on bulk sale of receivables . ... ... .. ... ... .. ... — (76,000)

Unrecovpred balance at December 31 ... ... ... i i $12,871 516993

Estimated remaining collections (“ERC”) .............. ..o $62775 $ 54,738

The above table reflects our use of the cost recovery method of accounting for our investments in previously
charged-off réceivables. Under this method, we establish static pools consisting of homogenous accounts and
receivables for each portfolio acquisition. Once we establish a static pool, we do not change the receivables
within the pool. We record each static pool at cost and account for it as a single unit for payment application and
income recognition purposes. Under the cost recovery method, we do not recognize income associated with a
particular portfolio until cash collections have exceeded the investment. Additionally, until such time as cash
collected for a particular portfolio exceeds our investment in the portfolio, we will incur commission costs and
other internal and external servicing costs associated with the cash collections on the portfolio investment that we
will charge as an-operating expense without any offsetting income amounts.

In June ;’2005. the subsidiary that comprises our Investments in Previously Charged-Off Receivables
segment sold a portfolio of charged-off credit card receivables having a face amount of $2.9 billion to Encore
and agreed 10 sell Encore up to $3.25 billion in face amount of future charged-off credit card receivables at an
established price over the next five years. As consideration for these transactions, the subsidiary received $143.0
million in cash. The purchase price included $76.0 million related to the portfolio of charged-off credit card
receivables and $67.0 million related to the forward flow contract. The sate of the portfolio of charged-off credit
card receivables resulted in a gain of $69.6 million, which has been recorded in fees and related income on
non-securitized earning assets on our consolidated statements of operations for 2005. Ten million dollars of the
$67.0 million in deferred revenué related to the forward flow contract is required to be held in escrow until the
performance of certain conditions under the contract and is included in restricted cash on our consolidated
balance sheet; as such, this $10 miltion will be excluded from income recognition computations until the
conditions are satisfied. The remaining $57.0 million of deferred revenue will be recognized into income over the
life of the contract as our subsidiary delivers its associated volumes of charged-off credit card receivables to
Encore. Based on the forward flow contract, our subsidiary is expected to purchase for delivery to Encore over
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the life of the contract certain previously. charged-off receivables from trusls the receivables of which are
-serviced by us, as well as certain previously charged-off receivables assomated with our largely fee-based credit
card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range! Any shortfalls in detivery of minimum
‘perl()dlc dollar amounts of previously charged off receivables to Eneoré could result in the subsidiary being
required to return a portion of the purchase price related to the forward ﬂow contract. As of December 31, 2006,
‘our subsidiary had delivered $950.1 million of associated volumes of charged off credit card receivables 10 -
Encore under the forward ﬂow contract. - . LT : : '

!
Remaining after the Encore transaction are our pools of previously charged-off receivables associated with

Chapter 13 Bankrupicies and our balance transfer program, which we expect to continue to service and grow
through future acquisitions. We expect our Investments in Previously Charged-Off Recewableq segment to
continue its acquisition and collection of Chapter 13 Bankruptcies, its baldnce transfer program and other
previously charged-off receivabies activities throughout 2007 and beyond Such activities will include the
acquisition of previously charged-off receivables and the sale of these charge offs for a fixed sales-price under its
five-year forward flow contract with Encore. i'

We generally estimate the life of each pool of charged-off recewable% that we typwally acquire (o be
between 24 and 36 months for normal delinquency charged-off accounts and approximately 60 months for
Chapter 13 Bankruptcies. We anticipate collecting approximately 41.2 % of the ERC of the existing accounts
. over the next twelve months, with the balance to be collected thereafter. Our acquisition of charged-off accounts
through our balance transfer program results in receivables with a h1g,herl than typtcal expected collectible
balance. As the composition of our defaulted accounts includes more of this type of receivables. the resulting
estimated remaining collectible portion per dollar invested is expected to increase.

+

During 2006, our Investments in Previously Charged -off Receivables segment’s pre-tax income
increased 34.4% compared to 2005 (after removing the effect of the $69. 6 million initial gain on buik sale of
charged-off receivables to Encore), reflecting increased volumes of charged-off accounts seld under its 5-year
forward flow agreement with Encore and continued growth in charged- off receivables purchases through its
balance transfer and chapter 13 Bankruptey purchasmg niches. We expecl our Investmenls in Prev1ously
Charged-off Receivables segment Lo continue'its revenue and income growth

i a
Retail Micro-Loans Segment

The Retail Micro-Loans segment consists of a network of storefront locauons that, dcpend:ng on the .
location. provide some or all of the following products or services: (a) sma]l denomination, short-term,
unsecured cash advances that are typically due on the customer’s next payddy, (b} installment loan and other
credit products; and (c) money transfer and other financial services. The assets associated with our retail micro-
loan operations were principally acquired in two separate transactions completed during 2004..During the second
quarter of 2004, our subsidiaries acquired substantially all of the assets of ‘First American, including over 300
retail locations in twelve states, for $108.9 million. Representing an initial market entry into micro-loan and
servicing activities, the First American acquisition provided a platform fotr' future growth in this market. -
Subsequently, during the third quarter of 2004, our subsidiaries acquired substantially all of the assets of another
micro-loan provider, Venture Services, including 166 retail locations, for $33.9 million. The Venture Services '
acquisition provided complementary locations in four existing states and added three new states. Also in
January 2005, one of our subsidiaries acquired substantially all of the assets of another micro-loan provider for
$11.9 million, including transaction-costs; with this acquisition, we added 'an additional 39 stores in the State of -
Ohio. As of December 31, 2006, our Retail Micro-Loans segment ququ:a'nes operated a total of 475 storefront
locations in 17 U.S. states as well as the United Kingdom.. L. :
]

The micro-loan market emerged in the early- 1990s in response to a shonage of available short-term
consumer credit alternatives from traditional banking institutions. We believe customers seek cash advance
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micro-loans as a simple, quick and confidential way to meet short-term cash needs between paydays while
avoiding the potentially higher costs and negative credit consequences of other financing altemnatives, which
include overdraft privileges or bounced-check protection, {ate bill payments, checks retuned for insufficient
funds and short-term collateralized loans.

In' most of the states in which they historically have operated, our Retail Micro-Loans segment subsidiaries
have made cash advance and other micro-loans directly 1o customers. However. in four states {Arkansas, Florida,
North Carolina and Wesl Virginia), they previously acted only as a processing and servicing agent for a state- -
chartered, FDIC-insured bank that issued loans to the customers pursuant (o the authority of the laws of the state
in which the bank was located and federal interstate banking laws. regulations and guidelines. During February
2006, we learned from our bank partner that the FDIC had effectively asked insured financial institutions to cease
deferred presemmem and installment micro-loan activities conducted through processing and servicing agents. In
response to the FDIC’s actions, our subsidiaries began to evaluate strategic alternatives within theses states,
including the possibility of switching to a direct lending model in compliance with the regutatory frameworks
within each of the four states, or, alternatively, closing certain branch locations within the four affected states. In
addition, effective March 11, 2006, our North Carolina Retail Micro-Loans segment subsidiary agreed with the
Attorney General of the State of North Carolina to cease its traditional marketing and servicing of deferred-
presentment and installment micro-loans in North Carolina. As a result of this agreement, our North Carolina
Retail Micro-Loans segment subsidiary began pursuing a direct lending model in North Carolina in compliance
with existing regulatory frameworks, as well as closing several North Carolina locations. Subsequently, during
the second quarter of 2006, our subsidiaries decided to abandon the pursuit of these alternative lending models in
both North Cz:lrolina and West Virginia, because they concluded that alternative lending products would not
provide acceptable long-term returns for the business. By the end of the third quarter of 2006, our North Carolina
subsidiary had closed all of its original 52 branch locations and our West Virginia subsidiary had closed all of its
original 11 branch locations. In Arkansas, during the second quarter of 2006, we began offering loans directly to
customers under an alternative lending model, in compliance with state regulations. This alternative lending
model has been well-received by our customers, and, during the third quarter of 2006, we succeeded in returning
our Arkansas operations to profitability. In Florida, the fourth state in which we previously processed and
serviced micro-loans on behalf of our bank partner, we began operating under an alternative direct lending model
in the fourth quarter of 2006. We obtained licensing approval from the State of Florida’s Office of Financial
Reguiation ilj October 2006, and we expect our Florida operations to return to profitability in 2007.

As a result of the recent changes in regulatory positions by the FDIC, the originating bank for which we
serviced micro-loans in the four affected states was required to exit that business prior to May 31, 2006. Because
the originating bank planned to liquidate any loans existing as of that date through a loan participation
relationship that it had with Maverick Management Company LLC (“Maverick™), we agreed to indemnify
Maverick for up to $2.8 million in losses that it may incur as a result of its being a successor to the bank’s
interest in the loans and their liquidation and recorded a reserve for this amount in the first quarter of
2006. Richard W. Gilbert, a member of our Board of Directors and our Chief Operating Officer, has a 20%
economic interest in Maverick, and Mr. Gilbert’s son is its manager. As of December 31, 2006, we had paid
claims submitted by Maverick of $1.6 million against this indemnification obligation. Additionally, we had
accrued $0.2 million against this indemnification obligation as of December 31, 2006—an amount we believe to
be appropriate to cover additional indemnification claims expected in the future.

+ i

During the second quarter of 2006, our Retail Micro-Loans segment completed the process of converting our
entire network of branches to a common information technology platform capable of supporting multiple products.
We began testing this new platform in our stores during the latter half of 2005 and into 2006. Reflecting our strategy
to convert our “mono-line” retail micro-loan branches into full service neighborhood financial centers, we expect
our suite of products to include cash advance and installment micro-loans, auto insurance, debit cards, credit cards,
check cashing, money transfer, money order, bill payment, auto title loans and tax preparation service assistance. In
connection with the system conversion required to support these multiple products, our Retail Micro-Loans segment
incurred additional travel, training and other operating expenses during both the first and second quarters of 2006.

]
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During 2006, we opened 37 branch locations in the United States.; These branch location openings include
our inittal market entries intc Michigan, Texas and Nevada. Including slore closings in North-Carolina and West
. Virginia, we closed 72 stores during 2006. As of December 31, 2006, we operated 20 locations in the state of
. Texas. where our Texas micro:loans subsidiary offers and prowdes cred:t services under-a credit services ¢
organization (“CSO™) program to customers who apply for micro- -loans offered by an independent third-party
lender. In addition to assisting customers with loan applications; if the customer is approved for and accepts the
_loan, our Texas subsidiary provides a letter of credit to the third party iénder to secure the customer’s payment
obligations in the event of a customer default. The customer is charged la fee under the CSO program (“CSO

fees™) for the provision of these credit services. In addition to offering credn services in our Texas retail branch
locations, we also began testing the marketing ot credit services via the Internet to Texas residents during the
‘third quarter of 2006. Though representing a different marketing Chd]’l]‘lél these credit services are offered under
the same CSO program as the retail branch locations. |

During the first half of 2006, we began exploring potential intemat;fonal market opportunities for our Retail
Micro-Loans segment. As part of this effort, we focused on potential opportunities in the United Kingdom, where
we believe customers will be receptive to the kind of “multi-line” financial centers that have characterized our
recent store expansion strategy in the U.S. To test market receptiveness for our products in the United Kingdom,
we opened 1 de novo store in the greater London area during the fourth éuaner of 2006 and have opened 3
additional stores thus far in 2007,

Financial, operating and statistical metrics for our Retail Micro—Loa!_ns ségmem (including both U.S. and
United Kingdom locations) are detailed (dollars in thousands) in the fol]c’gwing tables.

5 For the Year ended

| - December 31,
. 2006 - 2005
Beginning number of locations . . .. .. AP R 509 482
Acquired locations ....... e S — 40
Opened locations .......... ... ... i, e 38 16
Closed locations ........ e e RRRERREE Q) : _(_22)
Ending loCations . .............oooitit it 475 509
I For the year ended
December 31,
T 2006 - 2005
Gross retail micro-loan fees (exclusive of processing and servicing revenues
from FDIC-chartered bank) . . ... ... i, L. $ 97872 § 81488
Processing and servicing revenues from FDIC-chartered bank ... % ....... 5,993 23,229
Total grOSS TEVENLES . . ..o v vttt e e oo e iie et Ch e . $103,865 - $104.717
(Loss) income before incometaxes. . ........ .. ... e $(10.607) % 9,768
Period end loans and fees receivable, gross ........ I e $ 90,615 '$ 57,806

The loss before income taxes for 2006 reflects impairment, indemnification, loan loss and other charges of
$17.1 million (including $10.5 million of associated goodwill impairment) Iprimarily related to operating changes
resulting from the FDIC's actions in February 2006. In addition, we continied to sustain significant operating
losses in Florida into the fourth quarter of 2006 as we awaited licensing approval from the State of Florida's
Office of Financial Regulation. !

: While the FDIC’s February 2006 actions have resulted in the losses cited above, we are pleased with the
revenue growth evident in our core direct storefront micro-loan operations. IExc]uding fees we have earned in
2006 associated with our lending operations pursuant to certain CS0 progrulms initiated by other micro-loan
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providers during the third and fourth quarters of 2003, fees from our direct storefront operations increased from
$79.9 miltion in 2005 to $92.4 million in 2006. We believe this growth demonstrates positive momentum and
favorable operﬁling trends in the core ongoing business of our Retail Micro-Loans segment. In 2007, we expect
the new products we are rolling out under our multi-product line strategy to contribute to revenue growth within
our Retail Micfo-Loans segment, and we expect 10 see improved profitability, both overall and on a per-store
basis. !

The results for our Retail Micro-Loans segment operations during 2005 also reflect the impact of Hurricane
Katrina. While Hurricane Rita did not affect our operations, we were forced to temporarily close 7 existing stores
in Mississippi because of Hurricane Katrina, and we had 1o delay openings for certain planned store locations in
" Louisiana. Although all but one of the Mississippi stores were re-opened within a few days, we decided to ease
our typical collection efforts with respect to affected customers in Mississippi, but this change did not materially
impact the pre:tax results of our Retail Micro-Loans segment.

Auto Finance'Segment

t

On April’l, 2005, we acquired Wells Fargo Financial’s CAR business unit for $121.5 million including
transaction costs; this acquisition included all of CAR’s assets, business operations and employees. Upon
acquisition, the business unit had approximately 300 employees and $128.9 million of auto-finance-related
receivables (aE face, net of unearned discounts) and operated in 38 states through its 12 branches, 3 reglonal
processing centers and a national collection center at its Lake Mary, FL headquarters. This acquisition was part
of our strategic plan to expand and diversify into other sub-prime asset classes and markels; as such, the purchase
price reflected our estimate of fair value, which included our assessment of the cost associated with acquiring an
established entity in this market versus the cost of new entry.

CAR consists of a nationwide network of pre-qualified auto dealers in the “Buy Here/Pay Here used car
business, from which CAR purchases auto loans at a discount or for which CAR services auto-loans for a fee.
CAR generates revenues on purchased loans through interest earned on the face value of the installment
agreements combmed with discounts on loans purchased. CAR generally earns discount income over the life of
the appllcable loan. Additionally, CAR generates revenues from servicing loans on behalf of dealers for a portion
of actual collections and by providing back-up servicing for similar quality securitized assets. In the second
quarter of 2006 CAR launched a new product, Dealer Equity Advance Loan (“DEAL”), whereby CAR earns
interest income on a loan made dlrectly to the dealer. In the DEAL program, the dealer maintains the
‘responsibility, to service the customer accounts securing the loan to the dealer. Also during the second quarter of -
2006, CAR launched a contract custodial program to service smaller line of credit loan providers in the markets it
services. In addition to these offerings, the business is in the process of forming strategic alliances with
aftermarket p:roduct and service providers in an effort to cross-sell to their existing customer base and is testing
is ability to cross-sell other CompuCredit and subsidiaries” products to a select number of customers from within
its existing customer base.

The number of CAR’s active dealers is a function of new dealer enrollments offset by dealer attrition within
the states in which CAR is licensed, Dealers are certified by CAR upon being recruited by a sales force of
approximately 60 resources located strategically throughout approved territories. As of December 31, 2006, CAR
operated in 45 states and had approximately 1.200 active dealers.

During the first quarter of 2006, CAR completed a conversion from a system of record that it licensed from
Wells Fargo Financial to a more robust system of record. Management expects the new system of record to
support future growth through efficiencies created in the processing of new dealer relationships, new product
offerings and potential porifolio acquisitions. Due to CAR’s unique product offerings and the customization
required to accommodate these offerings, the system of record conversion required a significant amount of effort
on the part of resources traditionally assigned to operations and sales. The system of record conversion, and the
need for ongotng reconciliations between new system of record data and old system of record data for
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|
delinquency and lender reporting purposes presented distractions for the CAR management team during much of-
'2006. These distractions, coupled with increases in delinquencies and"charge offs that we believe were in part the
result of these distractions, kept the CAR management team from meeting our 2006 growth goalq for this
"business unit and.contributed to a $2.3 million pre-tax loss for this business unit in the fourth quarter of 2006. We -
are optimistic that our CAR management resources have now successfully transitioned from work on the
conversion and related post-conversion activities to efforts aimed at gaining operational efficiencies and
additional market share. As such, we expect growth in receivables and associated revenues during 2007 and a
return to profitability for this business unit in the first half of 2007. i

We also expect our Auto Finance segment to realize receivables ar{d income growth in 2007 based on our

" February 2, 2007 acquisition of the assets of San Diego-based ACC. AQC'currently services approximately
$275.0 million in auto finance receivables, operates in 12 states with collection centers in San Diego, California

" and Denver. Colorado and has approximately 170 employees. In conjunction with this purchase, we also acquired
2 $195.0 million auto loan portfolio from Patelco Credit Union. These agsets were originated and are serviced by
ACC on'behalf of Patélco. The total purchase price paid for the two acquisitions was $168.5 million. ACC serves
a consumer niche that, from a credit quality perspective, is slightly above the niche served by CAR, which makes
our acquisition of ACC quite complementary to our CAR operations. i

Other Segment

-Our Other segment encompasses various activities that are start-up in nature. As reflected in the financial
data for the Other segment within our segment data (see Note 3, “Segment Reporting,” to our consolidated
financial statements included herein), we have invested significantly in :f variety of start-up businesses in keeping
with our diversification strategy. Moreover, as with any start-up effort, there is testing that needs to occur as we
work to refine our product offerings and businesses within our Other segment, For example, we have
experimented in recent months with different-underwriting processes and thresholds for a variety of Internet-
based micro-loan products—this all in an effort to determine the right mix of marketing costs and systems costs
versus first-pay defaults. These tests and the associated charge offs of recewables generated through these tests
contributed to higher fourth quarter 2005 and first half of 2006 loan loss provmons within the Other segment.

Addi(ionally, our overall direction has shifted significantly over thelpast few years with respect to our
stored-value card offering. Our ¢ustomer responses to this product oft'criﬁg support our belief that “un-banked”
consumers want the convenience and flexibility of a stored-value card. Neverlhe]esx the financial investments
associated with our initial strategy of tying our technologies together wnh third-party retail partners proved too
great relative to the revenue potential of this product offering. As such, we retooled our stored-value ¢ard
offering to expand the utility of the product and to focus on distribution of this product as an adjunct to certain of.
our credit card offerings or as an offer to consumers who come to us lhrough Internet and other marketing
channels and who may not be in a situation that currently warrants our exlendmg credit to them through one of
our lending products. Our expectations are that we can learn about the income and spending patterns of these
particular stored-value card customers so that we can graduate them into our credit products over time. We also
are looking at potential out-sourcing pannerehlps relative to this card offermg 1o better align ourselves within the
market and to further reduce costs within this area. ) :

. |

Beyond our shift in focus for our stored-value card offerings, we conlmue to develop an underwriting.
servicing and collections platform that utilizes non-traditional processes lo offer credit products cllrectly 10
consumers. These techniques include the utilization of external databases lother than.the traditional credit
bureaus, the application of proprietary scoring models built off of 1memal and external data attributes, . !
proprietary application processing and approval methods and payment procesqmg tools that currently are unique
in the marketplace. We genemlly refer to these collective methods, model? and processes as our MEP, and we
consider them proprietary in nature. To date (and after an extensive rcsearch and development effort), we have
launched the Imagine MasterCard credit card product utilizing the MEP; we now include the costs and revenues
associated with this product within our Credit Cards segment. The MEP has enabled us to expand the scope of
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consumers we can approve profitably for these credit card products beyond what we traditionally could approve
using our credit bureau-oriented underwriting models. Customers acquired to date have lower average FICO -
scores than we see in our other credit card products, a very limited credit bureau history or no credit bureau
history at all. The MEP also has allowed us to market our products on the Internet and through retail distribution
at the point-of- sale channels that until now have proven to be unsuccessful in generating large numbers of
profitable credit card customers for us. Starting in the third quarter of this year, we began to utilize the MEP in
connection with cur installment lending activities, and we believe we can use it to enter other product lines,
including retailer financing, auto lending and consumer receivables factoring, in the future. We also plan to
utilize the MEP in the radio and television marketing channels for our products.

Our OlherFsegmem also currently is building technologies to enable us to underwrite, service and collect a
wide variety ofithird-party consumer finance receivables. With customers that we already have in place, we have
begun to make some principal investments of our own in asset-secured consumer finance receivables such as
loans secured by motorcycles, all terrain vehicles, personal watercraft and the like. A significant portion of our
Other segment’s provision for loan losses relates to the loans and fees receivable underlying this new category of
asset-secured consumer finance receivable for us. For the time being, however, we have suspended loan
originations within this asset class so that we can study the performance of these assets and our underwriting
models for a few quarters to determine our further growth plans within this asset class.

Another activity currently underway within our Other segment is the implementation and refinement of our
developed systéms, marketing materials and infrastructure through which we attract currently underserved or
under-banked consumers to us so that we can use a centralized decision engine to determine which of our various
credit productq is appropriate for each consumer. Through this effort, we have begun to engage in broad
television and Internet advertising campaigns aimed at attracting consumers who may need credit or debit
products; we also plan to partner with other providers of financial services and products and expect to eamn fees
through our referral of customers to these other providers. We currently are evaluating the marginal revenue
potential our centrahzed deciston engine against the costs that we are incurring towards its development and
1mplcmemauon and we may scale back some of our development efforts and Other segment costs to some
degree throughout 2007,

In summary, through our Other segment activities and by employing our credit and underwriting knowledge
and leveraging and improving upon an established technology infrastructure, we can continue to develop and test
new credit delwery programs. We sce tremendous opportunity to grow our lending businesses through the use of
Internet lead generalors and search engines, and we expect most of the activities supported by the Other segment
to ultimately be profitable for us. As an example, our Other segment has been instrumental in our effort 10 marry
the MEP underwriting technologies with credit card product offerings as discussed above. These product
offerings are generating incremental profits for us within our Credit Cards segment, and we have reclassified
costs initiatly mcurred within the Other segment to our Credit Cards segment so as to reflect a consistent
matching of cost‘; and revenues for these new products within the Credit Cards segment. :

The following table details (in thousands) the pre-tax losses that we have incurred for our major initiatives
within the Other segment:

For the year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Stored- valuc card ........... e e $(11,556) $(24,677) . $(21,716)
Internet MICTO-I0ANS .. .\ o\ v\ s e et et (11,689) (9,453) 961}
Centralized decisionengine .......... ... ... ... .......... (2,084) — —
Thlrd -party receivables servicing and asset-secured consumer

ﬂnanc;recelvab!es............................., ..... (8,936) (3,796) —
Other .. . e (1,386) — —
Total ........ [T AU $(35.651) $(37,926) $(22,677)




Liquidity, Funding and Capital Resources

1

!

At December 31, 2006, we had $95.3 millicn in unrestricted cash. IBei‘.ause the characteristics of our assets
and liabilities change, liquidity management is a dynamic process affected by the pricing and maturity of our
assets and liabilities. We finance our business through cash flows from operallons asset backed securitizations
and the issuance of debt and equity: L ;

Dunng 2006, we generated $508.0 million in cash flow from operations, compared to generating
$233.2 million in cash flow from operations during 2005. Ma_ﬂor factors associated with the $274.8
million increase were (1} improved profitability and payment i‘a[c trends that we saw for our credit
product offerings and (2) growth in our portfolio of receivables associated with our largely fee-based
credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, the returns and cash
flows on which are significantly greater than for our historic oi-iginated portfolio and purchased
portfolio credit card offerings. Partially offsetting these increases were: (1) the $61.3 million of 2003
cash flows associated with our zero-basis de-securitized Finge}hut receivables, all of which we reflected
in our net income for the year ended December 31, 2005 and with respect to which we have realized
much lower cash flows in 2006 as part of our income from the; Fmgerhul trust’s retained interests in -
2006; (2) the receipt of $67.0 million in cash in the second quarter of 2005 under our Encore forward
flow contract, such cash being classified as deferred revenue cm our consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2005; (3) lower 2006 income associated with our Investment in Previously Charged-Off
Receivables segment collections as a result of our entering into the Encore forward flow contract in
2005; and (4) $71.0 million higher'net purchases of debt and equity securities classified as trading

securities during 2006 than in 2005. |
[
During 2006, we used $786.5 million of cash in investing activities, compared to using $523.8 million

of cash in mveqtmg activities during 2005. This $262.7 mllllon increase in cash used in investing
activities is consistent with the significantly higher mvestments that we now are making in receivables

- associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO

scoring range and to a lesser extent receivables within our ongmated portfolio master trust. This overall
increase was offset somewhat by the purchase of CAR during the second quarter of 2005. Additionally,
net investments in securitized earning assets were $80.0 ml”lOI"l for 2006 compared to net investments
in securitized earning assets of $230.7 million for 2005, reflecting the continued decline in reccivables
associated with our purchased portfolios. . l

'

During 2006, we generated $148.3 million in cash from ﬁn.mcmg activities, compared to generating
$462.9 million in cash from financing activities during 2005. The $314.6 million decrease in cash flows
from financing activities is due primarily to our $550.0 million i in Convertible Senior Notes issuances
during the second and fourth quarters of 2003, offset by the purchase of treasury stock during that same
period as well as the débt incurred during 2005 in connection wnh the acquisition of our Auto Finance
segment and the subsequent funding of its receivables thereon. Th:s decline was offset by the $150.0
million generated from financing activities in 2006 related 0 a structured financing within our Credit
Cards segment that is secured by substantialty all of the credit card receivables associated with our
largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the ]ower end of the FICO scoring range and is
recourse only to the underlying credit card receivables that serve as security for the facility as well as
our net borrowings associated with our investments in debt and ‘equity securities.
|
‘ i

Historically, we have managed draws to fund cardholder purchases under our securitization facilities so as
to meet our cash needs on an “as-needed” basis. Prior to the second quaner of 2003, this strategy generally
allowed us to reduce our unrestricted cash balances to the minimal levels necessary to meet our daily operations

“and investment needs so as to avoid incurring costs on funds not currently needed to fund investments or
operations. During the second quarter of 2005, however, we received substantial net cash flows of $141.7 million

net from our Convertible Senior Notes offering (the $250.0 million Conviertlb]e Senior Notes proceeds, net of

$8.3 million issuance costs and $100.0 million used contemporanecusly to repurchase common shares) and-

$133.0 million ($143.0 million; net of $10.0 million of escrowed cash) fromi the Encore transaction. Addmonally.
|

i
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during the third;quarter of 2005 we received $31.6 million of cash associated with the securitization of our
Fingerhut receivables, and during the fourth quarter of 2005 we completed a second offering of Convertible
Senior Notes resulting in an additional $292.3 million of cash proceeds (the $300.0 million Convertible Senior
Notes proceeds; net of $7.7 million of issuance costs). With these cash flows, we continued our long-standing
strategy of funding cardholder purchases underlying receivables securitized within our originated portfolio
master trust $o as to minimize draws on outstanding securitization facilities. The utilization of this excess cash
can only occur if cash collections from credit card receivables within the securitization trusts are less than
funding requirements for new purchases. To the extent possible and within the structural limitations to which we
are subject, we "expect always to focus'on this cash management strategy because the yields that we can earn on
our cash deposits are less than the costs of funds under our securitization facilities. We are confident with this
strategy because of our ability to draw additional cash from a $1.0 billion 2-year variable funding facility (as well
as a conduit facility) to meet our acquisition and operating needs as they arise in the future. We should also note
that while our fundamental cash management strategy is to reduce draws on securitization facilities where
possible, we expect, as we did in both 2005 and 2006, to continue to borrow during attractive environments to
meet our ongoing acquisition and investment needs. While we may temporarily have excess funds associated
with thése borrowings, our belief when we have borrowed is that we can émploy any borrowed amounts at
returns that meet our return on equity goals.

Signiﬁcant changes in our capital structure during 2006 included:

* In March 2006, we completed a structured financing transaction that is secured by substantially all of
the credit card receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the
lower end of the FICO scoring range. This debt facility is recourse only to the underlying credit card
receivables which serve as security for the facility. In September 2006, we amended this facility to
increase the maximum borrowings limit from $150 million to $350.0 million, improve the advance rates
and pricing and exlend the maturity to March 2008. As of December 31, 2006, $150.0 million was
outstanding under this debt facility; also as of that date. the level of our collateral receivables underlying
this $350.0 million facility was sufficient to support draws on the facility of another $152.5 million
above and beyond the $150.0 million outstanding on the facility as of that date.

|
* In April 2006, our Retail Micro-Loans segment paid off its $40 million of term loans and its $10 million
revolving credit facility. In conjunction with this transaction, we recorded a second quarter 2006 pretax
charge of $791,000 for prepayment fees and to write off deferred debt issuance costs.

* In May 2006, our Board of Directors authorized a new program to repurchase up to an additional
10 million shares of our outstanding common stock. Under the plan, we can repurchase shares of our
common stock from time to time, through June 30, 2008, either on the open market or through privately
negotiated transactions in compliance with SEC guidelines. In August 2006 our pre-existing plan
expifed and as of September 30, 2006, we were authorized 10 purchase 10 million shares under the new
plan. At our discretion, we may use acquired shares in treasury to satisfy option exercises and restricted
stock grants. We will continue to evaluate our stock price relative to other investment opportunities and,
to the extent we believe that the repurchase of our stock represents an appropriate return of capital, we
will repurchase additional shares of our stock.

+ In July 2006, we purchased an additional 11.25% interest in CSG for $16 5 million, thereby increasing
our ownership interest to 61.25%.

¢« In September 2006, we significantly increased our investments in debt securities through the utilization
of borrowings through repurchase agreements and U.S. government securities. Total repurchase
agreements and other borrowings were $111.1 million as of December 31, 2006 and are recourse only 1o
the underlying tnvestments in debt securities that serve as security for the facitity.
1
As of December 31, 2006, our collateral base within our originated portfolio master trust was sufficient to
allow for additional cash draws of $450.4 million against our existing securitization facilities. :
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Considering all of the above factors, along with our unrestricted cash balances of $95.3 million at
December 31, 2006, we had approximately $700.0 million of liquidity available as of December 31, 2006 for use
in our growth, acquisition and diversification efforts. This level of liquidity is more than adequate to meet our
operating needs throughout 2007, as evidenced by our recent ACC acquisition subsequent to year end. We expect”
_to explore acquisition opportunities throughout 2007 and beyond through our efforts to acquire other credit card
receivables portfolios and our expansion into product and service offerings complementary to our sub-prime
consumer market. :

In April 2005, we acquired Wells Fargo Financial’s CAR auto finance business unit. This acquisition
included all of CAR’s assets, business operations and approximately 300 employees for $121.5 million including
transaction costs. The acquisition was financed using $88.2 million in debt with the remainder paid in cash. The
$88.2 million in debt was financed through a structured finance transaction. In that transaction, a newly formed
special purpose subsidiary purchased the receivables and supporting collateral from the business and financed
that acquisition through a secured lending facility with a bank. The debt incurred under that facility is recourse
only to the assets that are pledged to the lénder. We intend to finance any receivables growth in the CAR
business through this same process. The sale of receivables and supporting collateral to this particular special
purpose subsidiary does not qualify for gain-on-sate treatment under Statement No. 140. In February 2007, we
amended the financing facility for our CAR subsidiary. This amcndmem provides for greater operational
flexibility as well as lower pricing. Further, the term of the facility was extended to September 2008. As a part of
this amendment, the facility was reduced in size to $100.0 million. ~

. |

As noted previously, during the first quarter of 2004, we comple[ed a two-year securitization facility with
Merrill Lynch that was issued out of the originated portfolio master trust. This securitization facility provided for
an initial one-year committed funding level of $1.25 billion, growing to a committed funding level to $1.5 billion
in January 2003, with one-year renewal periods (subject to certain conditions precedent) at the expiration of the
initial two-year term. It also included an orderly amortization of the faci!ity at expiration in a manner that is
expected to allow us to receive cash flows that are more than adequate to cover our servicing costs while amounts
borrowed under the facility are repaid by the originated portfolio master truqt Furthermore, it included an
advance rate against the originated portfolic master trust receivables that in management’s opinion is sufficient to
allow us to grow the originated portfolio and provide acceptable returns on equity from our credit card
receivables origination activities. In connection with this new securitization facility, we issued a warrant to
acquire up to 2.4 million shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $22.45 per share. This warrant was
exercised in January 2007. On September 30, 2005, this facility was renewed and extended through January
2008. with reduced costs of funds and other more favorable terms to us than under the initial facility; also, given
that we issued two term facilities out of the originated portfolio master trust in October 2004, thereby reducing
the capacity that we need under this facility, the size of the facility was reduced to $1.0 billion in the renewal to
reduce unused commitment costs associated with the facility.

We expect to continue our efforts in 2007 to acquire other credit card receivables portfolios and our
expansion into product and service offerings complementary to our sub-prime consumer market, both through
organic growth and through acquisitions. We anticipate using some of ouf existing cash reserves (and draw
potential againsi our existing variable funding and conduit securitization facﬁmes} to fund potential acquisitions
during 2007. While these acquisitions may require the use of substantial amoums of cash or may require us to
incur substantial acquisition-related debt financing, we anticipate having more than adequate cash for our
operations during 2007 and for the foreseeable future. Nevertheless, we continue to evaluate potential capital
sources. To the extent that we find the markets attractive enough to us to allow us to obtain long-term committed
funding for future growth and acquisitions, we expect 1o issue the appropriate debt or equity securities. '

Securitization Facilities

Our most significant source of liquidity is the securitization of credit'card receivables. As of December 31,
2006, we had committed total securitization facilities of $2.1 billion, of which we had drawn $1.0 billion
($220.0 million of which remained within an originated portfolio master trust special funding account at

1
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December 31, 2006). At December 31, 2006, the weighted-average borrowing rate on our securitization facilities
was approximately 6.72%. The maturity terms of our securitizations vary.

In the table below, we have noted the securitization facilities (in millions) with respect to which a
substantial majority of our managed credit card receivables serve as collateral as of December 31, 2006,
Foliowing the table are further details concerning each of the facilities.

Maturity date Facility Limit(1)
September 2007(2) ... ... e 306.0
January 200803) . L 1,000.0
October 2000(4) . .. 299.5
October 2010(4) . ... . i S 299.5-
Janu:ary 20014(5) .. T 165.4
January 2001406) .. .. e e 31.3
] O AP $2.101.7

f

(1) Excludes securitization facilities related to receivables managed by our equity-method investees because
such receivables and their related securitization facilities are appropriately excluded from direct presentation
in our consolidated statements of operations or consolidated balance sheet items included herein.

(2) Represen:ls the end of the revolving period for a $306.0 million conduit facility.

(3) This two-year variable funding note facility also contains one-year renewal periods (subject to certain
conditions precedent) at the expiration of the term and an orderly amortization of the facility at expiration.

(4} In October 2004, we completed two new, term securitization facilities that we issued out of our originated
portfolio’ master trust: a 5-year facility represented by $299.5 million aggregate principal notes and a 6-year
facility also represented by $299.5 million aggregate principal notes. To date, we have elected to sell only
$287.0 million of the principal notes underlying the 5-year facility and $264.0 million of the principal notes
underlying the 6-year facility. However, assuming the continuation of current market conditions and
performance within our original portfolio master trust, we believe we can sell the remaining principal notes
under terms advantageous to us should we need additional liquidity from the sale of the notes during the life
of the facilities. )

(5) Represents a ten-year amortizing term series issued out of the' Embarcadero Trust.

(6) Represents the conduit notes associated with our 75.1% membership interest in our majority-owned
subsidiary that securitized the $92.0 million (face amount) of receivables it acquired in the third quarter of
2004 and the $72.1 million (face amount} of receivables it acquired in the first quarter of 2005.

We have never triggered an early amortization within any of the series underlying our originated portfolio
master trust securitizalioné, and we do not believe that we will. Still. it is conceivable that, even with close
management, we may trigger an early amortization of one or more of the outstanding series within these trusts.
Early amortization for any of the originated portfolio master trust securitization series would have adverse effects
on our liquidity, certainly during the early amortization period and potentially beyond repayment of any such
series as potential investors could elect to abstain from future CompuCredit-backed issuances.

+
Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

We have various contractual obligations that are recorded as liabilities in our consolidated financial
statements. Other items, such as certain debt underlying securitization facilities as discussed above and purchase
comimitments, are not recognized as liabilities in our consolidated financial statements but are required to be
disclosed. For example, we are contractually committed to make certain minimum lease payments for the use of
property and equipment under operating lease agreements and arrangements that we classify as capital leases.

¥
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The following table summarizes (in millions) our significant contractual obligations and commercial
commitments at December 31, 2006 and the future periods in which such obligations and commitments are
-expected to be settled in cash. In addition, the table reflects the timing of principal payments on outstanding
borrowings. This table does not reflect regular recurring trade payables I1ncurred in the normal course of business
-and generally due-within 30 days of service. Additional details regarding thése obligations are provided in notes
0 the consolidated financial statements also included herein, as referenced in the table:

Less than 1 year 1-3years 4.5 years More than 5 years Total
Notes payable & other borrowings .......... $151.2 $188.1 ~ $ 16.4 $ 30 . % 3587
, Convertible seniornotes .................. : — —l —_ -550.0 550.0
Securitization facilities(1) ................. 75.0 51210 263.6 196.7 1,047.3
Operating 1€ases . ......ocouveerrerennn.. 19.2 438 32.2 1160 - 211.2
Purchase and other commitments(2)(3) ...... 6.4 83 4.6 L— 19.3
Total .. ..... S A $2518  $7522° $316.8 $865.7 $2,186.5

(1) Asdiscussed above and in Note |2, “Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangeménts " to our consolidated financial

© statements included herein, a substantial majority of the recelvables that we mandge have been transferred to
off-balance-sheet securitization structures. Accordingly, there.is no asqocmuon of these amounts with any
borrowings recorded on.our balance sheet as these securitization facilities are the obligations of the trusts to
which the receivables that we manage have been sold. For purposes‘{éf this table, however, we have included
the debt of the trusts because we service the underlying receivables used to repay the debt facilities even
though we have no fiscal exposure related to the debt other than the!ass‘ets reflected on our consolidated
balance sheet as securitized earning assets. Consistent with other mformauon related to our securitization .
facilities presented herein, this information is as of December 31, 2006

(2) This principally includes long-term purchase and various mamtenance contracts.

(3} Includes purchase commitments and various commitments under employment contracts. Certain purchase
commitments are subject (o performance criteria and generally renewable on a monthly basis after their
initial term. As such, similar amounts can be anticipated to occur in future periods, but will not necessarity
occur-depending on a variety of factors including performance and nsulual agreement to terms.

.

See Note 12, “Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements,” to our consolidated financial staiements included herein
for discussion of our off-balance-sheet arrangements, ! o

_ f.
. I
Commitments and Contingencies .
. : ! :
We also have certain contractual arrangements that would require-us to make payments or provide funding
if certain circumstances occur (“‘contingent commitments”). We do not cuirrently expect that these contingent
commitments will result in any material amounts being paid by us..See Note 17, “Commitments and- ’

Contingencies,” to our consolidated financial statements mcluded herein for further discussion of these matters.

. . - . . . ! - . .
See Note 2, “Significant Accounting Policies,” to our consolidated financial statements included herein for a
discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.” - : ' o

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

. Critical Accounting Estimates !
‘We have prepared our financial statements in accordance with GAAPi These principles are numerous and
complex. We have summarized our significant accoummg policies in the notes 10 our consohdaled financial
statements included herein. [n many instances, the application of GAAP requ1res management to make estimates
or to apply subjective principles to particular facts and circumstances. A variance in the estimates used or a
variance in the application or interpretation of GAAP could yield.a materla]]y different accounting result. It is
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impracticable for us to summarize every accounting principle that requires us to use judgment or estimates in our
application, Descnbed below, however, are the areas for which we believe that the estimations, judgments or
interpretations that we have made. if different, would have yielded the most significant differences in our
consolidated financial statements.

Valuation of Retained Interests

The most significant aspect of our business is the credit card receivables that we service for off-balance-sheet
securilization structures. As of December 31, 2006, there were $1.6 billion of credit card receivables underlying our
securitization programs (excluding those receivables securitized under our equity-method investees). We reflect our
retained interests in these credit card receivables as a component of our securitized earning assets balance on our
consolidated balance sheets. The value of this asset is critical to our financial performance and condition. We
account for the portfolios that we have securitized in accordance with Statement No. 140. See Note 2, “Significant
Accounting Policies,” and Note 12, “Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements.” to our consolidated financial statements
included herein for further discussion. In valuing this asset. we have to estimate several key factors with respect to
the underlying credit card receivables, including yields, payment rates, credit loss rates and appropriate discount
rates. Another significant component of our retained interests valuation for those retained interests accounted for
under Statement No. 140 is the valuation of our retained interests in finance charge receivables and our accrued
interest and fec's, both of which we also reflect within securitized earnings assets on our consolidated balance sheets.
We present these components of our overall retained interest valuation at estimated net realizable values. We
estimate these amounts based principally upon payment and charge-off histories. To the extent that actual results
differ from these estimates, our results of operations and liquidity could be materially affected.

With respect to our securitized portfolios that are accounted for in accordance with Statement No. 140, we
have adjusted the underlying Statement No. 140 and retained interests valuation assumptions significantly over
the last three )'(ears as a result of changing economic conditions and changes in our liquidity position. The most
significant of these changes was our third quarter of 2004 reduction in the residual cash flows discount rate
assumption used to value our /O strips and retained interests based principally on new market conditions that
became apparent to us in the third quarter of 2004 as a result of our negotiation of two new term securitization
facilities that we subsequently completed a few weeks afier the close of the third quarter of 2004. The aggregate
favorable pre-tax effect of third quarter 2004 changes to our residual cash flows discount rate assumption was
$21.7 million. The third quarter 2004 change in our residual cash flows discount rate assumption is not reflective
of a change i in estimating methodoelogy, but rather reflects changes in facts during the third quarter of 2004. As
market circumstances change and as fluctuations occur in the collateralization levels within our securitization
trusts, these factors cause changes in our residual cash flows discount rate assumption. Facts continued to change
in 2003, for example, during which we experienced further decreases in our residual cash flows discount rate.
These decreases resulted from (1) further tightening of spreads on credit card securitization notes that we
experienced in 2005 through (a) our sale to third parties of subordinated bonds in a securitization in the second
quarter of 2005 and (b) the renewal at significantly lower pricing of two-year variable funding notes within our
originated portfolio master trust during the third quarter of 2005, coupled with (2) significantly increased overall
collateral enhancement levels within the originated portfolio master trust during 2005 given our funding of
cardholder purchases. Qur Statement No. 140 models recognize in computing the restdual cash flows discount
rate that variations in collateral enhancement levels affect the returns that tnvestors require within securitization
structures. Collateral enhancement levels increased significantly in 2005 given the liquidity generated by us
based on our second quarter of 2005 Encore transaction and our $250.0 million and $300.0 million Convertible
Senior Note issuances; we funded the majority of cardholder purchases underlying our originated portfolio
master trust during 2005, rather than drawing against originated portfolio master trust conduit and variable
funding note securitization facilities to fund these purchases. These beneficial effects on the residual cash flows
discount rate were offset somewhat, however, by increases in the LIBOR rate over the same period. We have
continued to experience a tightening of the spreads in transactions in which we have participated in 2006; the
tightening of spreads again has served in 2006 to offset increases in our LIBOR base rate in the determination of
our residual cash flows discount rate.
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f
- At December 31, 2006, the following illustrates the hypothetical adverse effect of a 20 percent adverse
change in key economic assumptions on the valuauon of our retained interests in credit card rece:vab]es
- securitized (in thousands): : . . ; .

|- Credit Card

. i Receivables

Net collected yield (annualized) . .......... ... ... ... P $(46,939)
Paymentrate (monthly) ....... .. ... .. ........... PP $ (5.705)
Expected principal credit loss rate (annualized)........... e $(18,101)

~ Residual cash flows discount rate ... ... .. . 0., $ (8,727
Servicing discountrate . ....... ... ... i il S $ (99)

_ These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used with caution. For instance, changes in fair value
-assumptions generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in assumption to the change
in fair value may not be linear. Further, in this table, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair
value of the retained interests is calculated without changing any other assumptions; in reality, changes in one
assumption may result in changes in another. For example increases in market interest rates may result in lower
prepayments and increased credit losses, which could magnify or counteract the sensitivities.

i
In vestments in Previously Charged-Off Receivables l

We account for our investments in. prewous]y charged-off receivables usmg the “cost recovery method” of
accounting in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Position 03-3, “Accounting for Certain Loans or
Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer,” and the AICPA’s Practice Bullétin 6, “Amortization of Discounts on
Certain Acquired Loans.” We establish static pools consisting of homogtlanous accounts and receivables for each
dcquisition. Once we establish a static pool, we do not change the receivzztbles within the pool.

. M i

We record each static pool at cost and account for it as a single unit ‘fdr the economic life of the pool
(similar to one loan) for recovery of our basis, recognition of revenue zmd impairment testing, We earn revenue
from previously charged-off receivables after we have recovered the orlgmal cost for each poo] Each quarter, we
perform an impairment test on each static pool. If the remaining forecastéd collections are less than our current
carrying value, we record an impairment charge, . |

Non-Consolidation of Qualifying Special Purpose Entities

As described above, we have securitized a substantial majority of the credit card recewables that we
manage. In general, these securitizations involve our sale of credit card re’cewables to “qualifying special purpose
entities” (“QSPEs™). QSPEs are governed-by complex documentation, and we have filed the significant
documentation for the QSPEs that we have established as exhibits to our SEC filings. Statement No. 140 governs
how we account for the QSPEs that we have established. In general, Statement No. 140 requires an entity to
recognize the financial and servicing assets it controls and the liabilities it'has incurred—that is, the entity is
required to “consolidate” those assets and liabilities and any related transactions and to derecognize financial
assets when control has been surrendered in accordance with the criteria p|r0v1ded in the statement. Although
Statement No. 140 provides guidance as to whether control has been surrendered, the ultimate determination is
subjective in nature and requires. congiderable judgment. !

L]

We have reviewed the criteria brovided in Statement No. 140 and bclieve that we have surrendered control

with respect to the receivables. Statement No. 140 states that the transferor has surrendered control over

transferred assets if, and only if, all of the following conditions are met: |

‘1. The transferred assets have been isolated from the transferor, put presumptively beyond the reach of

the transferor and its creditors. '
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2. Each transferee has the right to pledge or exchange the assets it has received, and no condition both
constrains the transferee from taking advantage of its right to pledge or exchange and provides more
than a trivial benefit to the transferor.

3. The transferor does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through either (i} an
agreement that both entitles and obligates the transferor to repurchase or redeem them before their
maturity, or (ii} the ability to unilaterally cause the holder to return specific assets, other than through a
clean;up call.

We believe control has been surrendered with regard to receivables that we have transferred to our
securitization structures, and therefore, we treat the transferred assets as having been sold under Statement
No. 140,

Because the application of Statement No. 140 requires subjective judgments, it is possible, although we
believe it is unlikely, that someone viewing our facts and circumstances might conclude that we had not
surrendered control and, as such, that our transfers do not qualify as sales of the receivables. In that event, the
credit card receivables that we have transferred to QSPEs (approximately $1.6 billion as of December 31, 2006)
and any cash balances within the QSPEs would be treated as assets on our consolidated balance sheet, the
securities issued (proceeds raised totaling $1.0 billion as of December 31, 2006) would be treated as liabilities on
our consolidated balance sheet (as secured borrowings) and no gain or loss would have been recognized on the
sale of the receivables. In addition, the credit card receivables would be subject to potential allowances for
non-collectibility and would be classified as restricted assets for the repayment of the securities that were issued.
This would result in a substantially different capital structure for us, although, barring unforeseen diminution in
the value of the credit card receivables in the QSPEs, it would not materiaily impact our cash flows.

Allowance for.Uncollectible Loans and Fees

Through our analysis of loan performance, delinquency data, charge-off data, economic trends and the
potential effects of those economic trends on our customers, we establish an allowance for uncollectible loans
and fees receivable as an estimate of the probable losses inherent within our portfolio of on-balance-sheet loans
and fees receivable. Given the addition of our micro-loan operations during 2004, our aute-finance operations
during 2005 and the significant growth that we have experienced in the receivables underlying our targely
fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, our allowance for
uncollectible loans and fees receivable has become much more material to our financial statements. To the extent
that actual resolts differ from our estimates of uncollectible loans and fees receivable, our results of operations
and liquidity could be marerially affected. The allowance for uncollectible loans and fees receivable has grown
from $54.3 mi!l]ion as of December 31, 2005 to $225.3 million as of December 31, 2006.

Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets and Impairment Analyses

Management uses judgment in assessing goodwill and other long-lived assets for impairment. Goodwill
totaled $120.1 million at December 31, 2006 and represented 5.7% of our total assets. In accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Gooadwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we annually
assess the recoverability of our goodwill, We review the recorded value of our goodwill annually at the
beginning of }he fourth quarter of each year, or sooner if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may exceed fair value. We determine recoverability by comparing the estimated fair value of
the reporting unit to which the goodwill applies 1o the carrying value, including goodwill, of that reporting unit,
We use the present value of expected net cash flows to determine the estimated fair value of our reporting units.
This present value model requires us to estimate future net cash flows, the timing of these cash flows and a
discount rate representing the time value of money and the inherent risk and uncertainty of the future cash flows.
The discount rate applied is the estimated weighted average cost of capital based on the reporting units’ current
cost of debt and an estimated cost of equity derived from market betas of the reporting units’ public market peers.
The assumptions used to estimate future cash flows are consistent with each reporting unit's internal planning. If
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i
- the estimated fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not
impaired. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its esumaled fair value, the implied fair value of
. the reporting unit’s goodwill is compared to the carrying amount of lhat goodwill. If the carrying amount of the
' reporting unit’s goodwili exceeds the lmplled fair value of that goodwxll an impairment Ioss is recognized in an
amount equdl to that excess. i :
We assess our long-lived assets other than goodwill for impairmeﬁl whenever facts and circumstances
- indicate that the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable. To anal'yze recoverability, we project
undiscounted net future cash flows over the remaining life of the at;sets‘ If these projected cash flows are less
than the carrying amount, we recognize an impairment, which resuits i in a write-down of assets with a
_corresponding charge to earnings. We measure the impairment loss basgd upon the difference between the
“carrying amount and the fair value of the assets. |

“Investments in Securities

We periodically invest through the open market in debt and equ1tylsecurmes we believe will provnde us with
‘an adequate rewurn. We generally classify our purchased debt and eqmly securities as trading securities.
Investments in securities classified as tradmg securities totaled $181.4 mllllon as of December 31, 2006. Due to
the nature of these’ mvestmems we rely on third-party evidence to qupporl our valuation estimatés as the
securities generally are not traded in larger market exchanges. Our investments in asset-backed securities include
a mix of investment grade, non-invesument grade, subordinated and dlstressed asset-backed securities, including
CDOs (Collateralized Debt Obilg,auons) CMBS (Collateralized Mortgage Backed Securities) and CMOs
(Collateralized Mortgage Obligations.) We primarily purchase these securities through an unafﬂhated investment
manager that is a registered broker-dealer. !

On a quarterly basis, we review our significant accounting policies i;md the related assumptions, in
particular, those mentioned above, with the audit committee of the boarc? of directors.

: : i
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATEVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Sensmwty and Market Risk ‘ i
*
Interest rate sensitivity is comprised of basis nsk gap risk and market risk. Basis risk is caused by the

difference in the interest rate indices used to price assets and liabilities. Gap risk is caused by the difference in
repricing intervals between assets and liabilities. Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market
prices and rates. Qur principal market risk is related to changes in mleresl rates. This affects us directly in our
lending and borfowing activities, as well as indirectly as interest rates l‘nay impact the payment performance of
our customers.

1 .

We incur basis risk because we fund managed assets at a spread ovélr commercial paper rates or LIBOR,
while the rates on the underlying managed assets are indexed to the primfl: rate. This basis risk results from the
potential variability over time in the spread between the prime rate on the one hand, and commercial paper rates
and LIBOR on the other hand. We have not hedged our basis risk because we believe that the cost of hedging this
risk is greater than the benefits we would get from elimination of this rlsk We incur gap risk because the debt
underlying our securitization trust facilities reprices monthly; whereas, our receivables do not adjust unless we
specifically adjust them-with appropriate notification. This gap risk, howel_:ver. is relatively minor as we can
reprice the substantial majority of our receivables very quickly in response to a rate change.

As to the issue of market risk, we attempt to minimize the impact of ‘interest rate fluctuations on net income
by regularly evaluating the risk inherent within our asset and liability structure, especially our off-balance-sheet
assets (such as securitized receivables) and their corresponding lmt:nlmeaI The impact of interest rate fluctuations
on our securitized receivables is reflected in the valuation of our retained Imterests in credit card receivables
sécuritizéd. This risk arises from continuous changes in our asset and li;tblility mix, changes in market interest
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rates (mcludmg such changes that are caused by fluctuations in prevailing interest rates, payment trends on our
interest-earning assets and payment requirements on our interest-bearing liabilities) and the general timing of all
other cash flows. To manage our direct risk to interest rates, management actively monitors interest rates and the
interest sensitive components of our securitization structures. Management seeks to minimize the impact of
changes in interest rates on the fair value of assets, net income and cash flows primarily by matching asset and
liability repricings. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be successful in our attempts 1o manage
such risks. '

At December 31, 2006, a substantial portion of our managed credit card receivables, including those related
to our equity-method investees, and other interest-carning assets had variable rate pricing, with receivables
carrying annual percentage rates at a spread over the prime rate (8.25% at December 31, 2006), subject to interest
rate floors. At Dccember 31, 2006, $20.3 million of our total managed receivables were priced at their floor rate,
of which, $10. 4 million of these receivables were closed and therefore ineligible to be repriced and the remaining
$9.9 million were open and eligible to be repriced. Every 10% increase in LIBOR that we experience until the
$10.4 million in closed account receivables reach their floor rate would result in an approximate $39,000
after-tax negative impact on our annual cash flows. Nevertheless, to the extent we choose to reprice any of the
$9.9 million of receivables underlying the open accounts that are below their floor rate, we can mitigate against
any possible adverse impacts of these open accounts on our cash flows.

We believe we are not exposed to any material foreign currency exchange rate risk or commodity price risk.

ITEMS. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See the Index to Financial Statements in Item 15. “Exhibits and Financial Statements Schedules.”

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of CompuCredit Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal -
control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)) for CompuCredit
Corporation and our subsidiaries. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the
supervision of our principal executive and financial officers to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external reporting purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Under the supervision
and with the participation of management, including our principal executive and financial officers, we conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on
the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (*COSO™).

Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, management has
concluded that internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006. Management's
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 has been
audited by BDO Seidman, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its attestation
report, which is included on the following page.
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;
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
. The Board of Directors :
- CompuCredit Corporation ’

We have audited management’s assessment, included in Managerqeril’s Report on-Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting reflected in Item 8 of Form 10-K, that CompuCredit Corporation and subsidiaries (the
,“*Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoering
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO” criteria). The Company’s management is responsible
[for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and fdr its assessment about the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on management's
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit. |

We Conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Publlc Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
"about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was m.untamed in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over fi nancllal reporting, evaluating management's
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion. ‘

A company’s internal control over financial reporiing is a process desngned to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of fmancul statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (]) pertain to the mamtenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; {2} provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparauon of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made-
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company: and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquiéition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reploning may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become 1nadequale because of changes in condmons or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate, |

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintaiﬁed effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 is fairly stated, in all material réspects based on the COSO criteria.
Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effeclwe internal control over financial
reportmg as of December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria. I

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public éompany Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of CompuCredit Corporauon and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the related consolidated statements of operatlons shareholders’ equity and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 and our report dated February 21,
2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 27, 2007 :
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND

FINANCIAL DlSCLOSURE

None.

- ]
i
t

ITEM 9A. CQNTROLS AND PROCEDURES

As of Decémber 31, 2006, an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rule 13a—15(¢) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) was carried out on behalf of
CompuCredit Corporation and its subsidiaries by our management with the participation ¢ of our Chief Executive
Officer and Ch1ef Financial Officer. Based upon the evaluation, management concluded that these dlsclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of December 3t, 2006.

{

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and the Report of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon are set forth in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our independent registered public accounting firm has atiested to and reported on management's assessment of
internal control over financial reporting as qtated in its attestation report, which is also included in Part I1, Item 8

of this report. j‘

In acldilio;n during the fourth quarter of our year ended December 31, 2006, no change in our internal
control over ﬁnancml reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) -
occurred that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over

financial reportmg
i

ITEM 9B. ofrHER INFORMATION

- None. I
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PART III

A

. ITEM 10. omECTo"RS li:x'ECU-TIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

‘The mformauon tequired by-this ltem will-be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting
of Shareholders in the sections entitled “Elecnon of Directors,” ‘Executlve Officers of CompuCredit,”
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownershlp Reponmg Comp]xance and * Corporate ‘Governance” and is incorporated

i by reference . . "

".*,r-

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

1
1

The lnformauon required by this hem will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeung

.of Shareholders in the sections entitled “Executive’ Compensation,” “Director Compensation,”

“Compensation

‘Committee Interlocks and Ins:der Pame:pauon ancl Compensation Committee: Report,” and is mcorporated by

“reference.

N ]
B .

4
i
i

AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

1

JITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for.the 2007 Annual Meeting

_of Shareholders in the sections entitled “Security Ownership of Certain |

is ineorporated-by reference. : '

N

Beneficial Owners and Management” and

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

r

The informalion required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy;Statemem for the 2007 Annual Meeting

of Shareholders in the sections entitled “Related Party Transactions™ dnd “Corporate Governance” and is

- incorporated by reference.
i

_ ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT.FEES AND SERVICES

|

1

i
The information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy'-Slatemenl for the 2007 Annual Meeting
of Shareholders in the section entitled “Auditor Fees” and is incorporated by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. E)!'(HI'BITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
The follm%ving documents are filed as part of this Report:

|
1.F iPancial Statements

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i . .
] .
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ......... ... ... ... ... ... . ...

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2006 and 2005 "........................
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and-

2004 e e e
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2006,

2005 and 2004 . e e e e e e e
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and

200 b .
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31 ,2006and 2005 .......... ..

}
2. Financial Statement Schedules

!
None.

]

T

Page




3. Exhibits

I Incorporated by reference from

CompuCredit Corporation and Richard R.
House, Jr.
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Exhibit CompuCredit’s SEC filings unless
+ Number Description of Exhibit l otherwise indicated:
3.1 Articles of Incorporation. Augus'_t 27, 1998, Form S-1, exhibit 3.1
32 Articles of Ameridment to Articles of Auguslt 14, 2000, Form 10-Q, exhibit 3.1(a)
Incorporation. -
3.3 Bylaws. May 1:5 2006, Form 8-K. exhibit 3.1
4.1 Form of common stock certificate. April 1:2, 1999, Form S-1, exhibit 4.1
42 Indenture dated May 27, 2005 with U.S. Bank May 31, 2005, Form 8-K, exhibit 4.1
Nauonal Association, as successor to Wachovia i .
Bank, National Association. )
43 Resale'Registration Rights Agreement dated May 3 l 2005, Form 8-K, exhibit 4.2
May 27, 2005. i
. . |
4.4 Indenture dated November 23, 2005 with U.S. November 28, 2005, Form §8-K, exhibit 4.1
' Bank National Association, as successor to '
Wachovia Bank, National Association. l
4.5 Resale Registration Rights Agreement dated Noveml!?er 28, 2005, Form 8-K, exhibit 4.2
November 23, 2005.
i0.1 Stockholders Agreement dated as of April 28, January’i 18, 2000, Form S-1, exhibit 10.1
1999:
10.2% 1998 Stock Option Plan. August 27, 1998, Form S-1, exhibit 10.2
10.2(a)t 2000 Stock Option Plan. March 3.‘0, 2001, Proxy Statement, Appendix A
10.2(bY+ 2003 Stock Option Plan. March I, 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.2(b)
“10.2(c)t 2004 Restricted Stock Plan. March I, 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.2(c)
10.2(dy+ Form of Restricted Stock Agreement— March 8 2005, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.2(d)
Directors. .
10.2{e)t Form of Restricted Stock Agreement— March 8, 2005, Form |0-K, exhibit 10.2(¢)
Employees. Z
10.2(f}t Form of Stock Option Agreement—Directors. March 8.| 2005, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.2(f)
10.2(g)7 Form of Stock ‘Option Agreement—Employees. March 8,; 2005, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.2(g)
10.3(a)t CompuCredit Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Decembt?r 16, 1999, Form S-8, exhibit 4.3
10.3(b)t First Amendment to the CompuCredit Filed hcr%:with !
Employee Stock Purchase Plan. i
10.4% Employment Agreement for Richard R. House,  March 36, 2001, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.3(a)
Jr. :
104@)7T Restricted Stock Agreement, dated May 9, 2006  May 15, 2006, Form 8-K, exhibit 10.1
between CompuCredit Corporation and Richard ‘
R. House, Jr.
10.4(b)t Option Agreement, dated May 9, 2006 between  May 15, 2:006, Form 8-K, exhibit 10.2




Exhibit-
Number

|
:
|
?.
|

Description of Exhibit

Incorporated by reference from
CompuCredit’s SEC filings unless
. otherwise indicated:

10.57
10.61

10.71
0.8t
10.8(a)}
10.9% .
10.10
10.10(2)
10.10(b)
10.10(c)

- 10.10(d)

| 10.11

10.11(2)
10.11(b)
10.11(c)
IIO.II(d)
10.11e)

10.11(F)

Employment Agreement for David G. Hanna.

E:mployment Agreement for Richard W.
C'}ilbert.

Employmem Agreement for J.Paul Whitehead,
11

Employment Agreement for Krishinakumar
Sﬁnivasan.

i .

Warrant Agreement with Krishinakumar
Srinivasan..

i

Outside Director Compensation Pdckage.

|
Amended and Restated Affinity Card
Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2005, with
‘Columbus Bank and Trust Company.

P]edge and Security Agreement, dated as of
September 23, 2002, in favor of Columbus
Bank and Trust Company.

_'Receivables Purchase and Security Agreement,
dated as of September 23, 2002, with Columbus
Bank and Trust Company.

Recewables Purchase and Securlty Agreement,
dated as of September 23, 2002, with Columbus
'Bank and Trust Company.

Shareho]ders Agreement, dated as of
September 23, 2002, with Columbus Bank and
Trusl Company.

'Master Indenture, dated as of July 14, 2000,
ramong CompuCredit Credit Card Master Note
‘Business Trust, The Bank of New York, and

, CompuCredit Corporation.

i
First Amendment to Master Indenture dated as
of September 7, 2000,

I Second Amendment to Master Indemure dated
vas of April 1, 2001.

| Third Amendment to Master Indenture dated as

. of March 18, 2002,
|

7 Form of Indenture Supplemem.

I Series 2004-One Indenture Supplement dated
i January 30, 2004, to the Master Indenture.

: :

i First Amendment to Series 2004-One Indenture
Supplement, dated September 30, 2005.
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March 30, 2001, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.3(c)
March 30, 2001, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.3(d)

January 17, 2006, Form 8-K, exhibit 10.1

January 9, 2007, Form 8-K, exhibit 10.1

Mairch 8, 2005, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.8(a)

November 9,-2006, Form 8-K, exhibit 10.1
December 7, 2005, Form 8-K, exhibit 10.1

November 14, 2002, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.2
November.l4, 2002, Form lO-t}, exhibit 10.3
November 14, 2002, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.4
November 14, 200-2, Fnrrn 10-Q), exhibit 10.5

November 14, 2000, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.1

November 14, 2000, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10, 1(a)

March 1, 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.9(b)}

March 1, 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.9(c)

November 22, 2000; Form 10-Q/A.

-exhibit 10.1(b)

‘March 1, 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.9¢e)

March 2, 2006, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.10(f)




Incorporated by reference from

Agreement for CompuCredit Credit Card
Master Note Business Trust 111, dated as of
March 10, 2006.

80

Exhibit . CompuCredit’s SEC filings unless
Number Description of Exhibit -otherwise indicated:
10.11{g) Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of Marcﬁ 24, 2003, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.11
_July 14, 2000, among CompuCredit Funding !
Corp., CompuCredit Corporation, CompuCredit ;
Credit Card Master Note Business Trust and |
The Bank of New York. :
[0.11¢h) First Amendment to Transfer and Servicing November 14, 2000, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.2(a)
Agreement dated as of September 7, 2000. :
10.01(D) Second Amendment to Transfer and Servicing March 30, 2001, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.8(b)
Agreement dated as of December 28, 2000. i
10.11() Third Amendment to Transfer and Servicing Murch;rl, 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.10(c)
Agreement dated as-of Apnil 1, 2001, !
5 _ \
10.11{k) Fourth Amendment to Transfer and Servicing Marchll, 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.10(d)
Agreement dated as of August 3, 2001. :
10.11(D Fifth Amendment to Transfer and Servicing March :l, 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.10(e})
Agreement dated as of August 20, 2002, I
10.11(m) Sixth Amendment to Transfer and Servicing March Il. 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.10(f}
Agreement dated as of April 1, 2003. :
10.11(n) Seventh Amendment to Transfer and Servicing  March I 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.10(g)
Agreement dated as of Jung 26, 2003. :
: i .
10.11(0) Eighth Amendment to Transfer and Servicing March 2, 2006. Form 10-K, exhibit 10.10{0)
Agreement dated as of December 1, 2004. !
10.11(p) Ninth Amendment to Transfer and Servicing March 2 2006, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.10(p)
Agreement dated as of June 10, 2005. :
10.12 Nole Purchase'Agreemcnt, dated January 30, March 1, 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.9(f)
2004, among Merrill Lynch Mortgage Capital :
Inc., CompuCredit Funding Corp.. _
CompuCredit Corporation, and CompuCredit ,
Credit Card Master Note Business Trust. .
10.12(a) First Amendment to the Note Purchase March 2, 2006, Form 10-K, exhibit 10.11(a)
: Agreement, dated September 30, 2005. :
10.13 Share Lending Agreement. Noveml;)er 22, 2005, Form 8-K, exhibit 10.1
10.14* Receivables Financing Agreement among CAR  August 3, 2005, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.18
Funding, Inc., certain sellers and guarantors, ‘
dated as of April 1, 2005. i
10.15 Receivables Purchase Agreement for August I2 2006, Form 10-Q), exhibit 10.3
CompuCredit Credit Card Master Note
Business Tn_lsl M, dated as of September 30,
2003, with Columbus Bank and Trust
Company.
10.16 First Amendment to the Receivables Purchase August 2, 2006, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.4




Exhibit
Number

| Description of Exhibit

Incorporated by reference from
CompuCredu s SEC filings unless

otherwise indicated:

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21
10.22

10.23

10.24

12.1

211
23.1
311
31.2
32.1

99.1

99.2

Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase August 2, 2006, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.5
Agreement for CompuCredit Credit Card Master .
Note Business Trust 111, dated as of January 3,

20035, as amended and restated as of March
2006, with CompuCredit Funding Corp. 111

L
Master Indenture for CompuCredit Credit

Master Note Business Trust 111, dated as of
March 10, 2006, among CompuCredit Credit

Card Master Note Business Trust 111, U.S.
National Association, and CompuCredit
Corporation.

10,

Card  August 2, 2006, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.6

Bank

Series 2006-One Supplement to Master Iindenture  August 2, 2006, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.7

:for CompuCredit Credit Card Master Note

Busincss Trust I11, dated as of March 10, 2006.

Tranbfer and Servicing Agreement for
CompuCredu Credit Card Master Note

August 2, 2006, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.8

Business Trust 111, dated as March 10, 2006,

among CompuCredit Funding Corp. 111,

CompuCredit Corporation, CompuCredit Credit
Card Master Note Business Trust Il and U.S.

Bank National Assoctation.
|
‘Form of Note Purchase Agreement.

) , .
Affinity Card Agreement, dated as of

August 2, 2006, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.9
. November 6, 2006, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.1

|September |5, 2006, with First Bank & Trust,

tAffinity Card Agreement; dated as of

November 6, 2006, Form 10-Q, exhibit 10.2

,February 16, 2005, with First Bank of Delaware.

IMdnaged Account Agreement, dated as of Filed herewith

i Management LLC.

i Computation of Ratio of Eamings to Fixe
| Charges.

| Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
i Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP.
! Certification of David G. Hanna.

b
~ I Certification of J.Paul Whitehead, III.

- 1September 1, 2006, with United Capital Asset

d Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith

« Certification of David G. Hanna and J.Paul Filed herewith

! Whitehead, 11

1
" Charter of the Audit Committee of the Board of  March 1, 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 99.1

» Directors.

| Charter of the Nominating and Corporate
' Governance Committee of the Board of
' Directors,

March 1, 2004, Form 10-K, exhibit 99.2

*  Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to portions of this exhibit.
T Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.
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| Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
I "
- The Board of Directors
CompuCredit Corporation
- I

]

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CompuCredit Corporation and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsnblllty is to
express an opmlon on these financial statements based on our audits.

|‘

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversighi
Board (United Slates) Those standards require that.we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence suppomng the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accéunung principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall ﬁnanc;al statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

.

In our oplmon the consolldaled l"nancml statements referred 1o above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial posmon of CompuCredit Corporation and subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
results of its operauon% and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 in
conformity with accountmg principles generally accepted'in the United States of America.

|

We have a]sfo audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006, based on chtend established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Orgamzalmns of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 27, 2007 expres-;ed an
unqualified oplmon thereon.

¥

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

Atlanta, Georgia‘
February 27, 2007

'




CompuCredit Corporation and Slleldlal'lES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Dollars in lhousands):

December 31,

2006 2005
Assets
Cash and cash cquwalenls (including restricted cash of $15,104 and $11,065 at |
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively) ........... ... ... e $ 110,412 $ 240,655
Securitized BarNIng aSSEIS . ... ..ottt et e 801,715 786,983
Non-securitized earning assets, net: |
Loans and fees receivable, net (of $118,005 and $100,414 in deferred revenue
and $225.319 and $54,240 in allowances for uncollectible loans and fees
receivable at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively) ................. 653,716 375919
Investments in previously charged-off receivables .. ...... ... L 12,871 16,993
Investments in SECUTILIES . . ..o r it it ane e e e 141,657 75,399
U.S. government securities resale agreements ... ... O 50,577 —
Deferred COSS, MEL « o o o oo ot e e e e e e e e 25,762 31,012
Software, furniture, fixtures and equipment, nel. . ... ... ... .t 63,986 48,383
Investments in equity-method investees . .................. ..., e 83,038 69,343
Intangibles, nel ... ... ... ... e . 12,382 13,749
Goodwill ..... L e e e e e e e e e 120,115 130,800
Prepaid expenses and otherassets ......... ... .. ... o oiononoai 37,666 31,954
TOML ASSELS + + v e e e et e e e e e e e $2,113,897 $1,821,190
. !
Liabilities ‘
Accounts payable and accrued €Xpenses . . ... .. e i $ 112453 5 96483
Notes payable and other borrowings . ... .. .. ... ... ... ... ... S SN 358,694 165,186
Convertible SENIOTMOTES .. ..o v vt e e e aad e 550,000 550,000
Deferred revenue primarily from forward flow agreement ... .................... 55,260 67.585
" Current and deferred income tax liabilities . ............ ... .. . ... . 112,983 129,283
Total liabilities . ... s 1,189,390 1,008,537
MENOTIEY INEIESLS . . vttt e et e et ettt et et e e e e et et e et e 40,567 45,442
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)
Shareholders’ equity
. Common stock, no par value, 150,000,000 shares authecrized: 59,464, 2I6 shares
issued and 55,093,686 shares outstanding at December 31, 2006 (including
5,677,950 loaned shares to be returned); and 59,080,610 shares 1ssued and
54,628,020 shares outstanding at December 31, 2005 (including 5,677,950 toaned
sharestobereturned) . ... ...... . . . . ... ... e G — —
Additional paid-incapital ...... ... . . . e 321,022 312,752
Treasury stock, at cost, 4,370,530 and 4,452,590 shares at December 3l 2006 and
2005, respectively ... .o P (124,084)  (125,068)
Y ATTANES . .ttt e e e e e e e 25,610 25,610
CRetained earnings .. ... 661,392 553,917
Total shareholders’ equity .................. P 883,940 767.211
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity . ...... ... ... i, $2.113,897 §$1,821.190

See accompanying notes.
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CompuCredit Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations
{Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

For the year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Interest income:
Consumer loans, including pastduefees ........................ $278994. $ 113,308 § 32,671
8 1 1<) RO U 19,142 12.307 8,012
Total INEETESt INCOMIE . . oottt e e e e e et ans 208.136 125,615 40,683
INEEIESt EXPENSE & .\ e vt e ettt ee et e e e (52472)  (33,971) 4,729
Net interest income before fees and related income on non-securitized
earning assets and provision forloan losses . ................... 245,664 91,644 - 35954
Fees and related income on non-securitized earning assets .......... 596,411 477482 241984
Provision forloanlosses .......... ... ... oo (512.579) (140,660) (61,944)
Net interest income, fees and related income on non-securitized earning
assets ..... e e e 329,496 428,466 215994
Other operating income:
Fees and related income on securitized earning assets .............. 200,232 127,779 158,192
Servicing iNCOIME . . ..ottt i aa e 090,855 143,128 92,297
Ancillary and interchange revenues .............. .. ... i 43318 28,954 24,271
Equity in income of equity-method investees . .................... 106,883 45,627 1,987
Total other OPerating iNCOME . . . . ... .v vttt ittt aaeenns 441,288 345488 276,747
Other operating expense:
Salariesand benefits .. ... .. 50,211 33,815 22,287
Card and loan Servicing .. ...t i iiia s 259,496 238,599 163,118
Marketing and solicitation . .......... ... 106,063 *© 95,280 42,070
Depreciation . ... ..o e 32.843 18,593 15,973
Goodwill impairment ... ... .. ... .. e 10,546 — —
10 43T~ 130,797 104,475 69,879
Total other Operating CXpense . ... ... ...t 589,956 490,762 313,327
Income before'minorily interests and inComMe taxes ........ ... oeeenn- 180,828 283,192 179,414
Minority interests . .. ... .. i e (12,898) (13,349) (22,345)
Incomc before INCOME LAXES . .. . ..ottt ittt e e iainne s . 167,930 , 269,843 157,009
INCOME BAXES ' . .\ oottt P (60,455)  (98,493)  (56,350)
Nl i COMIE . .\ e et e e e e e e e e e e e $ 107,475 $ 171,350 $100,719
Net income attributable to common shareholders . ..................... $ 107,475 $171,350 $ 96,315
Net income per common share—basic ............... ... .. ..ol 5 221 % 346 $§ 197
Net income per common share—diluted . ... ... .o L $ 214 $ 334 38 193

See accompanying notes.
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Bai_ance at December 3 I, 2003 o

Proceeds from stock options

eXercises ..o...........

. CompuCredit Corporation and Silhsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

{Dollars in thousands) L.
|

Common Stock

Use of treasury stock for stock-

based compensation plans . ..

Preferred dividends
Accretion of preferred

dividends . ............

Conversion of preferred stock to

common stock

Issuance of warrant .. ... ...
Issuance of restricted stock .. ..

Amortization of deferred
compensation plans

Purchase of treasury stock ..

Tax benefit related to stock-

based compensation plans ...
Netincome ......... s

" Balance at December 31, 2004

Proceeds from stock options

EXEICISES - .. .uiiin.en.

Uise of treasury stock for stock-

based compensation plans ...

Issuance of restricted stock,

net ........ ... ..,

Amortization of deferred
compensation plans

-Purchase of treasury stock ..

Consideration for share lending

agreement ..., ........0

Tax benefit related to stock-

. .based compensation plans ...
Netincome ..............

Balance at December 31, 2005
"{  Proceeds from stock options
exercises . ... ...:....

Use of treasury stock for stock-

“based compensation plans

Issuance of restricted stock .-..."

Amortization of deferred
_ . compensation plans
+ Tax benefit related 1o stock-

based compensation plans . ..
Netincome ........, ...,

Balance at December 31, 2006 ..

- Additional Other Total
‘Preferred  Shares Paid-In  Treasury Changes Retained Shareholders’
Stock © Issued  Amount Capital . Stock  in Equity Earnings Equity °
... 541997 47885506 33— $250.35‘0 $ (4,586) F — 286252 §$574.013
' !
. — 413.323 —_ 4,84} — — — 4,843
—  (3318854) —  (L73% 1738 — — —
ce. — —_ = — — — (4,404) (4.404)
. 4,582 — — — — — — 4,582
!
... (46,579) 5,164,778 — 46,579 — — — —
. — — —_ —i — 25610 — 25610
— 34,500 — — — — — —
. — —_ — 456 — — — 456
ce. — — — — (23.873) — — (23,873)
— — — 1,944 — — — 1,944
— — — —! — — 100,719 100,719
-8 — 33159253 35— $302,434 § (26,721) $25.610 $382.567 $ 683.890 ‘
e — 477451 — 3.9402 — — — 3,940
I
— (477.451) — (2.530) 2,530 — — -
A _— 243407 — — , — — — —
ce —_ — — 3,036 — — — 3.036
. - R — — { (100877  — — (100877
L = 5677950 — 7, - — — 7
—_ — — 5.865 ; — — — 5.865
- . S — - ! — — 171350 171,350
... $ — 59080610 S— $312.752 ',$(125.068) 525,610 $553.917 '$ 767.211
— 74,550 — Ti6 . — — — 716
. —  (82060) — (984)' 984 — — —
— 391,116 — — — — —_ —
|
e — — — 8,308 1 — — — 8,308
— — — 230 — — — 230
e — —_ — — 1 — — 107,475 107.475
... 5  — 59464216 $— 5321022 $(I24.084) $25.610 $661,392 5 883940

See accompanying notes.
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! CompuCredit Corporation and Subsidiaries
’ Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
' (Dollars in thousands)

Operating activities!

B 1o« 17

Adjustments 10 reconctlc net income to net cash provided by operaung activities:

Depreciation EXPEISE . . . . o .ottt ittt e ettt e e
Impairmentof goodwill ... ... .. e
Provision for loan 108885 . ... ... . i e
Amortization of intangibles .. ... .. .. e
Accretion of deferred revenue .. .. .. ... i e
Stock-based compensulion XPeNsSe .. ..o ovo i
MINOrItY IMIETESS . . oo ittt ittt e e
Retained interesis income and securitization gains adjustments, net . .................
Unrealized gain on debt and equity securities classified as trading securities . .. ........
Gainon bulk sale of receivables . ... ... . e
Provision (benefit) for deferred taxes ... ... .. ... ... e
[ncome in excess of distributions from equity-method investments ..................

Changes in assets and liabilities, exclusive of business acquisitions:
Net increase in debt. equity and U.S. government securities classified as rading

SECUIILIES . ottt et et e e e e i e e s
Increase in uncollected fees on non-securitized earning assets ..................
Decrease {increase) indeferred costs .. ... ... i
(Decreasé) increase tn income tax lability ... ... ... .. .. i
Increase (decrease) indeferredrevenue ... ... i e
L0117 R U

Net cash provided by operating activities . ........ ... . o i

Investing activities

Investments in equity-method investees ......... ... ... . ..
Proceeds from equity-method investees .. ... ... .. i s
Investments in securitized earning assets ..., .. .... e e -
Proceeds from securitized eaming assels . ... ... i i i e
Investments in non-securitized eamMing ASSELS .o oottt e
Praceeds from non-securitized earning assets .. .......cooiiieiinir et
Acquisitions of sub-prime lenders’ assels ........ ... ... ... i oo e
Purchases and deve‘.lopmcnl of software, furniture, fixtures and equipment ................

Net cash used in investing activities ....... e e e

Financing activities

Minority interests {(distribution)}, net of contribution . ............ ... o i
Proceeds for share lending agreement .. ....... ... .. e e e
Proceeds from exercise of SIOCK OPLONS ... ... ot
Purchase of treasury Stock . ...
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible SenIOE IOLeS . . .. ..ol
Debt issuance costs L o .l i e e e e
Proceeds from BOTOWINGS . ... oo vu v e
Repayment of borrowmgs ......................................................

Net cash provlde'd by financing activities ........... .. .. i e e

Net (decrease} increaseincash ................. L
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ...

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year . U

Supplemental cash flow information

Cash paid FOr iNMEIESE ..\ o .\t vttt ettt e e et ey

Cash paid {07 IDEOME EAXES .+ .\ v v ittt e e ettt et et et e e

Supplemental non-cash information

[ssuance Of WaITANt .. . .. ... i it aa i e e
Notes payable z{ssociated with capital leases ... ..... e e
Notes pavable associated with investments in securities .. ... e
Accretion of preferred stock BVIBNAS o oo

Issuance of stock options and restricted stock .. ... ... o o e

. See accompanying notes.
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For the year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
$ 107475 $ 171350 $ 100,719
32,843 18,593 15,973
10,546 = _
512,579 140,660 61,944
5.016 3.400 1310
(25.606) - (33.566)  (32.187)
8,308 3036 456
12.898 13.309 22,345
54,514 (19.574) 95.931

- 4201y (2,413) (257)
— (69.559) =
33062 . (388) (5.189)
(2369)  (18,000) (1.492)
(113.873) (42883  (17.807)
(100.748)  (56.558)  {58.775)
5.250 2075 (1.560)
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CompuCredit Corporation and SllJbsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2006 and 2005

1. Description of Business i

Our accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CompuCredit Corporation and
those entities that we control, principally our majority-owned subsidiaries, We provide various credit and related
financial services and products to, or associated with, the underserved (or sub-prime} and “un-banked” consumer
markets. We serve these markets principally through our marketing and solicitation of credit card accounts and
our servicing of various credit card receivables underlying both originated and acquired accounts. Because only
financial institutions can issue general-purpose credit cards and charge‘ cards, we contract with third-party
_ financial institutions pursuant to which the financial institutions issue general purpose Visa and MasterCard
. credit card$ and we purchase the recetvables relating to such accounts 'Ion a daily basis. We market to cardholders
other fee-based products, inctuding card registration, memberships in preferred buying clubs, travel services,
debt waiver and credit life, disability and unemployment insurance. Our product and service offerings also
include small-balance, short-term cash advance loans (generally less thlan $500 for less than 30 days and to which
we refer as “micro-loans™), installment loans and stored-value cards marketed through various channels,

* including retail branch locations, direct marketing, telemarketing and lhe Internet. We also purchase and service

- auto loans through and for a pre-qualified network of dealers in the “Buy Here/Pay Here” used car business and
motorcycle, all-terrain vehicle and personal watercraft loans through and for pre-qualified networks of dealers in

_these products. Lastly, our licensed debt collections subsidiary purchases and collects previously charged-off
receivables from us, the trusts that we service and third parties.

i

~ 2. Significant Accounting Policies and Consolidated Financial Staitement Components

The following'is a summary of significant accounting policies followed in preparation of our consolidated
ﬁnancm] statements, as well as a description of significant components 6f our consolidated financial staiements.
|

We have prepared our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally .
accepted in the United States.of America ("GAAP™), and these principles require us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and

] lldbllllles as of the date of our consolidated financial statements, as well Ias the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. We base these estimates on mformatton available to us as of the date of the
financial statements: Actual results could differ materially from these e*ngmates Certain estimates, such as credit
losses, payments. discount rates and the yield'earned on securitized receiyables, can significantly affect the gains
and losses recorded on securitizations and the values of retained mteresls in credit card receivables securitized:
addmonally, estimates of futurc credit losses on our un-securitized loans and fees receivable can slgmﬁcantly
affect the provlsmn for loan losses and loans and fees receivable, net. :

- _

We have reclassified certain amounts in prior period financial statements to conform to the current period

presentation, and we have eliminated all significant intercompany ba]ances and transactions for financial

repomng purposes. |

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, money market mvestmcnts and overnight deposits. We con51der
all highly liquid cash investments with low interest rate risk and mdtl.IIl[leS of three months or less to be cash
equwalems Cash equivalents are camed at cost, which approximates market.

: 1
Restricted Cash T i

Pursuant to our sale of ‘previousiy charged-off receivables and forwan!:j flow contract with Encore Capital
Group, [nc. (“Encore™ (see Note 5, “Sale of Previously Charged-Oft Rece_iiv_ables and Forward Flow Contract™),

: |
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we were required'to place into escrow $10.0 million of the gross proceeds associated with the transaction. We
have disclosed the cash associated with this escrow account as restricted cash on the face of the consolidated
balance sheets as'of December 31, 2006 and 20035, and the release of these funds will occur upon performance of
certain conditions under the forward flow contract with Encore.

|
Restricted cash balances at December 31, 2006 and 2005 also include cash collateral balances underlying
standby letters of credit that have been ISSUCd in favor of certain regulators in connection with our micro-loan
activities.

Asset Securitization

We t;ecurmze a significant majority of our credit card receivables. When we sell receivables in
securitizations, we retain certain undivided ownership interests, interest-only (“l/O”} strips and servicing rights.
Although we contmue to service the underlying credit card accounts and the customer relationships, we treat
these securitizations as sales, and the securitized receivables are not reflected on our consolidated balance sheets.
The retained ownership interests and the [/O strips associated with the receivables sold in our securitizations are
included in semlirilized earning assels on the face of our consolidated balance sheets.

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities” {*Statement No. 140™), we recognize gains and losses at the
time of each rece:vable (or “financial asset”) sale. These gains or losses depend on the previous carrying amount
of the financial assets sold and on the fair value of the asseis and cash proceeds received. The cash flows used to
measure the gains and losses represent estimates of finance charges and late fees, servicing fees, costs of funds
paid to investors, payment rates, credit losses and any required amortizing principal payments to investors.

We initially record a servicing liability within a securitization structure when the servicing fees we expect to
receive do not provide adequate compensation for servicing the receivables. We record this initial servicing
liability at estimated fair market value, and then we evaluate and update our estimate of the servicing liability’s
fair value at each quarter end. We include changes in servicing liability fair value within fees and related income
on securitized earning assets on our consolidated statements of operations (and more specifically as a component
of income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized as scheduled in Note 12, “Off-Balance-
Sheet Arrangements”™), with our recording of actual servicing expenses into operations as they are incurred.
Because quoted market prices generally are not available for our servicing liabilities, we estimate fair value
based on the estimated present value of future cash flows using our best estimates of key assumptions as outlined
in Note 12, “Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements.” We net the servicing liability against the value of the [/O strip in
our determination of securitized earning assets on our consolidated balance sheets. In accordance with Statement
No. 140 and Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) Interpretation No. 46R, “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities,” we do not consolidate any of the qualifying special purpese entities (“QSPE%”) that
participate in'our securitizations. :

We account for our retained interests in securitized receivables as trading securities and report them at
estimated fair market value, with changes in fair value included in operations in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equiry Securities.”
The estimates we use to determine the gains and losses and the related fair values of 1O strips and retained
interests are influenced by factors outside of our control. and such estimates could materially change from period
to period. We include the income effects of the /O strips and retained interests valuations within fees and related
income on securitized earming assets on our consolidated statements of operations (and more specifically as a
component of income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized as scheduled in Note 12, “Oft-
Balance-Sheet Arrangements™).

At each period end, we reflect “accrued interest and fees” on securitized receivables within securitized
earning assets on our consolidated balance sheet; these accrued interest and fees represent the estimated

F-7




collectible portion of fees earned but not billed to the cardholders underlying credit card receivables portfolios
that we have securitized. We also include within our securitized earnmg assets the estimated collectible portion

of finance charges and fees billed 1o cardholders within the securmzed portfohos but not collected (our “retained
- - interests in finance charge receivables™). :

Non-Securitized Earning Ass‘ets, Net

We mclude loans and fees receivable, net, investments in prevxously charged-off receivables, investments in
securities and U.S. govermment securities resale agreements within non-securitized earning assets, net on our
consolidated balance sheets. t

Loans and Fees Receivable,; Net. Loans and fees receivable, net éonsisl principally of receivables
associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring
range, micro-loan activities and auto finance business, none of which we have securitized in off-balance-sheet

* securitizations. We show these receivables net of an allowance for unc{pllecuble loans and fees receivable. We -

- also present loans and fees receivable net of unearned fees (or “deferred revenue™) in accordance with Statemnent

- of Financial Accounting Standards No. 91, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with

Originating or Acquiring Recéivables and Initial Direct Costs of Leaselis'.”

i The loans and fees receivable-associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the
lower end of the FICO scoring range consist of finance charges and fee:ls (both billed and accrued) and principal
balances. The fees associated with these product offerings include activation, annual, monthly maintenance, late

“payment, over-limit, cash-advance and returned check fees. We recogmze both activation and annual fees over a
twelve-month period (i.e., the year to which they apply), while we recogmze all other fees when assessed to
‘cardholders. The loans and fees receivable associated with our mlcro-loan activities include principal balances
and associated fees due from customers, such fees being recognized as earned_generally over a two-week
period. Loans and fees receivable associated with our auto finance business include principal balances and
associated fees and interest, net of the unearned portion of loan discounts due from customers which we
recogniZe over the life of each loan. . . - ! !

. to- [
C We provide an allowance for uncollectible loans and fees receivab]é: for loans and fees receivable we
believe we ultimately will not collect. In the fourth quarter of 2006, we changed our business practices such that
we no longer bill finance charges and fees on'credit card accounts that become more than 90 days delinquent. For
credit card accounts that became more than 90 days delinguent prior to our change in billing practices. however,
we have billed finance charges and fees, but we have excluded these billéd finance charges and fees from loans
and fees receivable, gross and the allowance for uncollectible loans and fees receivable (as well as from related
income and provision for loan loss amounts on our consolidated statemen‘ts of operations) because we have
concluded that collections of these finance charges and fees billings on these late- -stage delinquent receivables are
unllkely. We determine the necessary allowance for uncollectible loans alI_'ld fees receivable by analyzing some or
all of the following: historical loss rates; current delinquency and roll rate trends; vintage analyses based on the
number of months an account is open; the forecasted effects of changes in the economy on our customers;
changes in underwriting critetia; and estimated recoveries. A considerable amount of judgment is required to
assess the ultimate amount of uncollectible loans and fees receivable, andiwe continuously evaluate and update
our methodologies to determine the most appropriate allowance necessary and to evaluate the propriety of prior
reported allowance levels using look-back methodologies. !




1
f

~The components of loans and fees receivable, net (in millions) are as follows:
I

Loans and fees receivable, net ... ..o $ 3759 $1,966.7

Balance at Balance at
; December 31, December 31,
: 2005 Additions  Subtractions 2006
Loans and fees receivable, gross . .............. ... ... $ 530.6 $2,680.4 $(2,214.0) $997.0
Deferred revente . ..ot v v e e e e (100.4) 201.1) 183.5 (118.0)
Allowance for uncollectible loans and fees ............. (54.3) (512.6) 341.6 (225.3)
$(1,688.9) $653.7
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Subtractions from the allowance for uncollectible loans and fees receivable in the above table are net of
$11.3 million in recoveries on loans and fees receivable previously charged off. Recoveries on loans and fees
receivable typically have represented less than 1% of average loans and fees receivable, gross balances.

We include interest income associated with loans and fees receivable in interest income under the consumer
loans, including past due fees category on our accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Additionally,
we reflect $534'6 million, $259.0 miltion and $119.0 million of fee income associated with these loans and fees
receivable for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, in fees and related income from non-securitized eaming assets
on our consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2006, the weighted-average remaining
accretion period for the $118.0 million of deferred revenue reflected in the above table was 5.9 months; deferred
revenue associéted with any accounts that may charge-off is not accreted into revenue after the charge off date.

Investments in Previously Charged—ojf Receivables, We pursue, competitively bid for and acqutre
previously charged off credit card receivables. A significant majority of our acquisitions of previously
charged-off credit card receivables historically have been from securitization trusts underlying our retained
interests investments. As servicer for the receivables within the securitization trusts underlying our retained
interests investments, we subject all sales of previously charged-off receivables to a competitive bid process
involving other potential third-party portfolio purchasers to ensure that all sales are at fair market prices.

Static pools consisting of homogenous accounts and receivables are established for each acquisition by our
debt collections business. Once a static pool is established, the receivabies within the pool are not changed. Each
static pool is recorded at cost and is accounted for as a single unit for payment application and income
recognition purposes We account for our investments in previously charged-off receivables by applying the cost
recovery method on a portfolio-by-portfolio basis under the guidance of AICPA Statement of Position 03-3,
“Accounting for Certain Loans or Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer,” and Practice Bulletin 6,
“Amortization of Discounts on Certain Acquired Loans.” Under the cost recovery method, income associated
with a parucular portfolio is not recogmzed until cash collections have exceeded the investment. Additionally,
until! such time as cash collected for a particular portfolio exceeds our investment in the portfolio, we incur
commission costs and other internal and external servicing costs associated with the cash collections on the
portfolio investment that are charged as operating expenses without any offsetting income amounts.

| We use the cost recovery method for each particular static pool until such time that our experience with that
pool will be sufficient to justify use of the interest method (such method being one by which income associated
with each static pool is accrued monthly based on each static pool’s effective interest rate) based on criteria
communicated to us during 2003 by the Staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).




The following table shows (in thousands) a roli-forward of our investments in previously charged-off
receivables activities:

!

. 2006 2005
Unrecovered balance at béginning ofperiod ................ i ........... $16993 $ 15094
Acquisitions of defaulted accounts . . ......... ... ... ... ... .. 35.685 44,762
Cashcollections ........ .. .. .. i, e 74,071y  (79,634)
Accretion of deferred revenue associated with forward flow contract . ... .. (12,455) (5,700)
Cost-recovery method income recognized on defauited accounts {included in

fees and related income on non-securitized earning assets on our

consolidated statqments of operationsy . . ................. l' .......... 46,719 48912
Income recognized on bulk sale of receivables (See Note 5)............... — 69,559
Cash collections on buik sale of recéivables {SeeNote 5) ... ...:.......... — (76.000)
Unrecovered balance at December 31 .. ...................]1 e 512,871  $16993
Estimated remaining collections (‘ERC™) ................... e $62775 554738

In June 20035, our debt coilections business sold a significant pool of its previously charged-off receivables.

- See Note 5, “Sale of Previously Charged-Off Receivables and ForwardiFlow Contract.” Remaining after this sale
are the subsidiary’s pools of previously charged-off receivables primarily associated with accounts for which the
"debtors have filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 13 of the United States Bdnkruptcy Code (“Chapter
13 Bankruptcies™) and accounts participating in or acquired in connectton with the subsidiary’s balance transfer
program. Additionally, we expect our debt collections business to contmue to acquire for resale under a forward
‘flow contract discussed in Note 5 certain previously charged-off receivables from trusts, the receivables of which
are serviced by us, and certain previously charged-off receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit
card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring r'.mge.';

We estimate thé life of each pool of previously charged-off receivaﬁbles acquired by us generally to be
between 24 and 36 months for normal delinquency charged-off accounts and approximately 60 months for
Chapter 13 Bankruptcnes Wthh constitute the majority of accounts retained after sales under the forward flow
contract. We anticipate col]ecung approxnmate]y 41.2% of the ERC of the existing accounts over the next twelve
months - with the balance to be collected thereafter. ‘

i

Investments in Securities. We periodically invest through the open market in debt and equity securities we
believe will provide us with an adequate return. We purchase these debt a'md equity securities either outright for
cash or through a combination of cash and borrowings; see Note 135, “Notes Payable and Other Borrowings.” We
general]y classify our purchased debt and equity securities as trading secunues Additionally, we occasionally
have received distributions of debt sécurities from our equity-method investees, and we have classified such
distributed debt securities as held to maturity. The carrying values (in thousands) of our investments in debt and
equity securities are as follows:

; December 31,
: 2006 2005

Held to maturity: { .

Investments in debt securities of equity-method investees . ........ PP $ 10,800 $12,039
Trading:

Investments in equity securities ........... ... ... .. ... 0. P 5.211 5,000
Investments in asset-backed securities ............ ... ... ....... e 125,646 58,360
Total investments in debt and equity SECUTIIES ..\ ee ., e $141,657 §75,399
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Our investments in asset-backed securities include a mix of investment grade, non-investment grade,
subordinated and distressed asset-backed securities, including CDOs (Collateralized Debt Obligations), CMBS
(Collateralized Mortgage Backed Securities) and CMOs (Collateralized Mortgage Obligations).

U.S. Government Securities Resale Agreements. Our investments in U.S. government securities resale
agreements generally consist of contracts to repurchase specific U.S. Treasury Bills of varying maturities at fixed
prices within 30 days, subject to renewal. The underlying U.S. Treasury Bills are the same securities included in
our other borrowings in U.S. government securities sold not yet purchased included in notes payable and other
borrowings in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The investment contracts settle at a stated price,
whereas the borrowed securities settle at the market price on the date the contracts expire. Certain of our
investments in asset-backed securities are subject to changes in value due to changes in market interest rates. We
intend for the change in value of the borrowed securities to offset the change in the value of the investments in
asset-backed securities, if any, resulting from changes in market interest rates.

Deferred Costs

At various ,consolidaled balance sheet dates, the principal components of deferred costs have included
unamortized costs associated with (1) our issuances of Convertible Senior Notes (see Note 16, “Convertible
Senior Notes™),;(2) a warrant issued to an investor (see Note 4, “Shareholders’ Equity™), (3) certain payments
made to third parties related to our credit card receivables securitizations and (4) our receivables origination
activities. The deferred costs associated with the Convertible Senior Notes are being amortized into interest
expense over the expected life of the instruments, and deferred costs associated with our credit card receivables
securitizations are being amortized over the respective lives of the securitization facilities. Direct receivables
origination costs are deferred and amortized against credit card fee income on a straight-line basis over the
privilege period, which is typically a one-year period.

|
Software, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

We capitalize costs related to internal development and implementation of software used in our operating
activities in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software Developed or QObtained for Internal Use.” These capilalized costs consist almost exclusively of fees
paid to third-party consultants 1o develop code and install and test software specific to our needs and to
customize purchased sofiware to maximize its benefit to us. We have focused the majority of these efforts on our
proprietary information management system that supports our decision-making function, including targeted
marketing, solicitation, application processing, account management and collections activities. Software
development, furniture, fixtures, equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation or amortization. We compute depreciation expenses using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of our assets, which are approximately 3 years for software and 5 years for furniture,
fixtures and ecjuipment. We amortize leasehold improvements over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or
the terms of their respective underlying leases. We periodically review these assets to determine if any
impairment, other than a temporary impairment, exists. There were no such impairments in the periods presented.

Investments in Equity-Method Investees
t

We account for investments using the equity method of accounting if the investments give us the ability to
exercise significant influence, but not control, over the investees. Significant influence is generally deemed 10
exist if we have an ownership interest in the voting stock of an investee of between 20% and 50%, although other
factors, such as representation on an investee’s board of managers, specific voting and veto rights held by each
investor and the effects of commercial arrangements, are considered in determining whether the equity method of
accounting is appropriate. We use the equity method for (1} our 61.25% interest in a limited liability company in
which we initially invested in 2002 and increased our investment in 2006, (2) our investments in two 33.3%-
owned limited Jiability companies made during the fourth quarter of 2004 and (3) our 47.5% investment in a
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Reportable Segments . . i i

limited liability'company made during the first quarter of 2005. We riecord our respective interests in the income’
or loss of such investees within the equity’in income of equity- method investees category on our consolidated
statements of operations for each period. The carrying amount of 0ur1equ1ty method investments is recorded on
our consolidated balance sheets as investments in equity-method investees. A $14.0 miltion investment premium
in excess of the underlying equity in the net assets of our 61.25%- owned equity- -method investee is being
recovered against the earnings of this enuty s underlying assets over Ihelr remaining lives.

We evaluate our mveqtmenls in the equnty -method investees for Empcnrment each quartcr by comparing the
carrying amount of each investment to its fair value. Because no active market exists for the investees’ limited
liability company membership interests, we-evaluate our investments in the equity-method investees for
impairment based on our evaluation of the fair value of the equity-method invesices’ net assets relative to their
carrying values. If we ever were (o determine that the carrying values of our investments in equity-method
investees were greater than their fair values, we would write the investments down to their fair values.

" Intangibles

We amortize identifiable intangible assets using the straight-line l"nelhod over their estimated periods of
benefit. The estimated benefit periods range from three to five years for non-compete agreements and three to
eight years for customer and dealer relationships. For those intangible assets such as trademarks and trade names
that were determined to have an indefinite benefit period, no amomzanon expense is recorded. We periodically
(at least annually) evalua[e the recoverability of lmanglble assets and take into account events or circumstances

. that warrant revised estimates of useful lives or that indicate 1mpa|rment During 2006, we Charged off
approximately $0.8 million of impaired intangible assets that were orlgmally determined to have an indefinite

benefit period. |

Goodwill :

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price and related costs over the value assigned Lo net langible
.and identifiable inlangible assets acquired and accounted for under the Eii]ri:hase method. Goodwill is tested at
leaqt annually for impairment. During 2006 we recorded a gOOdWl” impairment charge of $10.5 million to report
goodwﬂl at its fair value. .
' |

Based on the requirements set forth by Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 131, “Disclosures .
about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” (“Slalemenf No. 1317), we have identified five
reportable segments: Credit Cards: Investments in Previously Charged- off Receivables; Retail Micro-Loans;
Auto Finance and Other. See Note 3, “Segment Repaorting,” for further d:scussmn of these segmentls.

' l

Fees and Related Income on Securitized Earning Assets ! .

.Fees and related income on securitized earning assets include (1) se!curitization gains and (2) income from
retained interests in credit card receivables securitized and (3) retumed-&heck cash advance and other fees
associated with our securitized credit card receivables, each of which is delalled (in thousands) in the following
table for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

|
1 For the year ended December 31,
]
)

. . 2006 2005 2004
Securitization gains . ...... ... ... i $ 6,193 $ 40,142 $ 1,651
Income from retained interests in credit card receivables : '

SeCUMtiZed . ..o 173,670 73,143 138,213
Fees on securitized receivables .. ... ... . . i, . 20,369 14,494 18,328
Total fees and related income on securitized earning assets .. .. $200,232 $127,779 $158.192
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We assess fees on credit card accounts underlying our securitized receivables according to the terms of the
related cardholder agreements and, except for annual membership fees we recognize these fees as contributing to
income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized or as fees on securitized receivables when

they are charged to the cardholders’ accounts. We accrete annual membership fees associated with our
securitized credit card receivables as a contribution to our income from retained interests in credit card
receivables securitized on a straight-line basis over the twelve-month cardholder privilege period. We amortize
direct receivables origination costs against fees on securitized receivables, See Assef Securitization above for
further discussion on securitization gains and income from retained interests in credit card receivables (including
the effects of cha;nges in retained interests’ valuations).

Fees and Related Income on Non-Securitized Earning Assets

Fees and related income on non-securitized earning assets include: (1) lending fees associated with our retail
and Internet-based micro-loan activities; (2) fees associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to
consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range: (3) income associated with the our Fingerhut receivables
(see Note 7, “Fingerhut Receivables”) during periods in which we have held them on balance sheet; (4) income
associated with our investments in previously charged-off receivables; (5) gain associated with our bulk sale of
previously charged-off receivables; (6) transaction and other fees associated with our stored-value card offering;
and (7) gains and losses associated with our investments in securities.

Lending fees underlying our retail micro-loan activities include fees earned on loans made by us directly to
consumers, servicing fees earned associated with third-party-originated micro-loans and until the occurrence of
the FDIC-promlﬁléd changes the second quarter of 2006, servicing fees earned from a lending bank associated
with our servicing and collection activities for the bank’s originated micro-loans. We recognize (as'a component
of fees and related income on non-securitized earning assets) the fees we earned on the micro-loans that we make
to consumers as the fees are earned—generally over a two-week period. The servicing fees we charge with
respect third-party-originated micro-loans are recognized as a component of servicing income on our
consolidated statements of operations over the period during which the services are provided or the loans are
collected; most of these activities are conducted and give rise to revenue recognition over a two-week period.
However, for loans that are not repaid when due, some servicing and collection activities can continue up until
the time that the third-party charges off the loans (i.e., up to 90 days). Servicing fees that we previously charged
associated with a lending bank’s originated micro-loans were treated similar to our current treatment of servicing
fees associated with third-party-originated micro-loans,

As impliéq above during February 2006, we learned from our bank partner that the FDIC had effectively
asked insured ({inancial institutions to cease deferred presentment cash advance and instaliment micro-loan
activities conducted through processing and servicing agents. As a result of this development, our North Carolina
subsidiary closed all of its original 52 branch locations and our West Virginia subsidiary closed all of its original
11 branch locations during 2006. However, in our two other affected states, Arkansas and Florida, we began
offering loans directly to customers under alternative lending models, in compliance with state regulations and/or
licensing requirements.

With a few minor exceptions noted herein, fees associated with our largely fee based credit card offerings to
consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range are similar in nature and in accounting treatment {0 those
identified in Fees and Related Income on Securitized Earning Assets above. Activation fees and monthly
maintenance fees are unique o our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the
FICO scoring range. Activation fees are recognized over the estimated life of a customer (approximately one
year), and monthly maintenance fees are recognized as earned each month,

F-13




The components {in thousands) of our fees and related income on non-securitized earning assets for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are as follows: '

i For the year ended December 31,

! 2006 ‘ 2005 2004
Retail micro-10an fees ..............ooouuiineniiieiiin, © $97872 $ 81488 § 37,485
Fees on non-securitized credit card receivables . ............. s 436,697 177,521 81,505
Fingérhut receivables while on balance sheet ©.............. ' 339 84,745 64,322
Investments in previously charged-off receivables ........... ! 46,719 48912 56,723
Gain on bulk sale of previously charged-off receivables (See i
Note 5, “Sale of Previously Charged-Off Receivables and |
: Forward Flow Contract.’ ) ............................ ; — 69,559 —
; Other ........................ e P P i 14,784 15,257 1,949
Total fees and related mcome On non- qecurmzed earmng i ' '
BSSEES « o v it e e v $396,411  $477,482 - 3241 984

. Ancillary and Interchange Revenues oo ' :

We offer various fee-based products and services (ancillary products) to our customers, including

memberships, insurance products, debt waiver and subscription servnceq When we market our own products, the

. fees, net of estimated cancellations, are recorded as deferred revenue upon the customer’s acceptance of the
product and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the producl {which ranges from one to twelve
months). When we market products for third parties under commms:on arrangements, the revenue is recognized
when earned, which is generally during the same month the product is §0ld to the customer. We consider revenue
1o be earned once delivery has occurred (i.e., when there is no further performance obligation), the commission is
fixed and collectibility is reasonably assured. Once these conditions are satisfied, we recognize our commission

. as ancillary product revenue. Additionally, we receive a portion of the mercham fee assessed by Visa and

“MasterCard based on cardholder purchase volumes underlying credit card receivables; we recognize these
interchange fees as they are received.

fl

Card and Loan Servicing Expenses ' '

Cardand loan servicing costs primarily include collections and customer Service expenses, Within this
category of expenses are personnel, service bureau, cardholder correspo'ndence and other direct costs associated
with our collections and customer service efforts. Card and loan servicing costs also include outsourced
collections and customer service expenses. Card and loan servicing costs are expensed when incurred or in the

case of prepaid costs, over the respective service periods. ‘

Marketing and Solicitation Expenses

Credit card account and other product soticitation costs, including }')riming, credit bureaus, list processing
costs, telemarkeling, postage and Internet marketing fees, are expensed : as incurred. See “Deferred Costs” for a
discussion of the accounting for costs considered to be direct receivables ongmauon COSts.

!
i

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes based on the liability method required: by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Under the liability method, deferred income taxes reflect the
net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. '




Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments — an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 133 and 140, (“Statement No, 155™). Statement No. 155 amends Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” (“Statement
No. 133”), and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing
of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities,” (“Statement No. 140”). Statement No. 155 resolves issues
addressed in Statement No. 133 Implementation Issue No. D1, “Application of Statement 133 to Beneficial
Interests in Securitized Financial Assets.” Among other provisions, the new rule (a) permits fair value
remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would
require bifurcation, (b) clarifies which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the
requirements of Statement No. 133, (c) establishes a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial
assets to identify interests that are freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain an
embedded derivative requiring bifurcation, (d) clarifies that concentrations of credit risk in the form of
subordination are not embedded derivatives, and (e) amends Statement No. 140 to eliminate the prohibition on a
qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative financial instrument that pertains to a beneficial
interest other than another derivative financial instrument. Statement No. 155 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after September 15, 2006 and is required to be adopted by us beginning January 1, 2007. We currently
are evaluating the effects that the adoption of Statement No. 153 could have on our consclidated results of
operations, financial position and cash flows, although we do not expect any material effects associated with its
adoption. Nevertheless, the standard could affect future income recognition for securitized financial assets
because there may be more embedded derivatives identified for which changes in fair value will be recognized in
computing net income, ‘

In March 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 156, “Accounting for
Servicing of Financial Assets — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 140,” (“Statement No. 1567). Statement
No. 156 amends Statement No. 140 with respect to the accounting for separately recognized servicing assets and
servicing liabilities and requires all separately recognized servicing assets and servicing liabilities to be initially
measured at fair value, if practicable. The standard permits an entity 1o subsequently measure each class of
servicing assets or servicing liabilities at fair value and report changes in fair value in the statement of income in
the accounting period in which the changes occur. Statement No. 156 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
September 15, 2006 and is required to be adopted by us beginning January 1, 2007. We currently are evaluating
the effects that the adoption of Statement No. 156 could have on our consolidated results of operations, financial
position and cash flows, although we do not expect any material effects associated with its adoption,

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation Number 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,”
(“Interpretation No, 487). Interpretation No. 48 requires companies to assess the probability that a tax position
taken may not ultimately be sustained. For those positions that do not meet the more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold required under Interpretation No. 48, no benefit may be recognized. We will adopt Interpretation
No. 48 by adjusting our tax liabilities and retained earnings as of our required January 1, 2007 adoption date.
Although we have not yet finalized our evaluation of the impact of this Interpretation on our consolidated
financial statements, we anticipate that our adoption of the Interpretation will not have a material affect on our
consolidated financial statements and will not result in material adjustments to either our tax liabilities or our
retained earnings as of the Janvary |, 2007 adoption date.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements,” (“Statement No. [57). Statement No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This Statement applies under other
accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements, except accounting pronouncements
that address share-based payment transactions and its related interpretive accounting pronouncements and does
not eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value measurements in accounting pronouncements within the
scope of the Statement. Statement No, 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and is
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required (o be adopted by us beginning January 1, 2008. Although not reasonabiy estimable at this time, we
currently are evaluating the effects that the adoption of Statement No! 157 could have on our consolidated results

t

In September 2006, the SEC staff issued SEC Staff Accounting I:Sulletin (“SAB”) No. 108, “Financial
Statements — Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifving Misstatements in the
Current Year Financial Statements,” (“SAB No. 108”). SAB No. 108; states that a registrant should quantify the
effect of an error on the financial statements using both the “rollowzr”I (current year income statement
perspective) and “iron curtain” (year-end balance sheet perspective) methods. SAB No. 108 is effective for fiscal
years ending after November 15, 2006. The adopuon of SAB No. 108 did not have a materia! effect on cur
financial statements,

of operations, financial position and cash flows.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, “The Fair Va!ue
Option For Financial Assets and Liabilities,” (“Statement No. 159™). Statement No. 159 allows companies to
carry the vast majority of financial assets and liabilities at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded into
earnings. Statement No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Early adoption is _
permitted provided a company makes the election to do so within 120 days of to the beginning of the fiscal year
of adoption. We currently are evaluating the effects that the adoption of Statement No. 159 could have on our
consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows. .

- 3. Segment Reporting

s

Our segment accounting policies are the same as policies described in Note 2, “Significant Accounting
Policies.” '

|

We operale primarily within one industry consisting of five reportable segments by which we manage our
business. Qur five reportable segments are: Credit Cards; Investments in Previously Charged-off Receivables;
Retail Micro-Loans; Auto Finance; and Other. X

Our Credit Cards segment consists of our credit card receivables origination, acquisition and servicing
activities, as well as our cash management and investments in debt and equity securities activities. This segment .
represents aggregate activities associated with substantially all of our credit card products. including our largely
fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range. Because we have not
securitized the receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower
end of the FICO scoring range, revenues associated with these offerings include interest income (along with late
fees), fees and related income. With respect to our securitized credit card receivables {which represent a
substantial majority of our receivables), our fees and related income on securitized earning assets within the
Credit Cards segment include (1) securitization gains, (2) income from retamed interests in credit card
receivables securitized and (3) fees and related income. Revenue sources we also include within our Credit Cards
segment are servicing income and equity in income of equity-method investees (related only to those equity-
method investees who have purchased and securitized credit card receivables portfolios). We earn servicing
income from the trusts undetlying our credit card receivables securitizations and the credit card receivables
securitizations of our equity-method investees. Our revenue categories most affected by delinquency and credit
loss trends are the net interest income, the fees and related income on non-securitized earnings assets (which are
net of a provision for loan losses) and the income from retained interests 'in credit card recewables securitized
categories. ‘

|

The Investments in Previously Charged-off Receivables segment consists of our debt collections subsidiary.
Through this business, we pursue, competitively bid for and acquire previously charged-off credit card
receivables. A SIgmﬁcam majority of our acquisitions of previously charged-off credit card receivables have
been from the securitization trusts underlying our retained interests investments. Revenues earned in this segment
consist of sales under our forward flow contract (see Note 5, “Sale of Pre'lvious]y Charged-Off Receivables.and
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Forward Flow Contract™)}, our recognition of deferred revenue under the forward flow contract and revenues
earned under our investment in Chapter 13 Bankruptcies and our balance transfer program, all of which are
classified as fees and related income on non-securitized earning assets in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. This segment’s results also include the income associated with the Investments in
Previously Charged-off Receivables segment’s equity-method investee.

The Retail Micro-Loans segment consists of a network of storefront locations that, depending on the
location, provide some or all of the following products or services: (a) small-denomination, short-term,
unsecured cash advances that are typically due on the customer’s next payday; (b) installment loans, auto loans,
credit cards and o:ther credit products; and (c) money transfer, bill payment and other financial services.
Revenues earned within this segment consist of fees and/or servicing revenues and are classified as fees and
related income on non-securitized earning assets in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

For years to which these consolidated financial statements relate, the Auto Finance segment consists of a
nationwide network of pre-qualified auto dealers in the “Buy Here/Pay Here” used car business (our CAR
operations), from,which CAR purchases auto loans at a discount or for which CAR services auto loans for a fee.
CAR generates revenues on purchased loans through interest earned on the face value of the installment
agreements combined with discounts on loans purchased. CAR generally earns discount income over the life of
the applicable loan. Additionally, CAR generates revenues from servicing loans on behalf of dealers for a portion
of actual colleclicgns and by providing back-up servicing for similar quality securitized assets. In the second -
quarter of 2006, CAR launched a new product, Dealer Equity Advance Loan (“DEAL”), whereby CAR earns
interest income on a loan made directly to the dealer. in the DEAL program, the dealer maintains the
responsibility to service the customer accounts securing the 1oan to the dealer. Also during the second quarter of
2006, CAR launcped a contract custodial program to service smaller line of credit loan providers in the markets it
services.

The Other segment encompasses various activities that are start-up in nature, which include our stored-value
card operations and the associated fee income and servicing expenses and other product offerings that do not
individually meet the disclosure criteria of Statement No. 131. These products include merchant credit offerings,
other micro-loan offerings marketed principally through the Internet and our investment and servicing activities
with respect to consumer finance receivables secured by motorcycles, afl-terrain vehicles, personal watercraft
and the like.




We measure the profitability of our reportable segments based on their income after allocation of specific
costs and corporate overhead. Overhead costs are allocated based-on headcoums and other applicable measures to
better allgn costs with the associated revenues. Summmy operatmg segment information (in thousands} is as
follows: -

Year ended December 3, 2006

Interest income:
Consumer loans, including past due
fees ... ... .. it

Total interest income ................
Interest expense

Net interest income (expense) hefore
fees and related income on
non-securitized earning assets and
provision for loan losses .. ..........

Fees and related income on i
non-securitized earning assets . . ..
Provision for loan losses .........: .

Net interest income, fees and related
income on non-securitized earning
. assets
Other operating income:
Fees and related income on’
securitized earning assets
‘Servicing income . ...............
Ancillary and interchange
reVenues ........... e
Equity in income of equity-method
investees ............... .

Total other operating income (loss) . ...
Total other operating expense .. ......
Minority interests

Income (loss) before income taxes . . .. ..

Securitized earning assets

Non-securitized earning assets, net

Loans and fees-receivable, gross

Loans and fees receivable, net

Total assets -, :

Notes payable

Investments

$ 276,042 %

Prevlir:)usly H
Charged- . Retail
off l Micro- Auto
Credit Cards Receivables , Loans Finance Other Total
' 4
$ 230417 $§ — 18 — $48577 $ — § 278994
17,648 707 ¢ — 352 435 19.142
248065  -707 | — 48929 435 298,136
(41,029) — (3,001) (8,145 297y  (52472)
1
1
i .
207,036 707 ¢ (3.001) 40,784 138 245664
443.845° 46719 | 97872 707 7268 - 596,411
(483,276) — O (14757)  (9.340)  (5,206). (512,579)
!
167.605 47426 . 80,114 32,150 2200 329496 -
' \
l ..
200,232 S — — — 200232
84,024 — t 5993 838 — 90,855
. . 1 .
, *
42,737 556 1 — — 25 43,318
|
106,911 @8 — — — 106,883
433,904 528 | 5993 838 25 441,288
(408,573) (17, 875) | (96,714) (28,709) (38,085) (589.956)
. (13,107) - — 209 (12.898)
$ 179,829 $30,079 $(10.607) $ 4,280 $(35,651)% 167,930
$ 8017158 — $§ — § — $ — $ 80L7I5
$ 643,874 $12.871 $ 82,522 $113466 $ 6,088 $ 858,821
$ 760,825 $ — S 90615 $I137,160 $ 8431 $ 997,040
$ 451,640 $ — § 82,522 $113466 $ 6,088 $ 653,716
$1,674,.896 -$ 28,988 $218,809 $157,500 $ 33,704 $2,113,897
— § 5000 $ 75345

$ 2307 § 358,694
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Investments in

3
I
|

Previously -Retail
| Credit Charged-off Micro- Auto
Year ended December 31, 2005 Cards - Receivables(1) Loans Finance Other Total
Interest income:’
Consumer loans, including past due
fees ..o $ 76799 § — $ — $36509 § — § 113,308
Other .. ... E ................... 11,378 686 — 177 06 12,307
" Total interest income .............. 88.177 686 — 36,686 66 125,615
Interest expense ; ................... (18,380) . (7.874)y  (7,563) (154 (33,971)
Net interest incq'me (expense) before :
fees and related income on
non-securitized earning assets and
* provision for loan losses . .. ....... 69,797 686 (7.874) 29,123 (88) 91.644
Fees and related income on
non-securitized earning assets . . 269834 118,471 81,488 52 7,637 477,482
Provision for loan losses . ....... (118,282) — (10,467) (3,723) (8.188) (140.660)

Net interest inc(;me (expense), fees
and related income on : . ) .
non-securitize}d earning assets . . . .. 221,349 119,157 63,147 25452 (639) 428,466

Other operating income:

Fees and related income on

‘ securitizéd earning assets . ..... 127,779 — — — — 127,779
Servicing income .............. 119,319 — 23,229 580 — 143,128
Ancillary and interchange '
TEVETIUES oo veeeeeeennn, 28.954 - — — — 28,954
Equity in income of equity-method
) iriw:su:esF ................... 41,307 4,320 — — — 45,627
Total other operating income .. .... - 317,359 4,320 23,229 580 C— 345,488
Total other ope;rating expense ....... (325491)  (3lL461) (76,608 (19915) (37.287) (490,762)
Minority intereésts ................. (13,349) — — — — (13,349
Income {loss) h:efore income taxes ... $§ 199868 $ 92016 $ 9768 $ 6,117 $(37,926) § 269,843
Securitized ear:ning assets .......... $ 786983 § — $ — $ — § — $ 786983
Non.-sec_uritizet? earning assets, net ... $ 280,176 $ 16,993 3§ 52,001 5118189 $ 952 $ 468311
Loans and fees*receivable, gross ..... $ 326,696 % — $ 57,806 3144489 $ 1,582 $ 530,573
Loans and fees' receivable, net . . . e $ 204777 % — $ 52,001 $118,189 $- 952 $ 375919
Total assets ; ................ ... $1,405,883 § 36,369 5200579 $159,222 $19,137 $1,821,190
Notes payable’ . ................ .§ 37541 S —  $50300 $77345 § — $ 165186

i

—— i

(1) Net imeres;t income, fees and related income on non-securitized earnings assets includes $69.6 million of
gain on the bulk sale of previously charged-off receivables. (See Note 5, “Sale of Investments in Previously
Charged-(?ff Receivables and Forward Flow Contract.™) ' .
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Investments in’

Previously |  Retail
- Credit Charged-off |  Micro- Auto
Year ended December 31, 2004 Cards Receivables ; Loans Finance Other Total
Interest income: : | ;
Consumer loans, 1nclud|ng past due E ' :
FEES e $ 3261 § — 's — $— $§ — § 32671
Other ......................... 8,009 — — — 3 8.012
Total interest income .. ............. 40,680 — | _ - 3 40,683
Interest expense . .. ................. (507) — - @dnen — (95) -{4,729)
Net interest income {expense) before !
fees and related income on
non-securitized earning assets and
provision for loan losses ........... 40,173 — 4,12 — (92) 35,954
Fees and related income on !
non-securitized earning assets ... 145,827 56,723 37485 — 1,949 241,984
Provision for loan losses .......... (53,888) — 6,515y — (1,541 (61,944) .
Net interest income, fees and related
income on non-securitized earning .
assets .. ... ... 132,112 56,723 . 26,843 — 316 215,994
Other operating income: ;
Fees and related income on
securitized earning assets ....... 158,192 — — — — 158,192
Servicing income . .............. 75,418 — 16,879 — — 92.297
Ancillary and interchange :
CTEVEOUES ...l 24271 — i — — — 24.271
Equity in income of equity- method
' INVESIEES ... ... v 1,987 — : — — — 1,987
Total other operating income ........ 259,868 — , 16879 - — 276,747
" Total other operating expense ........ (212,513)  (39,357) . (37,746) — (23,71Y)  (313,327)
Minority interests ... ............... (23,063) — | — — 718 {22,345
Income (loss) before income taxes . .. .. $ 156404 $17366 $ 5976 $—  $(22.671) $ l57,06§
Securitized earning assets ........... $536.718 § — $  — $— $ — 3% 536,718
Non-securitized earning assets, net .... $ 115710 $15094 $ 26783 $— § . 843 $ 158430
" Loans and fees receivable, gross ...... S 106,873 % — ‘$ 31,529 $— $ 1,232 § 139,634
Loans and fees receivable, net ........ $ 66472 $ —  $26783 $— S - 800 $ 94,055
Totalassets . ....................... $ 821,967 § 16,070 5]58,075 $— $ 7414 $1,003,526
Notes payable .................... .. $ 13574 § — 368975 $— § 1075 $ 83624

4. Shareholders’ Equity

Issuance and Conversion of Preferred Shares

|

In December 2001, we issued 30,000 shares (aggregate initial llqundauon preference of $30 million) of our
Series A Preferred Stock and 10,000 shares (aggregate initial Ilquldauon preference of $10 million) of our
Series B Preferred Stock in a private placement. Dividends on the preferred stock accumulated at the rate of

*10% per annum and were paid quarterly by an increase in the accretive value of the preferred stock. During the
_fourth guarter of 2004, at our election, all remaining outstanding shares of the Series A and Series B Preferred
Stock were converted into approximately 5.2 million shares of common stock.
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Treasury Stock

During 2006,:0ur program to repurchase up to 10 million shares of our outstanding common stock expired
and our Board of Directors authorized a new program to repurchase up to an additional 10 million shares of our
outstanding common stock through June 2008. Under the new plan, we may repurchase shares of our common
stock from time to time either on the open market or through privately negotiated transactions in compliance with
SEC guidelines. Our repurchased shares are carried at cost in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets as a
reduction in shareholders” equity. As of December 31, 2006, we had not repurchased any shares under our new
plan.

Concurrent w1th our second quarter of 2005 issuance of $250.0 million of Convertible Senior Notes due
2025 (see Note 16 “Convertible Senior Notes™), we repurchased 2,994,000 shares of our common stock for
$100.0 million. An additional 21,395 shares were purchased during 2005 for $0.9 million. During 2004, we
repurchased 1,375,000 shares on the open market for $23.9 million. At our discretion, we will use treasury shares
to satisfy option exercmes and to make restricted stock grants. We use the cost approach when accounting for
repurchases and relssuancee of our treasury stock. During the 2006, 2005 and 2004 years, 82,060, 477,451 and
333,854 shares, respecuve]y were reissued from treasury stock in satisfaction of stock option exercises at an
approximate cost of $984,000, $2.5 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

Warrants

In connection with a securitization facility into which we entered during the first quarter of 2004, we issued
to the investor a warrant to acquire 2.4 million shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $22.45 per
share. The costs associated with this warrant were recorded at fair value (approximately $25.6 million
determined using ihe Black-Scholes model) within deferred costs, net, on our consolidated balance sheets, and
the initial deferred cost amount was amortized against income from retained interests in credit card receivables
securitized (which is a component of fees and related income from securitized earning assets) over the vesting
period of the warrant. In 2005, the investor sold one-half of the warrant 1o a second party, and subsequent to our
2006 year end, all warrant holders had exercised their warrants by paying us an aggregate $53.9 million in
exercise price proceeds.

5. Sale of Previously Charged-Off Receivables and Forward Flow Contract

In June 2005, our debt collections business sold a portfolio of previously charged-off credit card receivables
having a face amount of $2.9 billion to Encore and agreed to sell Encore up to $3.25 billion in face amount of the
future charged-off credit card receivables at an established price over the following five years under a forward flow
contract. As consideration for these transactions, we received $143.0 million in cash. The purchase price included
$76.0 million related to the portfolio of previously charged-off credit card receivables and $67.0 million of deferred
revenue related to the forward flow contract. The sale of the portfolio of previously charged-off credit card
receivables resulted in a gain of $69.6 million, which has been recorded in fees and related income on
non-securitized eammg assets on our 2005 consolidated statement of operations. Ten million dollars of the $67.0
million in deferred revenue related to the forward flow contract is required to be held in escrow and is included in
restricted cash on our consolidated balance sheet; as such, this $10 million will be excluded from income
recognition computations until the underlying conditions are satisfied. The remaining $57.0 million of deferred
tevenue is being recognized into income over the life of the contract as our debt coflections business delivers its
associated volumes of charged-off credit card receivables to Encore. Based on the forward flow contract, our debt
collections business is expected to purchase for delivery to Encore over the life of the contract certain previously
charged-off receivables from trusts, the receivables of which are serviced by us, as well as certain previously
charged-off receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings to consumers at the lower end of
the FICO scoring range. Any shortfalls in delivery of minimum periodic dollar amounts of previously charged-off
receivables to Encore could result in the business being required to return a portion of the purchase price related to
the forward flow contract. During 2006 and 2005, $12.5 million and $5.7 million, respectively, of deferred revenue
associated with the forward flow contract were recognized and accreted into fees and related income on
non-securitized earning assets on the accompanying consotidated statements of operations.

!
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6. Investments in Equity-Method Investees '

In January 2005, we purchased a 47.5% interest in a joint venture for $10.9 million, including transaction
costs. A wholly owned subsidiary of ours and two unaffiliated mvestors formed this entity in connection with the
acquisition of $376.3 million {face amount) in credit card recelvableq These receivables were then transferred to
a subsidiary of the joint venture, and then on to a trust pursuant to a Statement No. 140 transfer in exchange for
notes and a subordinated, certificated interest issued by the trust. We account for our investment in this joint
venture and other similar investments in existence as of December 31 2006 and 2005 under the equity method of
accounting, and these investments are included in investments in equny -method investees on our consolidated
balance sheets. . !

Transistor Holdings, LLC (“Transistor”) was formed during the fourth quatter of 2004 by two unaffiliated
entities and a wholly owned subsidiary of us to purchase a portfolio of credit card receivables (3996.5 million
face amount) from Fleet Bank (RI), National Association (“Fleet™). We account for our interest in Transistor
using the equity method of accounting. We have a 33.3% interest in Transistor and funded this investment with
$48.3 million in cash. Using capital received from us and each of its equal partners in Transistor, as well as the
proceeds of a structured financing not quahfymg for gain-on-sale r,t:curlttzauon accounting, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Transistor then purchased the portfolio of credit card recewables from Fleet. These receivables
were formerly owned by Circuit City prior to their purchase by Fleet. In the third quarter of 2006, Transistor
completed the sale of its credit card receivables pursuant 1o a Statemem No. 140 transfer in exchange for a
subordinated interest in a trust, thereby resulting in a securitization gam of $36.2 million, of which 33.3% or
$12.1 million is included in our equity in income of equity-method mve\tees

! .

Under identical ownership to Transistor, Capacitor Holdings, LLC (**Capacitor™) was formed to acquire
certain previously charged-off credit card receivables ($353.5 million face amount) owned by Fleet; our share of
the capital required for this acquisition was $1.9 million. Capacitor uses a cost-recovery method to account for its
investment in these previously charged-off receivables, and we account for our interest in Capacitor using the
equity method of accounting.

In July 2002, we purchased our original 50% interest in CSG, LLC (“CSG™) and in ] uly 2006, we purchased
an additional 11.25% interest in CSG for $16.5 million, thereby incréasing our ownership interest to 61.25%.
Because of specific voting and veto rights held by each investor in CSG, we do not control (as defined by FASB
Statement of Financial Accounting Stundards No. 94, “Consolidation af All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries”) this
entity, and we will continue to account for our CSG investment usmgI the equity method of accounting. We will
recover a $14.0 million premium paid for this 1 1.25% interest agamsl the earnings of CSG’s underlying assets
over their remaining lives. During the second quarter of 2005, we made an $11.0 million payment in final
settlement of our obligations to a lender that financed our original eqt}nty investment in CSG. Under the terms of
the original loan agreement, in addition 1o principal payments to be made ‘which were completed during the
fourth quarter of 2002, the lénder was entitled to receive 15% of all future excess cash flows received by us from
our investment in CSG. The $11.0 million settlement payment to the lender is included within interest expense in
our 2005 consolidated statement of operatjons: because of this paymenl we are entitled to receive 100% of all
future excess cash flows attributable to our investment in CSG. CSG resumed such distributions of excess cash
flows to its members (including us) during the fourth quarter of 2005.‘
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The following represents condensed results of operations (in thousands) of our equity-method investees as
of and for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Securitized e{aming assels ...l [ERREEERE $168,288 $ 73,020 § |
Non-securitized earning assets, NEL . ... n- 5 — $556,930  $841.917
Ol ASSBIS -« o ottt et e i e e e e $179,107 $651,402  $893.014
Total liabilities ... ... ...ttt $ 10,147  $474,509  $717,718
Members' capital ....... ... e $168,960 $176,893  $175,296
For the year ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Net interest i;ncome, fees and related income on non-securitized _
earning as;sels ....................................... $ 88,644 3180,040 $31,734
Fees and related income on securitized earning assets . ........ $168,111 S 47411 § —
All other opéraling IMCOME . .ot i $184,411 § 72,052 % 2,355
NEEINCOME ' . ..ottt $251,594  $112,869 § 7.027

7. Fingerhut l;leceivables

In July 2002, we completed a transaction with Federated Department Stores, Inc. in which we purchased for
$75.2 million plus an assumed $95.8 million servicing liability the retained interests in a trust (“Fingerhut Trust I')
that owned $1.0 billion in face amount of receivables. The receivables included in the trust were those generated by
private label revoilving credit cards used to purchase items from the Fingerhut catalog.

During the third quarter of 2003, a third party acquired our retained interests in Fingerhut Trust I in
exchange for $27.3 million and retained interests in a new trust (“Fingerhut Trust 11"}, which owned a collateral
security interest in Fingerhut Trust 1. [ncome from retained interests in credit card receivables includes
$8.7 million of income for 2004 associated with Fingerhut Trust I andfor Fingerhut Trust II.

On August 15, 2004, the remaining debt underlying the Fingerhut Trust II was repaid from cash collections
within the trust through July 31, 2004. In accordance with Statement No. 140, we resumed accounting ownership
of the Fingerhut receivables at an approximate $0.0 carryover basis corresponding to our then-existing basis in
the Fingerhut Trust [l retained interests, and as such, the Fingerhut receivables are not reflected within loans and
fees receivable, net (or the 1ables or discussion thereof included herein). Accordingly, all cash collections
received on these “de-securitized” Fingerhut receivables subsequent to July 31, 2004 (and prior to a
re-securitization' of the Fingerhut receivables into “Fingerhut Trust III” in the third quarter of 2005 as discussed
below) were recognized into income as fees and refated income on our 2004 and 2005 consolidated statements of
operations. Total income recognized relating to these cash flows on the de-securitized Fingerhut reccivables was
$61.3 million and $52.6 mitlion for 2005 and 2004, respectively, such amounts being included as a component of
fees and related ;income on non-securitized earning assets on our 2005 and 2004 consolidated statements of
operations.

Our original servicing liability associated with Fingerhut Trust [ was converted into a deferred gain upon the
third quarter of 2003 Fingerhut retained interests exchange: this deferred gain balance was netted against retained
interests in credit card receivables securitized in prior periods. Because of the de-securitization of the Fingerhut
receivables during the third quarter of 2004, the deferred gain is presented as a component of deferred revenue on
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our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004. This defened gain was accreted into fees and related
income on non-securitized earning assets in our consolidated statements of operations in a manner that

corresponded with actual and anticipated cash coliections on the de- secunuzed Fingerhut receivables; the income -
associated with accretion of this deferred gam totaled $23.4 million and $11.7 million for 2005 and 2004,
respectively. . |

In September 2005, we sold our Fingerhut receivables to Fingerjhut Trust III pursuant to a Statement
No. 140 transfer in exchange for a subordinated, certificated interest issued by the trust, thereby resulting in a
securitization gain of $31.6 million. Because the fees earned by us for servicing the Fingerhut Trust III
receivables did not represent adequate compensation for servicing, v»';e recorded a servicing liability associated
with our servicing obligation. During the fourth quarter, the debt underlying the Fingerhut Trust Ul was repaid,
and as a result, the remaining assets underiying Fingerhut Trust 111 were brought on to our consolidated balance
sheet at $18.4 million. We have included these credit card receivable‘s as a component of loans and fees
receivable, net on our accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006, with related income
on the receivables included in the accompanying 2006 consolidated statement of operations.

8. Credit Card Receivables Acquisitions

In January 2005, one of our majority-owned subsidiaries purchascd $72.1 million (face amount) in credit
card receivables for $42.0 million, including transaction costs. These 'receivables were then transferred to a trust
pursuant to a Statement No, 140 transfer in exchange for notes and a subordinated, certificated interest issued by
the trust, thereby resulting in a securitization gain of $1.6 million. To!fund this purchase, we contributed
$2.0 million into our majority-owned subsidiary. The assets and Iiabiiilies of the majority-owned subsidiary, and
its associated earnings from operations, are presented as part of our consohddlecl financial statements with a
minority interest being shown to reflect an unaffiliated investor’s pOI‘I‘lOﬂ of the operations. The minority m[eresl
associated with this subsidiary is not shown net of tax because the subsidiary is a pass-through entity for income
tax purposes. For a fee that represents adequate compensation for ser‘;lficing, we have agreed to service the entire
portfolio of credit card receivables underlying the trust. |

See separately the discussion of credit card receivables acquired :by our equity-method investees in Note 6,
“Investments in Equity-Method Investees.”

1

9. Retail Micro-Loans Acquisitions .

During the second quarter of 2004, we acquired substantially all of the assets of First American, a
complementary sub-prime lender, for $108.9 miilion, including transaction costs and assumed liabilities. With
over 300 retail branch locations at the time of acquisition, First American’s operations and footprint served as the
principal platform for our retail micro-loan activities. During the thlrdlquarter of 2004, we acquired another
complementary sub-prime lender, Venture Services, for $33.9 ml]lmnl including transaction costs and assumed
liabilities. The acquisition of Venture Services added 166 retail branch locations to our retail micro-loan base.
During-the first quarter of 2003, we pald $11.9 million, including transacnon costs and assumed liabilities, for 39
-additional retail branch locations (and other underlying assets) in the State of Ohio. The results of all of thesé
acquisitions (the “Retail Micro-Loans Acquisitions™} are included in our consolidated statements of operations

since their respective acquisition dates. | '

We financed our Retail Micro-Loans Acquisitions with an aggreg"ate of $79.7 million of cash and
$75.0 million of third-party debt financing. We structured the Retail MlCl‘O Loans Acquisitions through a
subsidiary, which serves as a holding company for several separate subsidiaries supporting these operations.
These acquisitions were part of our strategic plan to expand and dwerSIfy into other sub-prime asset classes and
' markets; as such, the purchase prices reflected our estimate of fair value which included our assessment of the
' cost assocnated with acquiring estabhshed entities in this market versus the cost of new entry.

|
Sub‘;equem to the acqutqmons (with the exccptlon of the relanve]y less significant acquisition of 39 retail

branch locations and other underlying assets in Ohio), in support of our internal valuations and purchase price
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1
allocations under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations, (*Statement
No. 1417), we contracted with a third-party valuation specialist to prepare a valuation analysis and report on the
fair value of the intangible assets. Both we and the third-party specialist used an income approach to estimate the
fair value of the related intangible assets. In addition, the third-party valuation specialist provided us with a
report supporting our estimates of the useful lives of the related intangible assets.

The following table summarizes (in millions) the final purchase price allocations for the Retail Micro-Loans
Acquisitions:

1
Amortization

. Dollars Period
PUFCHASE PIICE & .ttt $ 1547
Property and equipment .. ... i it (7.6)
Waorking capital (including loans purchased) .................. e (25.5)
Customer relationships ... ... . i (5.9) 3 years
Non-compete agreement ... .. ... . i (3.0) 31to5 years
Trademarks and trade NAMES . ..ot v ettt et {4.1) Indefinite life
GOOdWIll ...\ $(108.6)

Amortization related to the intangible assets within the above table totaled $3.0 million, $2.9 million and
$1.3 million for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In addition, during 2006, we wrote off approximately $10.5
million of impaired goodwill and $0.8 million of other impaired intangible assets that were originally determined
to have an indefinite benefit period.

b
10. Aum Finar‘lce Acquisition

On Apnl l; 2005 we acquired Wells Fargo Financial's “Consumer Auto Receivables” {“CAR™) business
unit. This acquisition included all of CAR’s assets, business operations and employees for $121.5 million,
including transaction costs. The acquisition was financed using $88.2 million in third-party debt (see Noie 15,
“Notes Payable :and Other Borrowings™), with the remainder in cash. At the acquisition date, Consumer Auto
Receivables had $128.9 million auto-finance-related receivables (at face, net of unearned discounts) and operated
in thirty-eight states through its twelve branches, three regional processing centers and national collection center
at its Lake Mary, Florida headquarters. The business had approximately 300 employees. The post-acquisition
date results of operations of the auto finance business are included in our 2006 and 2005 consolidated statements
of operations, and the auto finance business is treated as a separate segment as discussed in Note 3, “Segment
Reporting.” This acquisition was part of our strategic plan to expand and diversify into other sub-prime asset
classes and markets; as such the purchase price reflected our estimate of fair value, which included our
assessment of lhe cost associated with acquiring an established entity in this market versus the cost of new entry.

Subsequem to our acquisition of CAR, in support of our internal valuations and purchase price allocations
under Statement No. 141, we contracted with a third-party valuation specialist to prepare a valuation analysis and
report on the falr value of the intangible assets. Both we and the third-party specialist used an income approach to
estimate the fair value of the related intangible assets. In addition, the third-party valuation specialist provided us
with a report supporting our estimates of the useful lives of the related intangible assets.

The following table summarizes (in millions) the final purchase price allocations for the CAR acquisition:

Amortization
Dollars Period
Purchase price ..................-. e $121.5
Property and eqUIPIMEnt . ... ... ..ottt (0.6)
Working capital (including loans purchased) .......................... (93.2)
Dealer relationships .. ... ... e (5.5) 8 years
GOOAWIIL. . . .\ e $(22.2)




|
Amortization related to the intangible assets within the above tatlﬂe totaled $0.7 million and $0.5 million for
2006 and 20085, respectively. !

!

. P !

11. Goodwill and Intangible Assets 1
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to net tangible
and identifiable intangible assets acquired and accounted for under the purchase method. Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” (“Statement No. 1427) requires that
entities assess the fair value of all acquisition-related goodwill on a reporting unit basis. We review the recorded
value of goodwill for impairment at least annually at the beginning ofilhe fourth quarter of each year, or earlier if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount Enay exceed fair value,

. ; . :

During February 2006, we learned from our principal Retail Micro-Loans segment bank partner that the
FDIC had effectively asked insured financial institutions to cease cash advance deferred-presentment and
installment micro-loan activities conducted through processing and servicing agents. Cessation of these activities
. directly affected our micro-loan subsidiaries’ ability to continue operaung as a processing and servicing agent for
the bank in four states. In response to the FDIC's actions, our SUbSIdlﬂl’lES began, in February, to evaluate
strategic alternatives within theses states, including the possibility of swnchmg 10 a direct lending model in .

. compliance with the regulatory frameworks within each of the four s[ateq or, alternatively, closing the branch
locations within the four affected states. As a result of these events, we conducted an assessment of the fair value
of our Retail Micro-Loans segment using, in accordance with Statemem No. 142, a combination of the expected
present value of future cash flows associated with the business (as adJusled for the adverse effects of the
February 2006 FDIC development) and prices of comparable busmesseg Based on this assessment, we recorded
during the first quarter of 2006 a goodwill impairment charge of $10. 5 million to reduce goodwill to its fair

© value. I

Changes (m thousands) in the carrying amount of goodwill for 2006 .md 2005 by reponable segment are as
follows:

Retail Micro- Auto

. . Loans Finance Other  Consolidated

Balance as of December 31,2004 . ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ;$|00;552 $ = $—  $100,552

- Goodwill acquired during the year ....... e 7,949 22,160 139 30,248
Balance as of December 31, 2005 ..................... . \ !08,50] 22,160 139 130,800
Impairmentloss . .......... 0 . o (10,546) —_ — (10.546)
Purchase accounting adjustments during the year .............. f — — (139) (139}

' Balance as of December 31, 2006 ... .. ST $ 97955 $22.160 $—  $120,115

|

Intangible Assets

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, we had $3.2 million and $4.1 mi:IIion, respectively, of intangible assets
that were determined to have an indefinite benefit period. During the second quarter of 2006, we charged off
" approximately $0.8 million of impaired intangible assets that were ongmally determined to have an indefinite

benefit period.

. As part of our prellmmary purchase price allocation for the puncha§e of the then remaining minority interest
in our merchant credit subsidiary, Cards, LLC, in August 2006, we recorded $3.6 million of intangible assets
_subject to amortization related to customer relationships and mlel!euua} property. The net unamortized carrying
:amount of intangible assets subject 1o amortization was $9.1 million and $9.6 miliion as of December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively. f
: !
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Intangible asset-related amortization expense, including the approximately $0.8 million impairment charge
in 2006, was $5.0 million, $3.4 million and $1.3 million during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Estimated fulure amortization expense (in thousands) associated with intangible assets is as follows:

2007 e $3,462
2008 L e e 1,984
200 e 1,436
2000 688
70 688
Thereafler . . ... e e 859
TOtal L $9.117

12. Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

With the exception of our credit card receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings
to consumers at the lower end of the FICO scoring range, our Fingerhut Trust I desecuritization and accounts
participating in or acquired in connection with our debt collection subsidiary’s balance transfer program, we
securitize substamul]y all of our credit card receivables originated on a daily basis under our third-party financial
institution relauomhlpq {(the “originated portfolio™). We transfer these securitized credit card receivables (o a
master trust, which issues notes representing undivided ownership interests in the assets of the master trust.
Additionally, in various prior year transactions, the latest of which was during the first quarter of 2005, we have
acquired receivab]es from third parties and subsequently securitized them. (See Note 8, “Credit Card Receivables
Acquisitions.™) :

Qur only inierest in the credit card receivables we securitize is in the form of retained interests in the
securitization trusts. GAAP requires us to treat our transfers to the securitization trusts as sales and to remove the
receivables from our consolidated balance sheets, Under Statement No. 140, an entity recognizes the assets it
controls and liabilities it has incurred, and derecognizes the financial assets for which control has been
surrendered and all liabilities that have been extinguished. An entity is considered to have surrendered control
over the transferred assets and, therefore, to have sold the assets if the following conditions are met:

1. The transferred assets have been isolated from the transferor and put presumptively beyond the reach of
the transferor and its creditors.

2. Each transferee has the right to pledge or exchange the assets it has received. and no condition both
constrains the transferee from taking advantage of its right 1o pledge or exchange and provides more
than a'trivial benefit to the transferor.

3. The transferor does not maintain effective contrel over the transferred assets through either (i) an
agreement that both entitles and obligates the transferor to repurchase or redeem them before their
maturity, or (ii} the ability to umlatemlly cause the holder to return specific assets, other than through a
clean-up call.
Our securitization transactions do not affect the relationship we have with our customers, and we continue to
service the securitized credit card receivables.
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The table below summarizes (in thousands) our securitization actlwty for the periods presented. As with
other tables included herein, it does not include the securitization activities of our equity-method investees:

For the year ended December 31,

i 2006 2005 2004
Gross amount of receivables securitized at yearend ............. ... $1,623,822 81,668,022 $1,654,285
1 ;
Proceeds from collections reinvested in revolving-period i T
SECUMILZAONS ...ttt ‘ $1,142927 §$1,060,421 $ 924,783
Excess cash flows received on retained interests . ............... L..% 254514 % 239399 5 221,118
Securitization gains . ... ............ e ... % 6193 S 40142 5 1,651
Income from retained interests in credit card receivables securitized ' .. 173,670 73,143 138,213
Fees on securitized receivables .. ... ... ... . ... ... .. 20,369 14,494 18,328
Total fees and related income on securitized earning assets . ... ... .. % 200232 % 127779 % 158,192

The investors in our securitization wansactions have no recourse Eagainsl us for our customers’ failure to pay
their credit card receivables. However, most of our retained interests are subordmaled to the investors” interests
until the investors have been fully paid. 3 i

Generally, we include all collections received from the cardholdclrs underlying each securitization in the
securitization cash flows. This includes collections from the cardholdérs for interest, fees and other charges on
the accounts and collections from those cardholders repaying the priné:ipal'portion of their account balances. In
general, the cash flows are then distributed to us as servicer in thie am‘oums of our contractually negotiated
servicing fees, 10 the investors as inlerest on their outstanding notes, to the investors to repay any portion of their
outstanding notes that become due and payable and to us as the seller 1o fund new purchases. Any collections
from cardholders remaining each month after makmg the various payrlnents noted above generally are paid to us

on our retained interests. ) ]
|

We carry the retained interests associated with the credit card recelvableq we have securitized at estimated
fair market value within the securitized earming assets category on our, ' consolidated balance sheet, and because
we classify them as trading securities, we include any changes in fair va]ue in income. Because quoted market
prices for our retained interests generally are not available, we cqumale fair value based on the estimated present
value of future cash flows using our best estimates of key .:usumpuonsI

1

The measurements of retained interests associated with our secur{[izations are dependent upon our estimate
of future cash flows using the cash-out method. Using the cash-out method, we record the future cash flows
(including the release of any cash related to credit enhancements) at a discounted value. We discount the cash
~ flows based on the timing of when we expect to receive the cash t‘lows1 We base the discount rates on our
estimates of returns that would be required by investors in mveslmentsI with similar terms and credit quality. We
estimate yields on the credit card receivables based on stated annual percentagerates and applicable terms and
- conditions governing fees as set forth in the credit card agreements, and we base estimated default and payment
rates on historical results, adjusted for expected changes based on our (!:redlt risk models. We typically charge off
credit card receivables when the receivables become 180 days past due although earlier charge offs may occur
specifically related to accounts of bankrupt or deceased customers. We generally charge off bankrupt and
deceased customers’ accounts within 30 days of verification. !

i
|
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Our relamed interests in credit card receivables securitized (labeled as securitized earning assets on our
consolidated ba]ance sheets) include the following (in thousands):

¢ December 31,

f ] 2006 2005
Interest only (“I/O™)Strip . . ... ... e -$ 81,129 § 70,843
Accrued interestand fees ............. ... oo 15,976 13,412
Servicing Hability ... ......oeeeeeee e (8,838) (583)
Amounts due from securitization .................oiiiaiiiaiii... 8,738 8,965
Fair value of retained interests ...............coo.vieeeeieeoioi.. 704,710 694,346
Securitized earning assets ................... ... ... [ $801,715  $786.983

The 1/0 slrfp reflects the fair value of our rights 1o future income from securitizations arranged by us and
includes certain credit enhancements. Accrued interest and fees represent the estimated collectible portion of fees
earned but not bllled to the cardholders underlying the credit card receivables portfolios we have securitized. The
servicing llablhty reflects, for those securitization structures for which servicing compensation is not adequate,
the fair value of the costs (o service the receivables above and beyond the servicing income we expect to receive
from the securitizations. Amounts due from securitization represent cash flows that are distributable to us from
the prior month’s cash flows within each securitization trust; we generally expect to receive these amounts within
30 days from the close of each respective month. Lastly, we measure retainéd interests at fair value as scl forth
within the fair value of retained interests category in the above table. :

Changes in any of the assumptions used to value our retained interests in our securitizations could affect our
fair value estimates. The weighted-average key assumptions we used to estimate the fair value of our retained
interests in the receivables we have securitized are presented below:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Net collect"ed yield (annualized) . . ........ ... ... ... 26.2% 29.8% 29.4%
Paymenirate {monthly) ...... ... .. ... ... 6.7 6.7 6.3
Expected principal credit loss rate (annualized) ......................... 93 142 137
Residual cash flows discountrate . .............. ... ...coiiuuriinn... 169 136 174

Servicing lliability diSCOUNLFAte . ... i e 140 140 140
! ‘

During the? third quarter of 2006, we re-aligned our net collected vield and expected principal credit loss rate
assumptions to better reflect the specific categories of expected returns on our retained interests. In prior periods,
these two assumptions represented gross billed yield (exclusive of certain fees earned on securitized receivables)
and expected credit loss rates (which were inclusive of expected losses of both billed yield and principal),
respectively. A¢c0rding]y, the effects of this re-alignment were to reduce the yield vsed in our Statement No. 140
models to reflect only those cash flows associated with yield that we expect (o collect, as well as to
correv,pondmgly reduce our expected credit loss rate to reflect only the principal losses we expect to incur. These
generdl]y offsetting changes mn our assumptions (when netted with similar changes made by our 47.5%-owned
equity-methad mvestee) contributed $4.4 million to our after-tax net income. The slight variability in the residual
cash ﬂow-, dlscoum rates reflects increases throughout 2006 in the LIBOR interest rate index underlying our
asset-backed secunuzauon facilities and those in the market generally, continued tightening of spreads above
LIBOR mlerest indices that we and others have experienced with respect to asset-backed securitization debt and
some modest ﬂucluauons in collateral enhancement levels over the past year (e.g., higher excess collateral within
our qecurmzatmn trusts at December 31, 2005 than at December 31, 2006). Qur Statement No. 140 models
recognize in computing the residual cash flows discount rate that variations in collateral enhancement levels
affect thie returns that investors require on residual interests within securitization structures. Relative to
December 31, 2004, we are now intentionally and significantly over collateralized, thereby resulting in a lower

! A .
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than historically normal residual cash flows discount rate; investors today would require a much reduced
investment return on the retained interests within our originated porlfollo master trust because of its currently
over collateralized position.

oo . ! Lo .
The following illustrates the hypothetical effect on the December 31, 2006 value of our retained interests in

credit card receivables securitized (doilars in thousands) of an adverse 10 and 20 percent change in our key

valvation assumptions:

Credil card

] Receivables
Net collected yield (annualized) .. ....................... e e 26.2%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change .. ... ... ... ... ... .. i $(23,482)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ................ £ $(46,939)
Paymentrate(monthly) ............................... e 6.7%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ... . ... .. .. ... . ... . $ (2,666)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change .. .............. e s $ (5.705)
Expected principal credit loss rate (annualized) ...................... ... ... ... : 9.3%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ................ . $ (9,051)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ... .............c.oiiiiiiii... $5(18,101)
Residual cash flows discountrate . ...................... T 16.9%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ................ T $ (4,408)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change . ........ ... .. ... ... ... ... 000 $ (8,727
Servicing liability discountrate . .. .......... ... ... L Lo 14.0%
Impact on fair valite of 10% adverse change . ......................... e $ 49
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change .. ..............o oo oo 5 99

These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used with cautiém. As the figures indicate, changes in fair
value based on a 10% and a 20% variation in assumptions generally cannot be extrapolated because the
relationship of a change in assumption to the change in fair value of our retained interests in credit card
receivables. securitized may not be linear. Also, in this table, the effect 'of a variation in a particular assumption
on the fair value of the retained interests is calculated without changing any other assumptions; in reality,
changes in one assumption may result in changes in another. For example, increases in market interest rates may
result in lower prepayments and increased credit losses, which could m:agnify or counteract the sensitivities.

Our managed receivables portfotio underlying our securitizations tincluding only those of our consolidated
subsidiaries) is comprised of our retained interests in the credit card re(i:clvableq we have securitized and other
investors’ shares of these securitized receivables. The investors’ shares of securitized credit card receivables are
not assets of ours. The following table summarizes (in thousands) the balances included within, and certain
operating siatistics associated with, our managed receivables portfolio {mder]ying both the outside investors’

- shares of and our retained interests in credit card receivables securitizations.

December 31,

_ 2006 2005

Total managed principal balance ...................... ... ! ...... $1,468.533  $1,522,285
Total managed finance charge and fee balance . ............... e 155,289 145,737
Total managed receivables ......... R e $1,623,822  $1,668,022
Receivables delinquem—@ ormoredays ........ .. ... SRR $ 165555 % 128,706

Net charge offs duringeachyear ... ......... ... ... ..o o $ 143,727 § 187964

F-30




|
i
1

13. Software, F:urniture, Fixtures and Equipment

Software, fdrniture, fixtures and equipment consists of the following (in thousands}):

December 31,

2006 2005
I
Software .............. e e e $ 85089 § 60,545
Furniture and fiXWUFeS . .. ... 0 uun e 14,029 11,287
Data proccs'smg and 1elephone equnpmenl ............................ 58,434 42,445
Leasehold IMpProvements .. ... ... 0. . ...ttt cieaens 18,716 14,960
TOtal COSE - oot 176,268 129,237
Less accumulated depreciation .., ... .. ... . .. L - (112,282) (80,854)
Software, furniture, fixtures and equipment, net ...............ov.onnn. $ 63,986 $ 48,383

As of Dece_fnber 31, 2006, the weighted-average remaining depreciable life of our software, furniture,
fixtures and equipment was 2.1 years.

14. Leases

We lease prfcmises and certain equipment under cancelable and non-cancelable leases, some of which
contain renewal options under various terms. Total rental expense associated with these operating leases was
$21.1 million, $18.9 million and $10.6 million for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. During the fourth quarter
of 2006, we entered into a 15-year lease for 411,125 square feet which will be used to relocate our corporate
offices and cenatm Atlanta-based call center offices. Construction of the new space began in January 2007, and
we will bcgm moving in June 2007. As of December 31, 2006, we had received and recorded $6.0 million of a
$21.2 million of construction allowance for the build-out of our new corporate offices. The construction
allowance will be amortized as a reduction of rent expense over the term of the lease. As of December 31, 2006
the future m1n1mum rental commitments for all non-cancelable operating leases with initial or remaining terms of
more lhan one yedr (both gross and net of any sublease income) are as follows {in thousands);

; Sub-lease

| Gross Income Net
2007 oo e $19431 § (216) $ 19215
B008 .. 24,062 (221) " 23841
2009 ... .. e 20,207 (227 19.980
2000 ... t ............................................ 17,897 (233 17,664
2001 14,652 (138) 14,514
'1"here::1flf:rl ............................................ 116,018 — 116,018

Total ... $212,267  $(1,035) $211,232

In addition{ we lease certain equipment under cancelable and non-cancelable leases, which are accounted for
as capital Ieases in our consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2006, the future minimum
commitments for all non-cancelable capital leases with initial or remaining terms of more than one year are as,
follows (in 1housand9)

2007 $ 8,369
2008 e 6,841
2000 L e e 1,276

| $16.486
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million in 2008, $7.3 million in 2009, zero in 2010, $16.4 million in 2011 and $3.0 thereafter.

. advance rates and pricing, as well as extended the maturity to March 2008. This $350.0 million debt facility is

+ expected future operating volumes.

15. Notes Payable and Other Borrowings

!
Notes payable and other borrowings consists of the following (in thousands) as of December 31, 2006 and

2005: ‘ ..
! December 31,
i 2006 2005
Notes payable:
Structured financing within our Credit Cards Segment, average rate of
7.09%, payable through 2008 .........................] N $150,000 % —
Retail Micro-Loans Segment: ‘ o ‘
Term Loan A, rate of 8.5%, payable through 2006 ... ............... — 20.000
Term Loan B, rate of 13.55%, payable through 2006 . . .. .. e — 20,000
Seller Note, rate of 10%, payable through 2007 .......... S 5,000 5.000
Revolving Credit Facility, rate of 7.25%, payable through 2006 .. ... .. — 5,300
Structured financing within our Auto Finance segment, average rate of
9.34% at December 31, 2006 and 8.4% at December 31, 2005,.payab1e )
through 2007 ... ... e P 75,345 77,345
Margin loans to fund investments in debt securities . . ......... e — 32,812
Note payable to Cards, Inc, rate of 0%, payable through 2007 . ........... 800 —_
Vendor-financed software and equipment acquisitions, rates from 2% to 7%
at December 31, 2006 and 3% to 7% at December 31, 2005, payable to
2008 through 2009 .. ... ... .. e 16,486 4,729
Repurchase agreements, average rate at December 31, 2006 of 6. 0%, payable
through 2007 ... ... . e e 61,698 —
Total notes payable . .. .. S IR 309,329 165,186
Other borrowings: '
U.S. government securities sold not yet purchased, average rate at December
2006 of 5.1%, payable through 2016 ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 49,365 —
Total notes payable and other borrowings .................. N $358,694 3165186

The scheduled maturities of our notes payable and other borrowings are $151.2 million in 2007, $180.8

In March 2006, we completed a structured financing transaction that is secured by substantially all of the
credit card receivables associated with our largely fee-based credit card offerings 1o consumers at the lower end
of the FICO scoring range. In September, we increased the size of this facility to $350.0 million, improved

recourse only to the underlying credit card receivables that serve as security for the facility. As of December 31,
2006, $150.0 million was outstanding under this debt facility as noted iln the above table.

In April 2006, our Retail Micro-Loans segment paid off $40.0 million of term loans and a $10.0 million
revolving credit facility. In conjunction with this transaction, we recorded in the second quarter of 2006 a pre-tax
charge of $791,000 for prepayment penalties and the write-off of deferred debt issuance costs.

| .
In August 2006; we purchased the then outstanding minority interest of our consolidated subsidiary, Cards,
LLC, our merchant credit program provider, The consideration for this;purchase was $3.8 million, which
included a note payable of $800.000 and a contingent liability of $1.2 m11]10n related to the achievement of

[
The repurchase agreements relate to our investments in debt sccurities, are made through a wholly owned
subsidiary and are recourse only to the specific debt security inveslmen;ts underlying cach individual repurchase
agreement. ‘

We are in compliance with the covenants underlying all of our various notes payable and debt facilities.
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16. Convertible 'Senior Notes
3.625% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2025

In May 2003, we issued $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.625% Convertible Sentor Notes due
2025 1o qualified institutional buyers in a private placement, and we subsequently registered the notes for resale
with the SEC. These notes are reflected within our convertible senior notes batance on our consclidated balance
sheets. '

During certai:n periods and subject to certain conditions, the $250.0 miliion of notes will be convertible by
holders into cash and, if applicable, shares of our common stock at an initial effective conversion rate of 23.0309
shares of common stock per 31,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment; the conversion rate is based
on an initial conversion price of $43.42 per share of common stock. Upon conversion of the notes, we will
deliver to holders of the notes cash of up 1o $1,000 per $1.000 aggregate principal amount of notes and, at our
option, either cash or shares of our common stock in respect of the remainder of the conversion obligation, if any.
The maximum number of common shares that any note holder may receive upon conversion is fixed at 23.0309
shares per $1,000 aggregate principal amount of notes, and we have a sufficient number of authorized shares of
our common stock 1o satisfy this conversion obligation should it arise. We may redeem the notes at our election
commencing May 30, 2009 if certain conditions are met. In addition, holders of the notes may require us to
repurchase the notes on each of May 30, 2012, 2013, and 2020 and upon certain specified events. Beginning with
the six-month period commencing on May 30, 2012, we will pay contingent interest on the notes during a
six-month period if the average trading price of the notes is above a specified level.

5.875% Convertible Seniqr Notes Due 2035

In November 2005, we issued $300.0 million aggregate principai amount of 5.875% Convertible Senior
Notes due 2035 to qualified institutional buyers in a private placement, and we subsequently registered the notes
for resale with the SEC. These notes are reflected within our convertible senior notes balance on our consolidated
balance sheets.

During certa‘in periods and subject to certain conditions, the $300.0 million of notes will be convertible by
holders into cash and, if applicable, shares of our commeon stock at an initial effective conversion rate of 18.9265
shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment; the conversion rate is based
on an initial conversion price of $52.84 per share of common stock. Upon conversion of the notes, we will
deliver 10 holders of the notes cash of up 1o $1,000 per $1,000 aggregate principal amount of notes and, at our
option, either cash or shares of our common stock in respect of the remainder of the conversion obligation, if any.
The maximum number of common shares that any note holder may receive upon conversion is fixed at 18.9265
shares per $1,000 aggregate principal amount of notes, and we have a sufficient number of authorized shares of
our common stock to satisfy both this conversion obligation and the conversion obligation under the 3.625%
Convertible Senicr Notes should they arise. Beginning with the six-month period commencing on Junuary 30,
2009, we will pay contingent interest on the notes during a six-month period if the average trading price of the
notes is above a specified level. In addition, holders of the notes may require us to repurchase the notes upon
certain specified :cvenls.

b

In conjunction with the 2035 Convertible Senior Notes offering, we entered into a thirty-year share lending
agreement with Bear, Stearns International Limited (“BSIL.”) and Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc, as agent for BSIL,
pursuant to which we lent BSIL 5,677,950 shares of our common stock in exchange for a loan fee of $0.001 per
share. BSIL is required to return the loaned shares to us at the end of the thirty-year term of the share lending
agreement or earlier upon the occurrence of specified events. BSIL has agreed to use the loaned shares for the
purpose of directly or indirectly facilitating the hedging of our Convertible Senior Notes by the holders thereof or
for such other purpose as reasonably determined by us.

We analogize the share lending agreement to a prepaid forward flow contract, which we have evaluated
under the guidance of Statement No. 133. We determined that the instrument was not a derivative in its entirety
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i
and that the embedded derivative would not require separate accounting. The net effect on shareholders’ equity
of the shares lent pursuant to the share lending agreement, which inc!udes our requirement to lend the shares and
the counterparties’ requirement to return the shares, is the fee received upon our lending of the shares.

i’ .

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, "Accounting for Certain Financial
Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity,” (“Statement No. 1507), entities that have
entered into a forward contract that requires physical settlement by répurchase of a fixed number of the issuer’s
equity shares of common stock in exchange for cash shall exclude the common shares to be redeemed or
repurchased when calculating basic and diluted net income per common share, While the share lending
agreement does not provide for cash settlément, it does require physu;al settlement (i.c., the shares must be
returned to us by the end of the arrangement). As such, we have applied the guidance in Statement No. 150 so
that the prepaid forward contract represented by the share lending agreement results in a reduction in the number
of outstanding shares used to calculate basic and diluted net income per common share. Consequently, the
5,677.950 shares of common stock subject to the share lending agreement are excluded from our net income per
common share calculations. _ | :

+

17. Commitments and Contingencies

[n the normal course of business through the origination of unsecured credit card receivables, we incur
off-balance-sheet risks. These risks include our commitments of $2. 0 billion at December 31, 2006 to purchase
receivables associated with cardholders who have the right to borrow|in excess of their current balances up to the
maximum credit limit on their credit card accounts. These commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of
credit risks in excess of the amounts we have securitized. We have not experienced a situation in which all of our
customers have exercised their entire available linc of credit at any given point in time, nor do we anticipate that
this will ever occur in the future. We also have the effective right to reduce or cancel these available lines of
credit at any time. . ! .

For various receivables portfolio investments we have made through majority-owned subsidiaries and
equity-method investees, we have entered into guarantee agreements whereby we have agreed to guarantee the
purchase of additional interests in portfolios of credit card recewables owned by trusts. the retained interests in
which are owned by our majority-owned subsidiaries and equity- method investees, should there be net new
growth in the receivables or should collections not be availuble to tund new cardholder purchases. As of
December 31, 2006, none of our majority-owned subsidiaries or equity-method investees had purchased nor were
they required to purchase any additional notes under the note purchas‘é agreements. Qur guaraniee is limited to
our respective ownership percentages in the various majority-owned subsidiaries and equity-method investees
multiplied by the total amount of the notes that each of the majority-owned subsidiaries and equity-method '
investees could be required to purchase. As of December 31, 2006, the maximum amount of our collective
guarantees related to all of these majority-owned subsidiaries and equny -method investees was $370.1 million. I
general, this aggregate contingency amount will decline as the amounts of credit available to cardholders for
future purchases declines. The portfolios of all these majority-owned qubsndlanes and equity-method investees
have declined and we expect them to continue to decline as we expect paymenls 10 exceed new purchases each
month. We currently do not have any lldbl]lly recorded with respect [0 these guarantees, but we will record one if
events occur that make payment probable under the guarantees. The fair value of these guarantees is not material.

Our agreements with our third-party originating financial institutions require us to purchase on a daily basis
the credit card receivables that are originated in the accounts maintained for our benefit. To secure this obligation
for one of our third-party originating financial institutions, we have prowded the financial institution a
$10.0 million standby letter of credit and have pledged retained mterelsls carried at $95.8 million. Our
arrangements with this particular originating financial institution explre in March 2009. If we were to terminate a
sub-service agreement under which this institution also provides certam services for us, we would incur penalties
of §1 l 7 miltion as of December 31, 2006. Our other third-party ongm.mng financial institution relationships
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require similar arrangements. In aggregate, the total interests pledged for these additional third-party originating
financial institutions relationships were $10.3 million.as of December 31, 2006.

Also under the agreements with our third-party originating financial institutions, we have agreed to
indemnify the financial institutions for certain costs associated with the financial institutions’ card issuance and
other lending activities on our behalf. Qur indemnification obligations generally are limited to instances in which
we either (1) have been afforded the opportunity to defend against any potentially indemnifiable claims or
(2) have reached agreement with the financial institutions regarding settlement of potentially indemnifiable
claims. : X

In light of the nature of our business—providing credit to underserved and un-banked consumers—
regulatory reviews by state and federal authorities are common. For instance, In June 2006, we entered into an
assurance agreement withthe New York Attorney General to resolve his investigation into our marketing and
other materials and our servicing and collection practices. Pursuant to this agreement, we agreed to pay a $0.5
million civil penalty to the State of New York and to refund certain fees to New York cardholders in recognition
that New York has a unique statute (New York Personal Property Law Sectton 413) relating to, among other
things, the opening of credit card accounts. We completed these refunds in 2006, generally by providing credits
to the affected consumers’™ accounts. Some of these credits related 10 revenues that were deferred on our
consolidated balance sheet, some of these credits related to credit card receivables that were charged off in
amounts in excess of the credits provided, and some of these credits were charged against our allowance for
uncollectible loans and fees receivable. In the fourth quarter of 2005, we accrued a $3.2 million liability, which
reflected our estimate at that time of the probable remaining liability after the offsets described above.
Additionally, we accrued during the second quarter of 2006 another $1.8 million, thereby bringing our total
accrued liability to $5.0 million as of June 30, 2006; we experienced no material variance against this liability
when it was relieved during the latter half of 2006 through our providing the agreed-upon credits to our
customers.

Also in June 2006, the FDIC commenced an investigation of the policies, practices and procedures used in
connection with cur longest standing third-party credit card originating financial institution relationship. In
December 2006, the Federa! Trade Commission (the “FTC™) commenced a related investigation. In general, the
investigations focus upon whether marketing and other materials contained misrepresentations regarding, among
other things, fees and credit limits and whether servicing and collection practices were conducted in accordance
with applicable law. We have provided substantial information to both the FDIC and FTC, and we continue (o
respond to their requests. The FDIC and FTC have proposed limitations on certain marketing, servicing and
collection praclic%:s, reimbursement of various types of fees to affected customers and the payment of fines. The
malters under investigation involve a significant amount of fees and a substantial number of accounts, and it is
premature to determine the outcomes of these investigations or their effects on our financial condition, results of
operations or business position and consolidated financial statements. However, we believe that our marketing
and other materials and servicing and collection practices comply with applicable law, and we intend to
vigorously contest the limitations and other proposals of the FDIC and FTC.

.

Certain of our subsidiaries had agreements with third-party financial institutions pursuant to which the
applicable subsidiaries serviced micro-loans on behalf of the financial institutions in exchange for servicing fees:
these servicing activities ceased in May 2006 as a result of the FDIC's decision effectively asking FDIC-insured
financial institutions to cease loan origination activities through these types of servicing arrangements. As a
result of this guidance, the originating bank for which we previously serviced loans in four states exited that
business and liquidated its existing loans through a loan participation relationship with Maverick Management
Company LLC (“Maverick™). To facilitate that transaction and our orderly exit from these servicing operations,
we agreed to indemnify Maverick for up to $2.8 million in losses that it may incur as a result of its being a
successor 10 the bank’s interest in the loans and their liquidation. Richard W. Gilbert, a member of our Board of
Directors and our Chief Operating Officer, has a 20% economic interest in Maverick, and Mr. Gilbert's son is its
manager. As of December 31, 2006 we had paid claims submitted by Maverick of $1.6 million against this
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indemnification obligation. Additionally, we have accrued $0.2 million against this indemnification obligation as
of December 31. 2006—an amount we believe to be appropriate to cover additional indemnification claims

expected in the future.

One of our most significant sources of liquidity is the secumlzanon of credit card receivables. The maturity.
terms of our securitizations vary. As of December 31, 2006, seeunnzauon facilities underlying our securitization
trusts included: a six-year term securitization facility (expiring October 2010), a five-year term securitization
facility (expiring October 2009), a two-year variable funding securitization facility with renewal options (mma]
term expiring January 2008) and a one-year conduit securitization facility with renewal options (initial term
expiring September 2007) issued out of our originated portfolio master trust; a ten-year amortizing term
securitization facility issued out of our Embarcadero Trust (expiring January 2014); and a multi-year variable
funding securitization facility issued out of the trust associated with our securitization of $92.0 miltion and $72.1
million (face amount) in credit card receivabies acquired during 2004;» and in the first quarter of 2005, _
respectively (expiring September 2014). While we have never triggered an early amortization within any of the
series underlying our arranged securitization facilities and do not belleve that we will, we may trigger an early
amortization of one or more of the outstanding series within our r,ec:urmmncm trusts. As each securitization
facility expires or comes up for renewal, there can be no assurance that the facility will be renewed, or if
renewed, there can be no assurance that the terms will be as favorablé as the terms that currently- exist. Either of
these events could significantly increase our need for additional ]iqui;dity.

_ We are subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arisel, in the ordinary course of business. In one
of these legal proceedings, CompuCredit Corporation and five of ourlsubmdlarles are defendants in a purported
class action lawsuit entitled Knox, et al. vs. First Southern Cash Advance, et al, No 5 CV 0445, filed in the
Superior Court of New Hanover County, North Carolina. on February 8, 2005. The plaintiffs altege that in
conducting a so-called “payday lending" business, certain of our Retall Micro-Loans segment subsidiaries
violated various laws governing consumer finance, lending, check cashmg, trade practices and loan brokering.
The plaintiffs further allege that CompuCredit is the alter ego of its subsidiaries and is liable for their actions.
The plaintiffs are seeking damages of up to $75,000 per class member. We intend to vigorously defend this
lawsuit. These claims are similar to those that have been asserted against several other market participants in
transactions involving small balance, short-term loans made to consumers in North Carolina. There are no other
material pending legal proceedings to which we are a party. We do not believe the pending legal proceedings will
have a material impact on our financial position. i .

18. Income Taxes ,

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities, such temporary dlfferences representing those differences belween amounts reported for
financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes.

]

The curreat and deferred portions of federal and state income tax expense (in thousands) are as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

; 2006 - 2005 2004

Federal income tax expense: i .

Current tax EXPENSE . ... .ottt it $27.241  $97.835 360,875

Deferred tax expense (benefit) ...... ... ... ......... ... 32,881 (866) (5,133
Total federal income tax expense ... ... ... ... ... 60,122 96,969 55.742
State and other income tax expense: '

Current tax €XPense . .........ouiirunrreiiineneaan. - 152 1,046 664

Deferred tax expense (benefit) ....................... S 181 478 (56)
Total state and other income tax expense . ................. L. 333 1,524 608
Total INCOME 1AX EXPENSE . . ..ottt L.. 860,455 $98493 356,350




Income tax expense in 2006, 2005 and 2004 differed from amounts computed by applying the statutory U.S.
federal income tax rate to pretax income from operations principally as a result of certain of our operations now
being subject to various state mcome taxes. The following table reconciles our effective tax rate to the federal
statutory rate:

i For the year ended
' - December 31,
‘ 006 2005 2004
Slatulory rate .................................................... © 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
lncredse in income taxes resulting from: ........ .. ... o
State and other income taxes and other differences, net ............... 1.0 1.5 09
Effective laX FALE . ... ottt e 36.0% 36.5% .35.9%

t

H

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2006 and 2005, are presented below (in thousands):
3
December 31,

|
i
B
i
I
i

. 2006 2005
Deferred tax (1ldbllll[les) assels:
Prepaid XPEMSES . ..ol he e e $ (1,809) $ (2,425)
Software deye]opment'costs/ﬁxed ASSEIS © o e 736 (1,630)
Sccun’mzauo’n related’income.. .. ....... ... iiua.. e i e (178,375)  (99,971)
Equity in mc‘ome of equity-method investees ...... e s 11,998 26,806
Goodwill and intangible assets . . . .. S e (1,026  (2,965)
Deferred cos;'ls .................................. e 383 (146)
WAITANLS . /e T 9,048 8,704
Mark-10-market . . . . .o e s 2,121 (2,204)
Interest On debenlUIES . . . . .t ittt et et i e e (11,987) (3,306}
Provision foi‘ 0AN L85 .« ottt s 74,699 24,615
Other .. ... A S A OO 9,783 1,155
Net deferred tax liability .. ... ....o..oe oo § (84,429) $(51,367)

The amounts refleéted in the above table are net of a valuation allowance of $40.0 million and $31.6 million
at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, which represents a provision for uncertainty as to the realization of
net operating losses in certain state tax jurisdictions. Because the entity that generated these net operatmg losses
has never generatcd a profit that is subject to tax in these state tax jurisdictions during the 10-year history of its
operations and is not expected for the foreseeable future to generate a profit that is subject to tax in these state tax
jurisdictions, it is more likely than not that these net operating losses will never be utilized to'reduce future state
tax liabilities in these jurisdictions. There are no other net operating loss carry forwards other than these
described herein *

4

i
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forma presentation of net income per share for 2005 and 2004,

19. Net Income Per Common Share . !

The following table sets forth the computation of net income per common share (in thousands. except per
share data):

For the year ended December 31,

‘ 2006 2005 2004

Numerator:

Net income ......... e $107.475 $171.350 $100,719

Preferred stock dividends .. ... ... ... . . . i — — (4,404)

Income attributable to common shareholders .............. R $107,475 $171,350 $ 96,315
Denominator: - .

Basic (weighted-average shares outstanding) .............. D 48,734 49,574 51,230

Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants .. ..................... 1.604 1,654 869

Diluted (adjusted weighted-average shares) ............... i ....... 50,338 51,228 52,099

Net income per commoi share—basic .. ........veivereriivennn. $ 221 § 346 § 197

Net income per common share—diluted ........ ... . ... ... ..... $ 214 % 334 § 193

As mentioned in Note 4, “Shareholders’ Equity,” during the f0u1i'th quarter of 2004, all remaining
outstanding shares of the Series A and Series B Preferred Stock were]converted into approximately 5.2 million
shares of common stock. We have included these 5.2 million shares of common stock in weighied-average shares
outstanding in the above computations (i.¢., at appropriate as- -if-converted levels) for 2004. Our 2006 adoption of
the modified prospective application of stock option expensing under; Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123(R), “Share Based Pavment,” (“Statement No. 123(R)”) affects the above year-over-year
comparison of net income per common share. See Note 20, “Stock- thed Compensation,” however, for a pro—

Excluded from the 2006, 2005 and 2004 net income per common share calculations are 520,000, 26,000 and
224,000 of stock options as their effects were anti-dilutive. Also excluded from the 2006, 2005 and 2004 net

.income per common share calculations are 5,677,950 shares assoualcd with our share lending agreement

discussed in Note 16, “Convertible Senior Notes.” ;

For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, under the guudance of Emerging Issues Task Force 04-08.
“The Effect of Contingently Convertible Debt on Diluted Earnings per Share.” there were no shares potentially
1ssuable and thus includible in the diluted net income per common share calculation under our 3.625%
Convertible Senior Notes dué 2025 issued in May 2005 and 5.875% Converuble Senior Notes due 2035 issued in
November 2005. However, i future reporting periods during which our closing stock price is above the
respective $43.42 and $52. 83 conversion prices for the May 2005 and November 2005 Convertible Senior Notes,
and depending on the closmg stock price at conversion, the m.lx1mum potential dilution under the conversion

“provisions of the May 2005 and November 2005 Convertible Senior Notes is approximately 5.8 million and

5.7 million shares, respectively, which could be included in diluted share counts in net income per common share
calculations. See Note 16, “Convertible Senior Notes,” for a further d;lSCUSSiOH of these convertible securities.

20. Stock-Based Compensation

As of December 31, 2006, we had five stock-based employee compensation plans {an employee stock
purchase plan, three stock option plans and a restricted stock plan). |
. i

Stock Options

Under our three stock option plans, the 1998 Pian, the 2000 Plan and the 2003 Plan (collectively, “the
Plans™), we may grant shares of our common stock to members of the Board of Directors, employees, consultants
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and advisors. Thejexercise price per share of the options may be less than, equal to or greater than the market
price on the date lhe option is granted. The option period may not exceed 10 years from the date of grant. The
vesling. requ1rememq for options granted by us range from immediate to 3 years. The majority of the options vest
.ratably over threelyears The maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to
options granted under the Plans is 3,600,000. As of December 31, 2006, options with respect to a total of
2,582,893 shares had been granted under the Plans.

Etfective January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement No. 123(R) using the madified prospectwe appllcatlon
During 2006 we expensed compensation costs of $1,715,000 related to our stock option plans and recognized
income tax benefits within additional paid-in capital of $230.000 related to our stock option plans. We recognize
stock-option- related compensation expense for any awards with graded vestmg on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period for the entire award.

The followmg table presents the effects on net income (in thousands) and net income per common share if

we had recognized compensation expense under the fair value recognition provisions of Statement No. 123:

!

i For the year ended
December 31,

I
!
|

) 2005 2004
Net income a{tnbutable to commeon shareholders, asreported . ............. $171,350 396315
Stock-based ‘employee compensation expense determined under fair value _

DASTS, MEEOE LK« + v e e e e et e e (754) (716}
Pro-forma NeliNCOME . ...\ttt ettt $170,596 395,599
Net income ’per common share: _ -
Basic—as fePOMEd . ... ..ot § 346 § 197
Basic—pro-forma ..............c.iiiiiiiiin. e $ 344 § 195
Diluted—as reported . ... ...t $ 334 § 193
Diluted—pl’io-fornia ..................................... N $ 333 % 192

Duetoa var:iety of factors, including the timing and number of awards, the above pro-forma resuits may not
" be indicative of the future effect of stock option expensing on our results of operations.

The followi_hg table provides the reserved common shares and common shares available for future issuance
for each of our stock option plans as of December 31, 2006:

I Shares Reserved  Available for Issuance  Outstanding

1998 Stock Opuon Plan ....... ... e e 1,200,000 307,281 341,200
2000 Stock Opllon Plan ... .. e 1,200,000 92911 167,859
2003 St(_Jgk OptionPlan ... ... i 1,200.000 . 616,915 570,830

1
I
. . . .
Information related to options outstanding under the Plans is as follows:
’ For the year ended December Si,

| 2005 2004
: . . Weighted- Weighted-
Number of Average Number of Average

‘ Shares ) Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
Outslandiné at beginning of year ......... 1,337,706 $11.96 1.832.164 $11.28
Granted ... ... . .. .. e — . — 104,000 20.65
Exe_;rcised f ........................... (492.884) 8.08 (413,323) 8.06
Cancelled/Forfeited ................... (189,434} 35.84 (185,135) 18.87
Outstanding atend of year .............. 655,388 $ 944 1,337,706 $11.96
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Ftlbl‘ the year ended December 31, 2006

Weighted- Weighted-
Number of ~  Average Average of Remaining Aggregate

Shares Exercise Price Contractual Life Intrinsic value
Outstanding at January 1,2006 . .. ......... ... 655388 § 944
Gramted ... ... 500,000 40.99
Exercised . ... .. .. ... . i (74,550) 10.69
Cancelled/Forfeited .. .. .. e (949) '11.38 .
Outstanding at December 31,2006 ............ 1,079,889 $§3.96 w $17,118,225
l_Ex'ercisab]e at December 31,2006 ............ 568,311 $] 9.07 9 $17.467,667

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2006:

Options Outsta'mding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Remaining
Average | Weighted- Weighted-
Number Contraclual Life Average Number Average
Exercise Price Qutstanding {in years): Exercise Price  Exercisable Exercise Price
$0.00-$12.00 ... ................ 472,892 10 . $ 574 472802  $ 574
$12.01-8%2500 ......... e 86,997 2.0 r 19.36 75,419 19.41
$25.01 -85000 ... .. ... 520,000 _62 ; 41.30 20,000 49.00
1,079,889 9_5_9 f $23.96 568,311 $ 9.07

As of December 31, 2006, our deferred compensation costs asso@:ialed with non-vested stock options were
$7.4 million. We received approximately $716,000 in cash proceeds flrom stock option exercises during 2006.

We estimated the fair vilue of granted options at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes opiion-pricing
model with the assumptions described below. We did not grant any options during 2005.

Assumptions . : 2006 2004
Fairvalue per Share . ... ......... .. ot $16.34  $14.28
Dividendyield........................................| .............. — —_
Volatility factors of expected market price of stock(l) .......: e 30% 86.6%
Risk-free interest rale ... .. .. . .. i i 5.0% 5.0%
Expected option term (in Years) ......... ..ot 6.0 5.0

(1) In 2006, we began using the implied volatility evidenced within our publicly traded convertible bonds,
warrants and over-the-counter stock options as a basis for the expected volatility assumption, Previously, we
based expected volatility on historical stock price observations. '

Restricted Share Awards :

During the quarter ended December 31, 2002, we granted 250, OOb shares of restricied stock to certain
employees. On the date of grant, the fair market value of the resmcled. shares issued in 2002 was recorded as
deferred compensation and is included in the additional paid in capital component of consolidated shareholders’
. equity (net of amortization) as of the close of each year. We have emp]oyed similar accounting for restricted
shares issued during 2006, 2005 and 2004 under our 2004 Restricted Sitock Plan. During 2006 we granted -
391,116 shares of restricted stock under our 2004 Restricted Stock Plan with a fair value of $15.8 million.
Included within these grant amounts are 250,000 shares with a fair value of $10.2 million that we issued to our
President. We granted 243,407 shares and 34,500 shares, with fair valucs of §7.5 million and $785,000, for the
years ended 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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Qur issued restricted shares generally vest over a range of 24 to 36 months and are being amortized to
salaries and benefits expense ratably over the respective vesting periods. Deferred compensation associated with
these grants is included in the additional paid in capital as a component of total shareholders’ equity on our
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Occasionally, we issue or sell stock in our subsidiaries to certain members of the subsidiaries’ management
teams. The terms of these awards vary but generally include vesting periods comparable to those of stock issued
under our restricted stock plan. Generally, these shares can be converted to cash or our stock at our discretion
after the specified; vesting period or the occurrence of other contractual events. Ownership in these shares
constitutes minority interests in the subsidiaries. During 2006 we issued shares in subsidiaries resulling in
deferred compensation of $3.0 million. We are amortizing this compensation cost commensurate with the
applicable vesting period. The weighted average remaining vesting period was 4.2 years as of December 31,
2006.

21. Employee Benefit Plans

We maintain a defined contribution retirement plan (“401(k) plan™) for our employees. All full time
employees are eligible to participate in the 401(k) plan. The 401(k) plan provides for a matching contribution by
us, which amounted to $0.5 million in 2006 and $0.4 million per year in 2005 and 2004. ‘

We also have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP™). All employees, excluding executive officers, are
eligible to participate in the ESPP. Under the ESPP, employees can elect to have up to the greater of 100% of
their annual wage‘s or the equivalent of $10,000 fair market value of our common stock withheld to purchase
CompuCredit common stock. The amounts deducted and accumulated by each participant are used to purchase
shares of common stock at the end of each one-month offering period. The price of stock purchased under the
ESPP is approximately 85% of the fair market value per share of our common stock on the last day of the
offering period. Employees contributed $0.6 million to purchase 19,382 shares of common stock in 2006, $0.5
million to purchase 18,143 shares of common stock in 2005 and $0.4 million to purchase 23,293 shares of
common stock in 2004 under the ESPP. The ESPP covers up to 150,000 shares of common stock. Our charge to
expense associated with the ESPP was $88,000, $69,000 and $60,000 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

22. Related Party Transactions

The Series A Preferred Stock that was issued in December 2001 was issued to a group of investors that
included J.P. Morgan Corsair II Capital Partners, L.P. and Paladin Capital Partners Fund, L.P. (“Paladin™). J.P.
Morgan Corsair 11 Capital Partners is a holder of greater than 5% of our outstanding common stock. We issued
4,808 shares of Sclaneq A Preferred Stock to Paladin for an aggrega[e purchase price of $4.8 million. In addition to
the preferred stock investment noted above, during the fourth quarter of 2001, Paladin purchased, for
$20.0 million, $27.0 million of notes (at face) issued out of our originated portfolio master trust, notes which
prior to Paladin’s: purchase we classified as retained interests in credit card receivables securitized. Paladin is an
affiliate of an entity controlled by Mr. Frank J. Hanna, Jr., who is the father of our Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, David G Hanna, and one of our directors, Frank J. Hanna, II1. During 2003, Paladin converted its
preferred stock and subsequently sold its shares to a third party. Further, the originated portfolio master trust
notes that Paladin acquired in 2001 were repaid during 2003.

. ! .

In December 2001, we also issued 10,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, in a private placement, for an

aggregate purchase price of $10 million. The Series B Preferred Stock was issued to entities controlled by David

G. Hanna and Frank J. Hanna, I1L
E
During the fourth quarter of 2004 all remaining outstanding shares of the Series A-and Series B Preferred
Stock were converted into approximately 5.2 million shares of common stock. Pursuant to a registration
statement filed with the SEC and declared effective in November 2003, these approximately 5 2 million shares of
common stock have been registered for resale.
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Under a shareholders agreement into which we entered with David G. Hanna, Frank J. Hanna, IIL, Richard
R. House, Jr. {our President), Richard W. Gilbert (our Chief Operatihg Officer and Vice Chairman) and certain
trusts that were or are affiliates of the Hanna’s following our initial [‘)ublic offering (1) if one or more of the --
shareholders accepts a bona fide offer from a third party to purchaie' more than 50% of the outstanding common
stock, each of the other shareholders that are a party 10 the agreement may elect to sell their shares to the
purchaser on the same terms and conditions, and (2) if shareholders Ilhm are a party 10 the agreement owning
more than 50% of the common stock propose to transfer all of their shares to a third party, then such transferring
shareholders may require the other shareholders that are a party to the agreement to sell all of the shares owned

by them 0 the proposed transferee on the same terms and conditions.

i
i

Richard R. House, Jr. and Richard W. Gilbert each indirectly owned 9.5% of VS, the third-party developer
of our database management system prior to the sale of VSI in 2004 to an unaffiliated third party. During 2006,
2005 and 2004. we paid $8.4 million. $6.1 million and $6.7 million, respectively, to VSI and its subsidiaries for
software development. account origination and consulting services. During 2001, we loaned a subsidiary of VSI
$1.0 miliion for working capital and generat corporate purposes. This loan was repaid by VSI during 2003.
Under the terms of the VSI sale agreement. Mr. House and Mr. Gllberl are entitled to receive earn-out payments
based on VSI gross revenue increases in 2004, 2005 and 2006, when' compared 1o the prior year. Mr. House and
Mr. Gilbert received earn-out payments of $146,000 and $79,000 each during 2005and 2006, respectively.

Since 2001, we have been subleasing 7.316 square feet of excess office space 1o Frank J. Hanna, Jr., for
$24.19 per square foot. Frank J. Hanna, Jr. is the father of our Chalrman and Chief Executive Officer. David G.
Hanna. and one of our directors, Frank J. Hanna, 111. The sublease rate is the same as the rate that we pay on the
prime lease, Tetal rent for the sublease was $0.2 million in each of the years 2006. 2005 and 2004. Addmonally,'
an entity formerly owned by Frank J. Hanna, Jr. provided certain Collecuon services to us for which we paid
$0.3 million (the market rate) during 2004 while this entity was under the ownership and control of Frank J..
Hanna, Jr. Another entity currently owned by Frank J. Hanna, Jr. prevmusly rented us a plane for business usage
at market rates for which we paid $0.5 million in 2004. ;

We have been a long-term contributor to the Solidarity School, }a philanthropically-funded grade school
program serving the children of Hispanic immigrant families. A substantial portion of the our contributions to the
Solidarity School have been funded by proceeds from our Aspiré a Mas credit card, one of our credit card
offerings marketed primarily to the Hispanic community and some offenngs of whi¢h have contained our
promise that at least 1% of cardholder purchases will be reinvested 1r|1 the Hispanic community through
contributions to qualifying charitable organizations (which include the Solidarity School}. The 2006 contribution
was approximately $0.8 million, which was higher than prior donations due to our pledge to assist the school in
the expansion of its educational facilities, David G. Hanna (our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of Directors) and Frank J. Hanna, NI (a member of our Board Bf Directors) are both members of the board
of directors of the Solidarity School and, consistent with prior phllanlhroplc activities, Frank J. Hanna, III also
has personally guaranteed the mortgage on the school’s facility. Hlsté)ncally we have made charitable
contributions 1o a variety of worthy causes and we expect to continue to support the Solidarity School and other
organizations that are aimed at helping others through social, cducatiipnal and spiritual means.

- 1

Certain of our subsidiaries had agreements with third-party financial institutions pursuant to which the
applicable subsidiaries serviced loans on behalf of the financial institutions in exchange for servicing fees; these
servicing activities ceased in May 2006 as a result of the FDIC's decnsmn effectively asking FDIC-insured
financial institutions to cease loan origination activities through these types of servicing arrangements. As a
result of this guidance, the originating bank for which we previously serviced loans in four states exited that
business and liquidated its existing loans through a loan participation’relationship with Maverick Management
Company LLC (“Maverick™). To facilitate that transaction and our orderly exit from these servicing operations,
we agreed to indemnify Maverick for up to $2.8 million in losses that it may incur as a result-of its being a
successor to the bank's interest in the loans and their liquidation. Richard W. Gilbert, a member of our Board of
Directors and our Chief Operating Officer, has a 20% economic interest in Maverick, and Mr. Gilbert's son is its
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manager. As of D:ecember 31, 2006 we have paid claims submitted by Maverick of $t.6 million against this
accrued indemnification liability. At December 31, 2006 the remaining accrued liability was $215.000, which we
believe to be apprlopriale to cover additional indemnification claims expected in the future. '

According to filings with the SEC, John Devaney is the beneficial owner of 5,364,028 shares of our
common stock as of December 31, 2006 and also is the CEO and, indirectly. sole shareholder of United Capital
Asset Management LLC (“UCAM”). .

1

On Septemb:er 1, 2006, we entered into a Managed Account Agreement with UCAM, pursuant to which
UCAM provides us investment advice and otherwise manages certain funds. The Managed Account Agreement
has a three-year term, but generally is terminable on 30 days notice. Under the Managed Account Agreement,
UCAM receives l(i) a quarterly management fee equal to 0.5% of the net asset value of the managed funds and
(ii) a quarterly performance fee equal to 20% of the amount by which the managed funds’ net asset value exceeds
the highest value! at the end of any previous quarter. which is commonly referred to as a “high water mark.”

Prior to September 2006, we purchased and sold investments directly from/te United Capital Markets, Inc.
(“UCM”), which also is owned by United Capital Markets Holdings, Inc., of which Mr. Devaney is the sole
shareholder. Wefeamed interest on certain of the securities while we held them, and we paid interest to UCM’s
clearing firm for margin borrowings we obtained from that clearing firm to finance certain purchases. In
September 2006 we sold substantially all of these investments, transferred the proceeds from the sales of the
securities to a wholly owned subsidiary, and then reinvested these proceeds in new securities as directed by

UCAM in accoréiance with the Managed Account Agreement.
f

Mr. Devangliy was not a “related person” (as defined in Item 404 of Regulation 5-K) at the time of the
execution of the Managed Account Agreement.

1
Following is a summary (in thousands of dollars) of the transactions with UCM:
i .
For the year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
1
Securities purchased from UCM .. ... ... ... . ........... $ 115,025 100,111 $24,000
Principal rgapaid on securities purchased from UCM .......... 5 (6840) $ (6,868) $(2434)
Securities (at cost basis) sold o UCM ... ..., ... .. ... ... .. $(164.075) $(54,073) $4.017)
Realized gain (loss) . .............. e $ (427 % 2,136 % 258
Unrealized gain (loss) .. ... oo i (254) (1,010 257
Interest iNCOME . ... ..ottt 6,759 2,942 156
INIETESE EXPENSE . - .o o\t v et e e (896) (670) (57
PROUGX TMCOME . ...\t e et S 518 § 3398 § 6l4

|
i

Following is a summary (in thousands of dollars) of transactions with UCAM:
i

: For the vear ended

December 31,
} 2006 2005 2004
Asset managementfees ... .. ... ... L $ 1888 — —
Administrative fees ... ... e 3 93 — —

}
1 ) December 31,

!
2006 2005 2004

Assets urfder managementatyearend ......... .. . oo $179541 — —_
t

+
I
f
[
i
i




See Note 2, “Significant Accounting Policies,” for a discission of our acquisition of previously defaulted
receivables from trusts we service. - e s I

©
23. Subsequent Fvents ; - - {

-On February 2 2007 we: acqu1red the assets of San Dlego based ACC Consumer F]ndnce LLC (“ACC").
ACC currently services approximately $275.0 million in auto ﬁmncc receivables and operates in 12 states with
collection centers in San Diego, California and Denver, Colorado. ACC has approximately 170 employees. In
conjunction with this purchase, we also acqu1red a$195.0 million autP loan portfolio from Patelco Credit Union.
These assets were ongmatcd and are serviced by ACC on beha]f of Patelco. The total purchase price paid for the

two acquisitions was $168.5 mllhon The acqumuon was financed using $146.0.million in-third-party debt, with
the remamder in caqh

-

*
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| SIGNATURES

|

- Pursuant to the! requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
. Registrant has duly ‘caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized,

in the City of Atlania, State of Georgia, on February 28, 2007.
o .

4

! ' ~ ComMPUCREDIT CORPORATION
[

© By: | /s/ DavID G. HANNA
David G. Hanna
. . ! T . ’ . Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board

b
|
1 .

Pursuant to the: requirements of the Securities Exchénge Act of 1934, as amended, this'Report has been
signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

| Ll , =

/s/  Davip G HANNA Chief Executive Officer and
David G. Hanna Chairman of the Board

i {Principal Executive Officer)

February 28, 2007

Js! JPAuL WHI'ILEHEAD, 11 Chief Financial Officer (Principal February 28. 2 0'07
J.Paul Whitehead, 11 Financial & Accounting Y 2o
; Officer)
/s/  GREGORY I. CORONA Director . Feb;'uary 282007

Gregory J[ Corona

l -
/s/  RICHARD W, GILBERT Director February 28, 2007
Richard W. Gilbert

I
/s/  FRANK J. HANNA, ITT Diréctor February 28, 2007

Frank J. H:anna, I
|
/sf  RICHARD R. 'HOUSE, IR, Director February 28, 2007
Richard R, :House, Jr,
/s/ DEaL W.HupsoN . Director " February 28, 2007

Deal W. Hudsun

|
|

/sl Mack F. MATTINGLY Director . -February 28, 2007
3 Mack F. N;Iatting]y ‘
| |
/s/ NICHOLAS B. RAUMGARTEN Director February 28, 2007
Nich:olas B, P:aumgarten

. | '
/s/  THomaS G. ROSENCRANTS Director February 28, 2007

"Thomas G. R:osencrants
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j Exhibit 23.1
1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Reglstrauon Statement (Form 5-8 No. 333 62012)
pertaining to the CompuCredlt Corporation 2000 Stock Option Plan in the Reglstranon Statement (Form $-8
No. 333-78409) pertaining to-the CompuCredit Corporation’ Amended arid Restated 1998 Stock Option Plan, in
the Registration Statement (Form 5-8 No. 333-92889) pertammg to the CompuCredrt Corporation Employee

Stock Purchase Plan, in the- Registration Statement (Fori S-8 No: 333 117959) pertaining to the CompuCredit

2003 Stock Option Plan, in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No | 17960) pertaining to the CompuCredit
"2004 Restricted Stock - Plan, inthe Registration Statement (Form S- '3 No. 333115 188) pertaining to common
_ stock preferred stock and debt securities, in the Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-127418) pertaining to

CompuCredit Corporatlon 3.625% Convertible’ Senior Notes due 2025 ini the Registration Statement (Form S-3
No. 333-132339) pertaining'to CompuCredit Corporatlon 5. 875% (!Eonvemble Senior Notes dué 2035, and in the
Regmtranon Statement-(Form S-3 No. 333-135 I02) pertaining to common stock issued upon exercise of warrants

‘of our report dated February-27, 2007, rlelatmg to the consolidated ﬁnancnal statements and the effectiveness of
~ internal control over financial reporting of CompuCredlt Corporat:on and subsidiaries mcluded in the Annual
’ Report (Form 10- K) for the year ended December 31 2006. . i

Joe
/s BDO SEIDMAN, LLP
- !
Atlanta, Georgia ' %
February 28, 2007 j

Foos _"
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION -

F
!
|
i
!

I, David G. Hanna, cemfy that:

1. F have rev:ewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CompuCredit Corporation;
, ‘

2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a matcnal facl necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
slalements vwere made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

I

3. Baséd on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the p:eriods presented in this report;

v
1

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15(f) and 15d-15(¢)} for the registrant and we have:

a) Deslgned such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be demgned under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
mcludmg its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during thc period in which this Report is being prepared;

b) Dcsigneq such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial feporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
aLcordanLc with generally accepted accounting prmmples

c) Evalualefj the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
Report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the penod covered by this Report based on such evaluation; and

d) Dlsclose‘h in this Report any change in the registrant’s internal Control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely 10 materially affect, the
registranl‘s internal control over financial reporting’

5. The reglstranl s other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, 10 the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board
of directors {or persons performing the equivalent function): .

a) All signilﬁcam deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data information; and

i . . .
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
signiﬁca;nt role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Date: February 28; 2007

/s Davip G. HANNA

David G. Hanna
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

P
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Exhibit 31.2

l

CERTIFICATION
I, J.Paul Whitehead 111, certify that: '

I. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CompuCredit Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statemnent of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge. the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results' of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; '

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d- 15(e) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and we have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures. or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this Report is being prepared, |

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be desngned under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of ﬁnlanmal statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting prmcnples

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
Report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the dmclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this Report based on such eva]uauon and

d) Disclosed in this Report any change in the registrant’s mtemal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; !

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committe€ of registrant’s board

of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): |
{

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in ihé design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves managemem or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2007

. fsf ].PAUL WHITEHEAD, 111

J.Paul Whitehead, I11
Chief Financial Officer
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? Exhibit 32.1
i

CERTIFICATION

The undersignEed, as the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, and as the Chief Financial
Officer of CompuCredit Corporation, respectively, certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
Annual Report on Form L0-K for the period ended December 31, 2006, which accompanies this certification
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the
information comaiﬂed in the periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operauons of CompuCredit Corporation at the dates and for the periods indicated. The foregoing
certifications are made pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and shalt not be

relied upon for any. other purpose.

This 28t day 'of February 2007,

/s/ DaviD G, HANNA

David G. Hanna
! Chief Executive Qfficer and
Chairman of the Board

/S8 J.PAUL WHITEHEAD, III

J.Paul Whitehead, [11
Chief Financial Officer

'

!
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, 0% otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of
this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to CompuCredit Corporation and will be
retained by Comp'uCredlt Corporation and furmshed to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon

request.

i
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